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If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following
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Maximum
Aggregate

Offering Price(1)  
Amount of

Registration Fee(4)
Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1.00  414,000  $24.76  $10,250,640.00  $951.00
 

 

(1) Includes 54,000 additional shares of our Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock that the underwriters have the option to purchase.
(2) Estimated in accordance with Rule 457(c) solely for purposes of calculating the registration fee. The maximum price per share of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and the

maximum aggregate offering price are based on the average of the $24.76 (high) and $24.75 (low) sale price of the Registrant’s Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock as reported on the
Nasdaq on November 2, 2021, which date is within five business days prior to filing this Registration Statement.

(3) Pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act, this registration statement also covers such indeterminate number of additional shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, issued to
prevent dilution resulting from stock splits, stock dividends or similar events. No additional consideration will be received for such additional number of shares of Series A Cumulative
Preferred Stock, and therefore no registration fee is required pursuant to Rule 457(i) under the Securities Act.

(4) The registrant previously paid $1,067 in connection with a prior filing of this Registration Statement.
 
  

The registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further
amendment that specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or
until this Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.
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The information in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not issue these securities until the registration
statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and
it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.
 

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED NOVEMBER 4, 2021

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS
 

MIND Technology, Inc.
360,000 Shares

Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock
(par value $1.00 per share)

 
 

We are offering 360,000 shares of our Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share, which we refer to in this prospectus as our
“preferred stock” or our “Series A Preferred Stock”.

Our preferred stock trades under the symbol “MINDP” on the NASDAQ Stock Market. The last reported sales price of our preferred stock on the
NASDAQ Stock Market on November 3, 2021 was $24.79 per share.
 

 

In reviewing this prospectus, you should carefully consider the matters described in “Risk Factors” beginning on
page 10 of this prospectus.
 

   
Per

Share    Total  
Price to Public   $                $              
Underwriting Discounts and Commissions(1)   $     $   
Proceeds to MIND Technology, Inc.(2)   $     $   

 
(1) See “Underwriting” for additional information regarding underwriting compensation.
(2) Before expenses.

We have granted the underwriters the option to purchase up to 54,000 additional shares of preferred stock on the same terms and conditions set
forth above within 30 days from the date of this prospectus.

Delivery of the shares of preferred stock will be made on or about November    , 2021.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or
determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This prospectus is not an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any securities in any state where offers or sales are not permitted.
 

 

Ladenburg Thalmann
The date of this prospectus is November    , 2021.
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We have not authorized any dealer, salesman or other person to provide you with information other than the information contained in or
incorporated by reference into this prospectus. This prospectus does not constitute, and may not be used in connection with, an offer to sell, or a
solicitation of an offer to buy, the preferred stock offered by this prospectus by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to
make such an offer or solicitation. You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date
on the front cover of the prospectus or that the information contained in any document incorporated by reference is accurate as of any date other than the
date of the document incorporated by reference, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any sale of a security. Our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since those dates.

This prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus contain forward-looking statements that are subject to a number
of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. See “Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Statement About Forward-Looking Statements.”

Certain amounts and percentages included in this prospectus have been rounded. Accordingly, in certain instances, the sum of the numbers in a
column of a table may not exactly equal the total figure for that column.

The market data and certain other statistical information used throughout this prospectus or incorporated by reference into this prospectus are
based on independent industry publications, government publications and other published independent sources. Although we believe these third-party
sources are reliable as of their respective dates, neither we nor the underwriters have independently verified the accuracy or completeness of this
information. Some data is also based on our good faith estimates. The industry in which we operate is subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk
due to a variety of factors, including those described in the section entitled “Risk Factors.” These and other factors could cause results to differ
materially from those expressed in these publications.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this prospectus may constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements contained in this prospectus other than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our
future results of operations and financial position, our business strategy and plans, and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking
statements. The words “believe,” “expect,” “may,” “will,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “intend,” “foresee,” “should,” “would,” “could” or other similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, which are not historical in nature. These forward-looking statements are based on our
current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effect on us. While management believes that these forward-looking
statements are reasonable as and when made, there can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we anticipate. All
comments concerning our expectations for future revenues and operating results are based on our forecasts of our existing operations and do not include
the potential impact of any future acquisitions. Our forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties (some of which are beyond
our control) and assumptions that could cause actual results to differ materially from our historical experience and our present expectations or
projections. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited
to, those summarized below:
 

 •  risks associated with our manufacturing operations including availability and reliability of materials and components as well the reliability
of the products that we manufacture and sell;

 

 •  loss of significant customers;
 

 
•  the impact of disruptions in global supply chains due to the COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) and other factors, including certain

components and materials becoming unavailable, increased lead times for components and materials, as well as increased costs for such
items;

 

 •  increased competition;
 

 •  loss of key suppliers;
 

 •  intellectual property claims by third parties;
 

 •  the effect of uncertainty in financial markets on our customers’ and our ability to obtain financing;
 

 •  our ability to successfully execute strategic initiatives to grow our business;
 

 •  our ability to overcome any complex technical issues that we face and compete with new technologies;
 

 •  local and global impacts of the COVID-19 virus, including effects of responses of governmental authorities and companies to reduce the
spread of COVID-19, such as shutdowns, travel restrictions and work-from-home mandates;

 

 •  uncertainties regarding our foreign operations, including political, economic, currency, environmental regulation and export compliance
risks;

 

 •  seasonal fluctuations that can adversely affect our business;
 

 •  fluctuations due to circumstances beyond our control or that of our customers;
 

 •  defaults by customers on amounts due us;
 

 •  possible further impairment of our long-lived assets due to technological obsolescence or changes in anticipated cash flow generated from
those assets;

 

 •  inability to obtain funding or to obtain funding under acceptable terms;
 

 •  changes in government spending, including efforts by the U.S. and other governments to decrease spending for defense contracts, or as a
result of a U.S. or other administration transition; and
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 •  efforts by U.S. Congress and other U.S. government bodies to reduce U.S. government spending and address budgetary constraints and the
U.S. deficit, as well as associated uncertainty around the timing, extent, nature and effect of such efforts.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of our assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material
respects from those projected in the forward-looking statements contained herein. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws. All forward-
looking statements contained in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements
contained or referred to in this section. This cautionary statement should also be considered in connection with any subsequent written or oral forward-
looking statements that we or persons acting on our behalf may issue. See the information under the heading “Risk Factors” in this prospectus for some
of the important factors that could affect the Company’s financial performance or could cause actual results to differ materially from estimates contained
in forward-looking statements.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus and the documents that we incorporate by reference. It is not
complete and does not contain all of the information that you should consider before making an investment decision. You should read the entire
prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference and the other documents to which we refer for a more complete understanding of our
business and this offering. Please read the section entitled “Risk Factors” commencing on page 10 of this prospectus and additional information
contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2021 incorporated by reference in this prospectus for more
information about important factors that you should consider before investing in our Series A Preferred Stock in this offering. References to “we,”
“us,” “our,” “MIND” or the “Company” refer to MIND Technology, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Our Company

MIND Technology, Inc., a Delaware corporation, formerly Mitcham Industries, Inc., a Texas corporation, was incorporated in 1987. Effective
August 3, 2020 we effectuated a reincorporation to the state of Delaware, name change to MIND Technology, Inc. and increase in the number of
shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock authorized for issuance. Headquartered in The Woodlands, Texas, MIND has a global presence with
operating locations in the United States, Singapore, Malaysia and the United Kingdom. Historically, we have operated in two segments, Marine
Technology Products and Equipment Leasing. During the second quarter of fiscal 2021, our Board determined to exit the Leasing Business and
instructed management to develop and implement a plan to dispose of those operations.

Our worldwide Marine Technology Products business includes (a) Seamap Pte Ltd, MIND Maritime Acoustics, LLC (formerly Seamap USA,
LLC), Seamap (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd and Seamap (UK) Ltd, collectively “Seamap”, which designs, manufactures and sells specialized marine
seismic equipment and (b) Klein, which designs, manufactures and sells high performance side scan sonar and water-side security systems.
Revenue from the Marine Technology Products business includes sales of Seamap equipment and sales of Klein equipment. This business operates
from locations near Bristol, United Kingdom, Salem, New Hampshire, Huntsville, Texas, Johor, Malaysia and in Singapore.

The discontinued operations of the Leasing business includes all leasing activity, sales of lease pool equipment and certain other equipment
sales and services related to those operations. This business had been conducted from our locations in Huntsville, Texas; Calgary, Canada; Bogota,
Colombia; and Budapest, Hungary. This included the operations of our subsidiaries Mitcham Canada, ULC, Mitcham Europe Ltd. and our branch
in Colombia.
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THE OFFERING
 
Issuer: MIND Technology, Inc.
 
Securities Offered: 360,000 shares of 9.00% Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share,

liquidation preference $25.00 per share, plus up to an additional 54,000 shares if the
underwriter exercises its option to purchase additional shares in full.

 
Offering Price: $             per share of Series A Preferred Stock.
 
Dividends: Holders of our Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive cumulative cash

dividends at a rate of 9.00% per annum of the $25.00 per share liquidation preference
(equivalent to $2.25 per annum per share), accruing from the date of initial issuance.
Dividends will be payable to holders of our Series A Preferred Stock quarterly on or about
the last day of January, April, July and October of each year (each, a “dividend payment
date”), provided that if any dividend payment date is not a business day, then the dividend
that would otherwise have been payable on that dividend payment date may be paid on the
next succeeding business day without adjustment in the amount of the dividend. Dividends
will be payable to holders of record as they appear in our stock records for the Series A
Preferred Stock at the close of business on the corresponding record date, which shall be
the 15th day of January, April, July and October of each year, whether or not a business
day, in which the applicable dividend payment date falls (each, a “dividend record date”).
As a result, holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock will not be entitled to receive
dividends on a dividend payment date if such shares were not issued and outstanding on the
applicable dividend record. Please see the section entitled “Description of Capital Stock—
Series A Preferred Stock—Dividends.”

 
No Maturity, Sinking Fund or Mandatory Redemption: The Series A Preferred Stock has no stated maturity and will not be subject to any sinking

fund or mandatory redemption. Shares of the Series A Preferred Stock will remain
outstanding indefinitely unless we decide to redeem or otherwise repurchase them or they
are converted into our common stock in connection with a Change of Control as described
below. We are not required to set aside funds to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock.

 
Optional Redemption: We may, at our option, redeem our Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at any

time or from time to time, for cash at a redemption price equal to $25.00 per share, plus
any accumulated and unpaid dividends to, but not including, the redemption date. Please
see the section entitled “Series A Preferred Stock—Optional Redemption.”

 
Special Optional Redemption: Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below), we may, at our option,

redeem our Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or
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in part, within 120 days after the first date on which such Change of Control occurred, for
cash at a redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends
to, but not including, the redemption date.

 
 A “Change of Control” is deemed to occur when, after the original issuance of the Series A

Preferred Stock, the following have occurred and are continuing:
 

 

•  the acquisition by any person, including any syndicate or group deemed to be a
“person” under Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (“Exchange Act”), of beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, through
a purchase, merger or other acquisition transaction or series of purchases, mergers
or other acquisition transactions of our stock entitling that person to exercise more
than 50% of the total voting power of all our stock entitled to vote generally in the
election of our directors (except that such person will be deemed to have beneficial
ownership of all securities that such person has the right to acquire, whether such
right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only upon the occurrence of a
subsequent condition); and

 

 

•  following the closing of any transaction referred to in the bullet point above, neither
we nor the acquiring or surviving entity has a class of common securities (or
American Depositary Receipts representing such securities) listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), the NYSE MKT LLC (“NYSE MKT”) or the
NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ”), or listed or quoted on an exchange or
quotation system that is a successor to the NYSE, the NYSE MKT or NASDAQ.

 
Conversion Rights: Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, each holder of Series A Preferred Stock will

have the right (unless, prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date (as defined below),
we have provided notice of our election to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock) to convert
some or all of the Series A Preferred Stock held by such holder (the “Change of Control
Conversion Right”) on the Change of Control Conversion Date into a number of shares of
our common stock per share of Series A Preferred Stock to be converted equal to the lesser
of:

 

 

•  the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the sum of the $25.00 liquidation preference
plus the amount of any accrued and unpaid dividends to, but not including, the
Change of Control Conversion Date (unless the Change of Control Conversion Date
is after a record date for a Series A Preferred Stock dividend payment and prior to
the corresponding Series A Preferred Stock dividend payment date, in which case
no additional amount for such accrued and unpaid dividend will be included in this
sum) by (ii) the Common Stock Price (as defined below); and
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 •  25 shares of common stock per preferred share (i.e., the “Share Cap”), subject to
certain adjustments;

 
 subject, in each case, to provisions for the receipt of alternative consideration as

described herein.
 

 
The Share Cap is subject to pro rata adjustments for any share splits (including those
effected pursuant to a distribution of our common stock), subdivisions or combinations
with respect to our common stock.

 

 

Upon such a conversion, the holders will be limited to a maximum number of shares of our
common stock equal to the Share Cap multiplied by the number of shares of our Series A
Preferred Stock converted. If the Common Stock Price is less than $1.00, subject to
adjustment, the holders will receive a maximum of 25.00 shares of our common stock per
share of Series A Preferred Stock, which may result in the holders receiving shares of
common stock with a value that is less than the liquidation preference of the our Series A
Preferred Stock.

 

 

If, prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date, we have provided a redemption notice,
whether pursuant to our special optional redemption right in connection with a Change of
Control or our optional redemption right, holders of Series A Preferred Stock will not have
any right to convert the Series A Preferred Stock in connection with the Change of Control
Conversion Right, and any shares of Series A Preferred Stock selected for redemption that
have been tendered for conversion will be redeemed on the related date of redemption
instead of converted on the Change of Control Conversion Date.

 

 

The “Change of Control Conversion Date” is the date the Series A Preferred Stock is to be
converted, which will be a business day that is no fewer than 20 days nor more than 35
days after the date on which we provide the required notice of the occurrence of a Change
of Control to the holders of Series A Preferred Stock.

 

 

The “Common Stock Price” will be (i) if the consideration to be received in the Change of
Control by the holders of our common stock is solely cash, the amount of cash
consideration per share of our common stock or (ii) if the consideration to be received in
the Change of Control by holders of our common stock is other than solely cash (x) the
average of the closing sale prices per share of our common stock (or, if no closing sale
price is reported, the average of the closing bid and ask prices or, if more than one in either
case, the average of the average closing bid and the average closing ask prices) for the ten
consecutive trading days immediately preceding, but not including, the effective date of the
Change of Control as reported on the principal U.S. securities exchange on which our
common stock is then traded, or (y) the average of the last quoted bid prices for our
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common stock in the over-the-counter market as reported by Pink Sheets LLC or a similar
organization for the ten consecutive trading days immediately preceding, but not including,
the effective date of the Change of Control, if our common stock is not then listed for
trading on a U.S. securities exchange.

 
Liquidation Preference: If we liquidate, dissolve or wind up, holders of the Series A Preferred Stock will have the

right to receive $25.00 per share, plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends to, but not
including, the date of payment, before any payment is made to the holders of our common
stock. Please see the section titled “Description of Capital Stock—Series A Preferred Stock
—Liquidation Preference.”

 
Ranking: The Series A Preferred Stock ranks, with respect to rights to the payment of dividends and

the distribution of assets upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, (1) senior to all
classes or series of our common stock and to all other equity securities issued by us other
than equity securities referred to in clauses (2) and (3); (2) on a parity with all equity
securities issued by us with terms specifically providing that those equity securities rank on
a parity with the Series A Preferred Stock with respect to rights to the payment of
dividends and the distribution of assets upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up;
(3) junior to all equity securities issued by us with terms specifically providing that those
equity securities rank senior to the Series A Preferred Stock with respect to rights to the
payment of dividends and the distribution of assets upon our liquidation, dissolution or
winding up; and (4) effectively junior to all of our existing and future indebtedness
(including indebtedness convertible into our common stock or preferred stock) and to the
indebtedness and other liabilities of (as well as any preferred equity interests held by others
in) our existing subsidiaries and any future subsidiaries. Please see the section titled
“Description of the Series A Preferred Stock—Ranking.”

 
Limited Voting Rights: Holders of our Series A Preferred Stock generally have no voting rights. However, if we do

not pay dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock for six or more quarterly dividend
periods (whether or not consecutive), the holders of our Series A Preferred Stock (voting
separately as a class with the holders of all other classes or series of our preferred stock that
we may issue upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable and
which are entitled to vote as a class with our Series A Preferred Stock) will be entitled to
vote for the election of two additional directors to serve on our board of directors until we
pay, or declare and set aside funds for the payment of, all dividends that we owe on our
Series A Preferred Stock, subject to certain limitations. In addition, the affirmative vote of
the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of our Series A Preferred Stock
is required at any time for us to authorize or issue any class or series of our capital stock
ranking senior to our Series A Preferred Stock with respect to the payment of dividends or
the
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distribution of assets on liquidation, dissolution or winding up, to amend any provision of
our charter so as to materially and adversely affect any rights of our Series A Preferred
Stock or to take certain other actions. If any such amendments to our charter would be
material and adverse to holders of our Series A Preferred Stock and any other series of
parity preferred stock upon which similar voting rights have been conferred and are
exercisable, a vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of our Series A Preferred
Stock and the shares of the other applicable series materially and adversely affected, voting
together as a class, would be required. Please see the section titled “Series A Preferred
Stock—Voting Rights.”

 
Use of Proceeds: We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering, after deducting the underwriter’s

commissions and our offering expenses, for general corporate purposes, which may
include, among other things, repayment of indebtedness, future acquisitions, the financing
of capital expenditures and additions to our working capital, such as purchases of
inventory. Please see the section titled “Use of Proceeds.”

 
Risk Factors: Please read the section titled “Risk Factors” for a discussion of some of the factors that you

should carefully consider before deciding to invest in our Series A Preferred Stock.
 
Exchange listing: Our preferred stock trades under the symbol “MINDP” on the NASDAQ Stock Market.
 
Transfer Agent: The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock and our Series A Preferred Stock is

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.
 
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations: For a discussion of the U.S. federal income tax consequences of purchasing, owning and

disposing of the Series A Preferred Stock, please see the section titled “Material U.S.
Federal Income Tax Consequences.” You are urged to consult your tax advisor with respect
to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of owning the Series A Preferred Stock in
light of your own particular situation and with respect to any tax consequences arising
under the laws of any state, local, foreign or other taxing jurisdiction.

 
Book Entry and Form: The Series A Preferred Stock will be represented by one or more global certificates in

definitive, fully registered form deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name
of, a nominee of The Depository Trust Company.
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Summary Historical Consolidated Financial Data

The following table presents summary historical consolidated financial data of the Company as of the dates and for the periods indicated. The
summary historical consolidated financial data as of and for the years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020 are derived from the audited financial
statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The summary historical consolidated interim financial data as of and for the six months ended
July 31, 2021 and 2020 is derived from the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The
unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as our audited financial statements and, in our opinion, include
all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, that are considered necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, results of
operations and cash flows for such periods. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future.

The summary historical consolidated financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by
reference to, the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2021 and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended April 30, 2021, July 31,
2021 and July 30, 2020, which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus in their entirety, the “Risk Factors,” and “Capitalization” sections of
this prospectus and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial data included elsewhere in this prospectus.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

 
   

Year Ended
January 31,   

Six Months Ended
July 31,  

   2021   2020   2021   2020  
Revenues:      

Sale of marine technology products   $ 21,215  $ 29,919  $11,001  $ 8,273
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total revenues    21,215   29,919   11,001   8,273
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Cost of sales:      
Sale of marine technology products    13,906   16,965   8,234   5,772

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total cost of sales    13,906   16,965   8,234   5,772
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Gross profit    7,309   12,954   2,767   2,501
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating expenses:      
Selling, general and administrative    12,648   14,140   7,195   5,942
Research and development    3,003   1,850   1,741   1,165
Provision for doubtful accounts    659   —     —     —   
Impairment of intangible assets    2,531   760   —     2,531
Depreciation and amortization    2,796   2,494   1,223   1,430

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    21,637   19,244   10,159   11,068
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating loss    (14,328)   (6,290)   (7,392)   (8,567) 
Other income:      

Other, net    862   100   1,004   56
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total other income    862   100   1,004   56
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes    (13,466)   (6,190)   (6,388)   (8,511) 
(Provision) benefit for income taxes    (536)   (353)   (52)   188

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Loss from continuing operations    (14,002)   (6,543)   (6,440)   (8,323) 
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes    (6,304)   (4,744)   (204)   (4,923) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   $(20,306)  $ (11,287)  $ (6,644)  $(13,246) 
Preferred stock dividends    (2,254)   (2,050)   (1,266)   (1,118) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss attributable to common shareholders   $(22,560)  $(13,337)  $ (7,910)  $(14,364) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net loss per common share:—Basic      
Continuing operations   $ (1.30)  $ (0.71)  $ (0.56)  $ (0.78) 
Discontinued operations   $ (0.50)  $ (0.39)  $ (0.01)  $ (0.40) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (1.80)  $ (1.10)  $ (0.57)  $ (1.18) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net loss per common share:—Diluted      
Continuing operations   $ (1.30)  $ (0.71)  $ (0.56)  $ (0.78) 
Discontinued operations   $ (0.50)  $ (0.39)  $ (0.01)  $ (0.40) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (1.80)  $ (1.10)  $ (0.57)  $ (1.18) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Shares used in computing net loss per common share:      
Basic    12,519   12,143   13,767   12,177

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted    12,519   12,143   13,767   12,177
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  July 31,   January 31,  
  2021    2020   2021    2020  
               

      (in thousands)      
Balance Sheet Data (at period end):       

Total assets  $36,049   $43,492  $39,763   $58,228
Total liabilities  $ 8,731   $ 9,804  $ 9,347   $10,576
Total shareholders’ equity  $27,318   $33,688  $30,416   $47,652 

 
  

Six Months Ended
July 31,   

Year Ended
January 31,  

  2021   2020   2021   2020  
             

  (in thousands)  
Cash Flow Statement Data:     

Net cash used in operating activities  $(7,191) $ (2,566) $ (6,360) $ (5,817)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  $ 1,231  $ 1,598  $ 3,207  $ (2,088)
Net cash provided by financing activities  $ 3,383  $ 489  $ 4,514  $ 1,749
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Series A Preferred Stock involves significant risks, including the risks described below and discussed under the section
captioned “Risk Factors” contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2021, which are incorporated by reference in this
prospectus in their entirety. Before purchasing shares of Series A Preferred Stock, you should carefully consider each of the following risk factors and
the risk factors incorporated by reference as well as the other information contained in this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference,
including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes. Each of the risks described below and the risks incorporated by reference, either
alone or taken together, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and the actual outcome of matters as
to which forward-looking statements are made in this prospectus. The risk factors described below and the risk factors incorporated by reference are not
the only risks we face. Our business, financial condition and results of operations may also be affected by additional factors that are not currently known
to us, that we currently consider immaterial or that are not specific to us, such as general economic conditions. You should refer to the explanation of the
qualifications and limitations on forward-looking statements included under “Cautionary Statements About Forward-Looking Statements” of this
prospectus. All forward-looking statements made by us are qualified by the risk factors described below.

Risks Related to this Offering and Ownership of Shares of Our Series A Preferred Stock

The Series A Preferred Stock ranks junior to all of our indebtedness and other liabilities.

In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our affairs, our assets will be available to pay obligations on our Series
A Preferred Stock only after all of our indebtedness and other liabilities have been paid. We currently have no bank-funded debt, but, in order to raise
additional capital, in the future, we may issue debt securities or equity securities with a liquidation preference senior to that of our Series A Preferred
Stock. The rights of holders of our Series A Preferred Stock to participate in the distribution of our assets will rank junior to the prior claims of our
current and future creditors and any future series or class of preferred stock we may issue that ranks senior to our Series A Preferred Stock. Also, our
Series A Preferred Stock effectively ranks junior to all existing and future indebtedness and to the indebtedness and other liabilities of our existing
subsidiaries and any future subsidiaries. Our existing subsidiaries are, and future subsidiaries would be, separate legal entities and have no legal
obligation to pay any amounts to us in respect of dividends due on our Series A Preferred Stock. If we are forced to liquidate our assets to pay our
creditors, we may not have sufficient assets to pay amounts due on any or all of our Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding. We have incurred and
may in the future incur substantial amounts of debt and other obligations that will rank senior to our Series A Preferred Stock. At July 31, 2021, our total
liabilities equaled approximately $8.7 million.

Certain of our existing or future debt instruments may restrict the authorization, payment or setting apart of dividends on our Series A Preferred
Stock. Also, future offerings of debt or senior equity securities may adversely affect the market price of our Series A Preferred Stock. If we decide to
issue debt or senior equity securities in the future, it is possible that these securities will be governed by an indenture or other instruments containing
covenants restricting our operating flexibility. Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future may have rights,
preferences and privileges more favorable than those of our Series A Preferred Stock and may result in dilution to owners of our Series A Preferred
Stock. We and, indirectly, our stockholders, will bear the cost of issuing and servicing such securities. Because our decision to issue debt or equity
securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing
or nature of our future offerings. The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock will bear the risk of our future offerings, which may reduce the market
price of our Series A Preferred Stock and will dilute the value of their holdings in us.

The Series A Preferred Stock is thinly traded and has no stated maturity date.

The shares of Series A Preferred Stock were listed for trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “MINDP”
on June 14, 2016 and are thinly traded on the NASDAQ. Because the
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Series A Preferred Stock has no stated maturity date, investors seeking liquidity will be limited to selling their shares in the secondary market. Because
our Series A Preferred Stock is thinly traded, the purchase or sale of relatively small Series A Preferred Stock positions may result in disproportionately
large increases or decreases in the price of our Series A Preferred Stock. An active trading market for the shares may not develop or, even if it develops,
may not last, in which case the trading price of the shares could be adversely affected and your ability to transfer your shares of Series A Preferred Stock
will be limited.

We may issue additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock and additional series of preferred stock that rank on parity with our Series
A Preferred Stock as to dividend rights, rights upon liquidation or voting rights.

We are allowed to issue additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock and additional series of preferred stock that would rank equally to or above
our Series A Preferred Stock as to dividend payments and rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs pursuant to our certificate
of incorporation and the certificate of designations relating to our Series A Preferred Stock without any vote of the holders of our Series A Preferred
Stock. The issuance of additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock and additional series of preferred stock could have the effect of reducing the
amounts available to our Series A Preferred Stock issued in this offering upon our liquidation or dissolution or the winding up of our affairs. It also may
reduce dividend payments on our Series A Preferred Stock issued in this offering if we do not have sufficient funds to pay dividends on all Series
A Preferred Stock outstanding and other classes or series of stock with equal priority with respect to dividends.

Also, although holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to limited voting rights, with respect to the circumstances under which the holders
of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to vote, our Series A Preferred Stock will vote separately as a class along with all other series of our preferred
stock that we may issue upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable. As a result, the voting rights of holders of Series
A Preferred Stock may be significantly diluted, and the holders of such other series of preferred stock that we may issue may be able to control or
significantly influence the outcome of any vote.

Future issuances and sales of senior or pari passu preferred stock, or the perception that such issuances and sales could occur, may cause
prevailing market prices for our Series A Preferred Stock and our common stock to decline and may adversely affect our ability to raise additional
capital in the financial markets at times and prices favorable to us.

We may not be able to pay dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock.

Our ability to pay cash dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock following issuance will depend on the amount of funds legally available
therefor. Further, even if funds are legally available for the payment of dividends, we may not have sufficient cash to pay dividends on our Series
A Preferred Stock. Our ability to pay dividends may be impaired if any of the risks described in this prospectus, or documents incorporated by reference
in this prospectus were to occur. Also, payment of our dividends depends upon our financial condition and other factors as our board of directors may
deem relevant from time to time. We cannot assure you that our businesses will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings
will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to make distributions on our common stock, if any, and preferred stock, including our Series
A Preferred Stock, to pay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs.

We could become unable, on a temporary or permanent basis, to pay dividends on the shares of Series A Preferred Stock. Future debt, contractual
covenants or arrangements that we or our subsidiaries may enter into may also restrict or prevent future dividend payments.

The payment of any future dividends will be determined by our board of directors in light of conditions then existing, including earnings, financial
condition, capital requirements, restrictions in financing agreements,
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business conditions and other factors affecting us as a whole. Accordingly, there is no guarantee that we will be able to pay any dividends on our Series
A Preferred Stock.

U.S. holders of our Series A Preferred Stock may be unable to use the dividends-received deduction and may not be eligible for the preferential
tax rates applicable to “qualified dividend income.”

Distributions paid to corporate U.S. holders of our Series A Preferred Stock may be eligible for the dividends-received deduction, and distributions
paid to non-corporate U.S. holders of our Series A Preferred Stock may be subject to tax at the preferential tax rates applicable to “qualified dividend
income,” only if we have current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We do not believe we have
accumulated earnings and profits. Additionally, we do not expect to have any current earnings and profits in our fiscal year ending January 31, 2022 and
we may not have sufficient current earnings and profits during future fiscal years for distributions on our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock to
qualify as dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes. To the extent any distributions on our Series A Preferred Stock fail to qualify as dividends,
corporate U.S. holders would be unable to use the dividends-received deduction and non-corporate U.S. holders may not be eligible for the preferential
tax rates applicable to “qualified dividend income.” If any distributions on our Series A Preferred Stock with respect to any fiscal year are not eligible
for the dividends-received deduction or preferential tax rates applicable to “qualified dividend income” because of insufficient current or accumulated
earnings and profits, it is possible that the market value of our Series A Preferred Stock might decline.

Our Series A Preferred Stock has not been rated.

We have not sought to obtain a rating for our Series A Preferred Stock. No assurance can be given, however, that one or more rating agencies
might not independently determine to issue such a rating or that such a rating, if issued, would not adversely affect the market price of our Series
A Preferred Stock. Also, we may elect in the future to obtain a rating for our Series A Preferred Stock, which could adversely affect the market price of
our Series A Preferred Stock. Ratings only reflect the views of the rating agency or agencies issuing the ratings and such ratings could be revised
downward, placed on a watch list or withdrawn entirely at the discretion of the issuing rating agency if in its judgment circumstances so warrant. Any
such downward revision, placing on a watch list or withdrawal of a rating could have an adverse effect on the market price of our Series A Preferred
Stock.

We may redeem our Series A Preferred Stock.

We may, at our option, redeem our Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time. Also, upon the occurrence of a
Change of Control (as described in “Description of Capital Stock—Series A Preferred Stock—Special Optional Redemption”), we may, at our option,
redeem our Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, within 120 days after the first date on which such Change of Control occurred. We may have
an incentive to redeem our Series A Preferred Stock voluntarily if market conditions allow us to issue other preferred stock or debt securities at a rate
that is lower than the dividend on our Series A Preferred Stock. If we redeem our Series A Preferred Stock, then from and after the redemption date,
your dividends will cease to accrue on your shares of Series A Preferred Stock, your shares of Series A Preferred Stock will no longer be deemed
outstanding and all your rights as a holder of those shares will terminate, except the right to receive the redemption price plus accumulated and unpaid
dividends, if any, payable upon redemption.

The market price of our Series A Preferred Stock could be substantially affected by various factors.

The market price of our Series A Preferred Stock depends on many factors, which may change from time to time, including:
 

 •  prevailing interest rates, increases in which may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Series A Preferred Stock;
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 •  trading prices of similar securities;
 

 •  our history of timely dividend payments;
 

 •  the annual yield from dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock compared to yields on other financial instruments;
 

 •  general economic and financial market conditions;
 

 •  government action or regulation;
 

 •  the financial condition, performance and prospects of us and our competitors;
 

 •  changes in financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts with respect to us or our competitors in our industry;
 

 •  our issuance of additional preferred equity or debt securities; and
 

 •  actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results of us and our competitors.

As a result of these and other factors, investors who purchase our Series A Preferred Stock in this offering may experience a decrease, which could be
substantial and rapid, in the market price of our Series A Preferred Stock, including decreases unrelated to our operating performance or prospects.

As a holder of Series A Preferred Stock, you will have extremely limited voting rights.

Other than the limited circumstances described in this prospectus and except to the extent required by law, holders of Series A Preferred Stock do
not have any voting rights. Our shares of common stock are the only class of our securities that carry full voting rights. Voting rights for holders of
Series A Preferred Stock exist primarily with respect to the ability to elect, voting together with the holders of any other series of our preferred
stock having similar voting rights, two additional directors to our board of directors, subject to limitations described in the section entitled “Description
of Capital Stock—Series A Preferred Stock—Voting Rights,” in the event that six or more quarterly dividends (whether or not consecutive) payable on
our Series A Preferred Stock are in arrears, and with respect to voting on amendments to our certificate of incorporation or certificate of designations
relating to our Series A Preferred Stock that materially and adversely affect the rights of the holders of Series A Preferred Stock or authorize, increase or
create additional classes or series of our capital stock that are senior to our Series A Preferred Stock.

If our common stock is delisted, your ability to transfer or sell your shares of our Series A Preferred Stock may be limited and the market value
of our Series A Preferred Stock will likely be materially adversely affected.

The Series A Preferred Stock does not contain provisions that are intended to protect you if our common stock is delisted from the NASDAQ.
Because our Series A Preferred Stock has no stated maturity date, you may be forced to hold your shares of Series A Preferred Stock and receive stated
dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock when, as and if authorized by our board of directors and paid by us with no assurance as to ever receiving the
liquidation value thereof. Also, if our common stock is delisted from the NASDAQ, it is likely that our Series A Preferred Stock will be delisted from
the NASDAQ as well. Accordingly, if our common stock is delisted from the NASDAQ, your ability to transfer or sell your shares of Series A Preferred
Stock may be limited and the market value of our Series A Preferred Stock will likely be materially and adversely affected.

We will have broad discretion in using the proceeds of this offering, and we may not effectively spend the proceeds.

We plan to use all of the net proceeds from this offering for general corporate purposes, which may include, among other things, repayment of
indebtedness, acquisitions, capital expenditures and additions to working
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capital. We will have significant flexibility and broad discretion in applying the net proceeds of this offering, and we may not apply these proceeds
effectively. Our management might not be able to yield a significant return, if any, on any investment of these net proceeds, and you will not have the
opportunity to influence our decisions on how to use the net proceeds from this offering.

You may not be able to exercise conversion rights upon a Change of Control. If exercisable, the change of control conversion rights described in
this prospectus may not adequately compensate you. These change of control conversion rights may also make it more difficult for a party to
acquire us or discourage a party from acquiring us.

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, each holder of our Series A Preferred Stock will have the right (unless, prior to the Change of
Control Conversion Date, we have provided notice of our election to redeem some or all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by such holder as
described under “Description of Capital Stock—Series A Preferred Stock—Optional Redemption”, in which case such holder will have the right only
with respect to shares of Series A Preferred Stock that are not called for redemption) to convert some or all of such holder’s Series A Preferred Stock
into our shares of common stock (or under specified circumstances, certain alternative consideration).

We have a special optional redemption right to redeem our Series A Preferred Stock in the event of a Change of Control, and holders of our Series
A Preferred Stock will not have the right to convert any shares that we have elected to redeem prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date. Please
see the sections entitled “Description of Capital Stock—Series A Preferred Stock—Redemption Special Optional Redemption” and “Description of
Capital Stock—Series A Preferred Stock—Conversion Rights.”

If we do not elect to redeem our Series A Preferred Stock prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date, then upon an exercise of the conversion
rights provided for in this prospectus, the maximum number of shares of our common stock (or, if applicable, the Alternative Conversion Consideration
(as defined herein)) the holders of Series A Preferred Stock can receive will be limited to the Share Cap multiplied by the number of shares of Series A
Preferred Stock converted. If the common stock price is less than $1.00 (which is approximately 49% of the per-share closing sale price of our common
stock reported on the NASDAQ on July 31, 2021), subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, the holders of our Series A Preferred Stock will
receive a maximum of 25.00 shares of our common stock per share of Series A Preferred Stock, which may result in a holder receiving shares of
common stock (or Alternative Conversion Consideration, as applicable) with a value that is less than the liquidation preference of our Series A Preferred
Stock plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

The Change of Control conversion feature of our Series A Preferred Stock may also have the effect of discouraging a third party from making an
acquisition proposal for us or of delaying, deferring or preventing certain of our change of control transactions under circumstances that otherwise could
provide the holders of our common stock and Series A Preferred Stock with the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-current market price of
such stock or that stockholders may otherwise believe is in their best interests.

Investors should not expect us to redeem our Series A Preferred Stock.

The Series A Preferred Stock has no maturity or mandatory redemption date and is not redeemable at the option of investors under any
circumstances. By its terms, our Series A Preferred Stock may be redeemed by us at our option either in whole or in part. Any decision we may make at
any time regarding whether to redeem our Series A Preferred Stock will depend upon a wide variety of factors, including our evaluation of our capital
position, our capital requirements and general market conditions at that time. You should not assume that we will redeem our Series A Preferred Stock at
any particular time, or at all.
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Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and Delaware law could discourage a takeover attempt, which may reduce or eliminate the
likelihood of a change of control transaction and, therefore, the ability of our stockholders to sell their shares for a premium.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) may tend to delay, defer or prevent a
potential unsolicited offer or takeover attempt that is not approved by our board of directors but that our stockholders might consider to be in their best
interest, including an attempt that might result in stockholders receiving a premium over the market price for their shares. Because our board of directors
is authorized to issue preferred stock with preferences and rights as it determines, it may afford the holders of any series of preferred stock preferences,
rights or voting powers superior to those of the holders of common stock.

In addition, we are governed by Section 203 of the DGCL which, subject to some specified exceptions, prohibits “business combinations”
between a Delaware corporation and an “interested stockholder,” which is generally defined as a stockholder who becomes a beneficial owner of 15% or
more of a Delaware corporation’s voting stock, for a three-year period following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder.
Section 203 could have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change in control that our stockholders might consider to be in their best
interests.

Risk Related to the Operation of Our Business

We face significant inventory risk.

We are exposed to inventory risks that may adversely affect our operating results as a result of changes in product cycles and pricing, defective
products, changes in customer demand and spending patterns, and other factors. We endeavor to accurately predict these trends and avoid over-stocking
or under-stocking components in order to avoid shortages, excesses or obsolete inventory. Demand for components, however, can change significantly
between the time inventory or components are ordered/assembled and the dates of customer orders. In addition, when we begin marketing a new
product, it may be difficult to determine appropriate component selection and accurately forecast demand. The acquisition of certain types of inventory
or components may require significant lead-time and they may not be returnable. We carry a broad selection and significant inventory levels of certain
components, and we may be unable to sell them in sufficient quantities. Any one of the inventory risk factors set forth above may adversely affect our
operating results.

Recent component shortages or long lead times from key suppliers may result in our decision to order components sooner than we otherwise
would, which requires additional working capital and increases our risks of excess inventory and inventory obsolescence.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering, after deducting the underwriter’s commissions and our offering expenses, for general
corporate purposes, which may include, among other things, repayment of indebtedness, future acquisitions, the financing of capital expenditures and
additions to our working capital, such as purchases of inventory.
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MARKET PRICE OF OUR PREFERRED STOCK

Our preferred stock trades under the symbol “MINDP” on the NASDAQ.

The closing sale price of our preferred stock on November 3, 2021 was $24.79 per share. As of October 15, 2021, we had two holders of record of
our preferred stock, based on information provided by our transfer agent.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Holders of our Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to 9.00% per annum of the $25.00 per share liquidation preference (equivalent to $2.25
per annum per share), accruing from the date of initial issuance. Dividends will be payable to holders of our Series A Preferred Stock quarterly on or
about the last day of January, April, July and October of each year. The record date for dividend payment will be the 15th day of January, April, July and
October of each year.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and capitalization as of July 31, 2021:
 

 •  on a historical basis; and
 

 •  as adjusted to reflect this offering and the application of net proceeds from this offering as described under “Use of Proceeds.”

This table is derived from, and should be read together with and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the historical consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. You should also read this table in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
 
   As of July 31, 2021  
   Historical   As Adjusted 
   (in thousands)  
Cash and cash equivalents:   $ 2,056  $               

    
 

   
 

Long-term debt:   $ —    $   
    

 
   

 

Shareholders’ equity:    
Preferred stock ($1.00 par value; 2,000 shares authorized; 1,223 shares issued and outstanding at July 31, 2021;

            shares issued and outstanding, as adjusted,    27,606  
Common stock ($0.01 par value; 40,000 shares authorized; 15,704 shares issued and outstanding at July 31,

2021)    157  
Additional paid-in capital    128,519  
Treasury shares at cost (1,931 shares at July 31, 2021)    (16,862)  
Accumulated deficit    (107,780)  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (4,322)  

    
 

   
 

Total shareholders’ equity   $ 27,318  $   
    

 
   

 

Total Capitalization   $ 27,318  $   
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Peter H. Blum is the Non-Executive Chairman of our board of directors and is also the Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President of the
underwriter. As described in more detail in “Underwriting,” the underwriter expects to receive underwriting discounts and commissions totaling
$                in connection with this offering. Mr. Blum will receive no portion of these commissions and discounts or structuring fee.

On October 7, 2016, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. (the “Agent”). On
December 18, 2019, the Company and Agent entered into an Amended and Restated equity distribution agreement (the “1st Equity Distribution
Agreement”). Pursuant to the 1st Equity Distribution Agreement, the Company may sell up to 500,000 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock, through
the Agent through an at-the-market program (the “1st ATM Offering Program”). Under the 1st Equity Distribution Agreement, the Agent was entitled to
compensation of up to 2.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of our Series A Preferred Stock under the 1st ATM Offering Program. The 1st ATM
Offering Program was concluded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020. Mr. Blum received no portion of the compensation paid to the Agent related to the
1st Equity Distribution Agreement.

In September 2020 we entered into a new equity distribution agreement (the “2nd Equity Distribution Agreement”) with the Agent with economic
terms essentially identical to the 1st Equity Distribution Agreement. Pursuant to the 2nd Equity Distribution Agreement, the Company may sell up to
500,000 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock and 5,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value common stock (the “2nd ATM Offering Program”).

During fiscal 2021, the Company issued 44,186 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock under the 2nd ATM Offering Program. Gross proceeds
from these sales were approximately $1.0 million for fiscal 2021, and the Agent received compensation of approximately $20,408. Mr. Blum received
no portion of the compensation paid to the agent.

During fiscal 2021, the Company issued 1,584,556 shares of common stock under the 2nd ATM Offering Program. Gross proceeds from these
sales were approximately $4.0 million, and the Agent received compensation of approximately $79,307 resulting in net proceeds to the Company, after
deducting underwriting discounts and offering costs, of approximately $3.6 million for fiscal 2021. Mr. Blum received no portion of the compensation
paid to the Agent.
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DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK

The description of certain terms of the common stock in this prospectus does not purport to be complete and is in all respects subject to, and
qualified in its entirety by references to, the relevant provisions of our certificate of incorporation, our Amended and Restated Bylaws (our “bylaws)”
and the DGCL.

General

We are authorized under our certificate of incorporation to issue up to 40,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“common
stock”). As of July 31, 2021, we had 15,704,000 shares of the common stock issued and outstanding.

The registrar, transfer agent and dividend and redemption price disbursing agent in respect of the common stock is American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, LLC. The principal business address for American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC is 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York
11219.

Listing

Our common stock is currently traded on the NASDAQ under the trading symbol “MIND.”

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our inception, and our board of directors does not contemplate the payment of
cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. It is the present policy of our board of directors to retain earnings, if any, for use in
developing and expanding our business. In the future, our payment of dividends on our common stock will also depend on the amount of funds
available, our financial condition, capital requirements and such other factors as our board of directors may consider.

Voting Rights

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote at a meeting of our
stockholders. In matters other than the election of directors, stockholder approval requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of our
common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the matter, voting as a single class, unless the matter is
one upon which, by express provision of law, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws, a different vote is required. Subject to the rights of the
holders of any series of preferred stock to elect directors under specified circumstances, election of directors is determined by a plurality of the votes
cast.

In addition to any other vote that may be required by law, applicable stock exchange rule or the terms of any series of our preferred stock,
amendments to our certificate of incorporation must be approved by the board of directors and thereafter by holders of a majority in voting power of our
stock entitled to vote thereon, and a majority in voting power of each class entitled to a separate class vote. A separate class vote is provided for
amendments to the certificate of incorporation changing the number of authorized shares of a class of stock (unless the certificate of incorporation
provides otherwise), changing the par value of a class of stock, or adversely affecting the rights, powers and preferences of the class of stock.

Our bylaws may be amended by (i) stockholder action with the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of all the
shares entitled to vote thereon or (ii) by the majority of the board of directors.
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DESCRIPTION OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK

The description of certain terms of the Series A Preferred Stock in this prospectus does not purport to be complete and is in all respects subject to,
and qualified in its entirety by references to, the relevant provisions of our certificate of incorporation, our Certificate of Designations, Preferences and
Rights of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock (our “certificate of designations”), our bylaws and the DGCL. Copies of our certificate of incorporation,
the certificate of designations and our bylaws are available from us upon request.

General

We are authorized under our certificate of incorporation to issue up to 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share, in one or
more classes or series and, subject to the limitations prescribed by our certificate of incorporation and Delaware law, with such rights, preferences,
privileges and restrictions of each class or series of preferred stock, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption,
liquidation preferences and the number of shares constituting any class or series as our board of directors may determine, without any vote or action by
our stockholders. As of July 31, 2021, we had 1,223,000 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. Assuming all of the shares of
Series A Preferred Stock offered hereunder are issued, including the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, we will have
available for issuance 329,061 authorized but unissued shares of Series A Preferred Stock. Our board of directors may, without the approval of holders
of the Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock, designate additional series of authorized preferred stock ranking junior to or on parity with the
Series A Preferred Stock or designate additional shares of the Series A Preferred Stock and authorize the issuance of such shares.

The registrar, transfer agent and dividend and redemption price disbursing agent in respect of the Series A Preferred Stock is American Stock
Transfer & Trust Company, LLC. The principal business address for American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC is 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn,
New York 11219.

Listing

Our Series A Preferred Stock is currently traded on the NASDAQ under the trading symbol “MINDP.”

No Maturity, Sinking Fund or Mandatory Redemption

The Series A Preferred Stock has no stated maturity and will not be subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption. Shares of the Series A
Preferred Stock will remain outstanding indefinitely unless we decide to redeem or otherwise repurchase them or they are converted into our common
stock in connection with a Change of Control as described below. We are not required to set aside funds to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock.

Ranking

The Series A Preferred Stock will rank, with respect to rights to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets upon our liquidation,
dissolution or winding up:
 

 (1) senior to all classes or series of our common stock and to all other equity securities issued by us other than equity securities referred to in
clauses (2) and (3) below;

 

 
(2) on a parity with all equity securities issued by us with terms specifically providing that those equity securities rank on a parity with the

Series A Preferred Stock with respect to rights to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets upon our liquidation, dissolution
or winding up;

 

 
(3) junior to all equity securities issued by us with terms specifically providing that those equity securities rank senior to the Series A Preferred

Stock with respect to rights to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up
(please see the section entitled “Voting Rights” below); and
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 (4) effectively junior to all of our existing and future indebtedness (including indebtedness convertible to our common stock or preferred
stock) and to any indebtedness and other liabilities of (as well as any preferred equity interests held by others in) our existing subsidiaries.

Dividends

Holders of shares of the Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by our board of directors, out of funds legally
available to us for the payment of dividends, cumulative cash dividends at the rate of 9.00% per annum of the $25.00 per share liquidation preference
(equivalent to $2.25 per annum per share). Dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock shall be payable quarterly on or about the last day of January,
April, July and October of each year; provided that if any dividend payment date is not a business day, as defined in the certificate of designations, then
the dividend that would otherwise have been payable on that dividend payment date may be paid on the next succeeding business day and no interest,
additional dividends or other sums will accrue on the amount so payable for the period from and after that dividend payment date to that next succeeding
business day. Any dividend payable on the Series A Preferred Stock, including dividends payable for any partial dividend period, will be computed on
the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Dividends will be payable to holders of record as they appear in our stock records for
the Series A Preferred Stock at the close of business on the applicable record date, which shall be the 15th day of January, April, July and October of
each year, whether or not a business day, in which the applicable dividend payment date falls. As a result, holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock
will not be entitled to receive dividends on a dividend payment date if such shares were not issued and outstanding on the applicable dividend record
date.

No dividends on shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be authorized by our board of directors or paid or set apart for payment by us at any time
when the terms and provisions of any agreement of ours, including any agreement relating to our indebtedness, prohibit the authorization, payment or
setting apart for payment thereof or provide that the authorization, payment or setting apart for payment thereof would constitute a breach of the
agreement or a default under the agreement, or if the authorization, payment or setting apart for payment shall be restricted or prohibited by law. You
should review the information appearing above under “Risk Factors—We may not be able to pay dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock” for
information as to these and other circumstances under which we may be unable to pay dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock will accrue whether or not we have earnings, whether or not there are
funds legally available for the payment of those dividends and whether or not those dividends are declared by our board of directors. No interest, or sum
in lieu of interest, will be payable in respect of any dividend payment or payments on the Series A Preferred Stock that may be in arrears, and holders of
the Series A Preferred Stock will not be entitled to any dividends in excess of full cumulative dividends described above. Any dividend payment made
on the Series A Preferred Stock shall first be credited against the earliest accumulated but unpaid dividend due with respect to those shares.

Future distributions on our common stock and preferred stock, including the Series A Preferred Stock will be at the discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, cash flow from operations, financial condition and capital requirements, any
debt service requirements and any other factors our board of directors deems relevant. Accordingly, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to make
cash distributions on our preferred stock or what the actual distributions will be for any future period.

Unless full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series A Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are declared and paid or declared and
a sum sufficient for the payment thereof has been or contemporaneously is set apart for payment for all past dividend periods, no dividends (other than
in shares of common stock or in shares of any series of preferred stock that we may issue ranking junior to the Series A Preferred Stock as to the
payment of dividends and the distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) shall be declared or paid or set aside for payment upon
shares of our common stock or preferred stock that we may issue ranking junior to, or on a parity with, the Series A Preferred Stock as to the payment of
dividends or the distribution of
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assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, nor shall any other distribution be declared or made upon shares of our common stock or preferred
stock that we may issue ranking junior to, or on a parity with, the Series A Preferred Stock as to the payment of dividends or the distribution of assets
upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up. Also, any shares of our common stock or preferred stock that we may issue ranking junior to or on a parity
with the Series A Preferred Stock as to the payment of dividends or the distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up shall not be
redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired for any consideration (or any moneys paid to or made available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any
such shares) by us (except by conversion into or exchange for our common stock or other capital stock that we may issue ranking junior to the Series A
Preferred Stock as to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up).

When dividends are not paid in full (or a sum sufficient for such full payment is not so set apart) upon the Series A Preferred Stock and the shares
of any other series of preferred stock that we may issue ranking on a parity as to the payment of dividends with the Series A Preferred Stock, all
dividends declared upon the Series A Preferred Stock and any other series of preferred stock that we may issue ranking on a parity as to the payment of
dividends with the Series A Preferred Stock shall be declared pro rata so that the amount of dividends declared per share of Series A Preferred Stock and
such other series of preferred stock that we may issue shall in all cases bear to each other the same ratio that accrued dividends per share on the Series A
Preferred Stock and such other series of preferred stock that we may issue (which shall not include any accrual in respect of unpaid dividends for prior
dividend periods if such preferred stock does not have a cumulative dividend) bear to each other. No interest, or sum of money in lieu of interest, shall
be payable in respect of any dividend payment or payments on the Series A Preferred Stock that may be in arrears.

Liquidation Preference

In the event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock will be
entitled to be paid out of the assets we have legally available for distribution to our stockholders, subject to the preferential rights of the holders of any
class or series of our capital stock that we may issue ranking senior to the Series A Preferred Stock with respect to the distribution of assets upon
liquidation, dissolution or winding up, a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share, plus an amount equal to any accumulated and unpaid dividends to,
but not including, the date of payment, before any distribution of assets is made to holders of our common stock or any other class or series of our
capital stock we may issue that ranks junior to the Series A Preferred Stock as to liquidation rights. The liquidation preference will be proportionately
adjusted in the event of a stock split, stock combination or similar event so that the aggregate liquidation preference allocable to all outstanding shares of
Series A Preferred Stock immediately prior to such event is the same immediately after giving effect to such event.

In the event that, upon any such voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, our available assets are insufficient to pay the
amount of the liquidating distributions on all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the corresponding amounts payable on all shares of
other classes or series of our capital stock that we may issue ranking on a parity with the Series A Preferred Stock in the distribution of assets, then the
holders of the Series A Preferred Stock and all other such classes or series of capital stock shall share ratably in any such distribution of assets in
proportion to the full liquidating distributions to which they would otherwise be respectively entitled.

After payment of the full amount of the liquidating distributions to which they are entitled, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock will have no
right or claim to any of our remaining assets. The consolidation or merger of us with or into any other corporation, trust or entity or of any other entity
with or into us, or the sale, lease, transfer or conveyance of all or substantially all of our property or business, shall not be deemed a liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of us (although such events may give rise to the special optional redemption or conversion to the extent described below).
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Redemption

Optional Redemption. We may, at our option, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ written notice, redeem the Series A Preferred Stock, in
whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, for cash at a redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends
thereon to, but not including, the date fixed for redemption.

Special Optional Redemption. Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below), we may, at our option, upon not less than 30 nor
more than 60 days’ notice, redeem the Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, within 120 days after the first date on which such Change of
Control occurred, for cash at a redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends to, but not including, the redemption
date.

A “Change of Control” is deemed to occur when, after the original issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock, the following have occurred and are
continuing:
 

 

•  the acquisition by any person, including any syndicate or group deemed to be a “person” under Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act, of
beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, through a purchase, merger or other acquisition transaction or series of purchases, mergers or
other acquisition transactions of our stock entitling that person to exercise more than 50% of the total voting power of all our stock entitled
to vote generally in the election of our directors (except that such person will be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that
such person has the right to acquire, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only upon the occurrence of a subsequent
condition); and

 

 

•  following the closing of any transaction referred to in the bullet point above, neither we nor the acquiring or surviving entity has a class of
common securities (or American Depositary Receipts representing such securities) listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), the
NYSE American (“NYSE American”) or the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (“NASDAQ Stock Market”), or listed or quoted on an
exchange or quotation system that is a successor to the NYSE, the NYSE American or the NASDAQ Stock Market.

Redemption Procedures. In the event we elect to redeem Series A Preferred Stock, the notice of redemption will be mailed or given to each holder
of record of Series A Preferred Stock called for redemption at such holder’s address as it appear on our stock transfer records, not less than 30 nor more
than 60 days prior to the redemption date, and will state the following:
 

 •  the redemption date;
 

 •  the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock to be redeemed;
 

 •  the redemption price;
 

 •  the place or places where certificates (if any) for the Series A Preferred Stock are to be surrendered for payment of the redemption price;
 

 •  that dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accumulate on the redemption date;
 

 •  whether such redemption is being made pursuant to the provisions described above under “—Optional Redemption” or “—Special
Optional Redemption”;

 

 •  if applicable, that such redemption is being made in connection with a Change of Control and, in that case, a brief description of the
transaction or transactions constituting such Change of Control; and

 

 

•  if such redemption is being made in connection with a Change of Control, that the holders of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock being
so called for redemption will not be able to tender such shares of Series A Preferred Stock for conversion in connection with the Change of
Control and that each share of Series A Preferred Stock tendered for conversion that is called, prior to the Change of Control Conversion
Date, for redemption will be redeemed on the related date of redemption instead of converted on the Change of Control Conversion Date.
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If less than all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock are to be redeemed, the notice shall also specify the number of shares of Series A
Preferred Stock to be redeemed.

Holders of Series A Preferred Stock to be redeemed shall surrender the Series A Preferred Stock at the place designated in the notice of
redemption and shall be entitled to the redemption price and any accumulated and unpaid dividends payable upon the redemption following the
surrender. If notice of redemption of any shares of Series A Preferred Stock has been given and if we have irrevocably set aside the funds necessary for
redemption in trust for the benefit of the holders of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock so called for redemption, then from and after the redemption
date (unless default shall be made by us in providing for the payment of the redemption price plus accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any), dividends
will cease to accrue on those shares of Series A Preferred Stock, those shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall no longer be deemed outstanding and all
rights of the holders of those shares will terminate, except the right to receive the redemption price plus accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any,
payable upon redemption. If any redemption date is not a business day, then the redemption price and accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, payable
upon redemption may be paid on the next business day and no interest, additional dividends or other sums will accrue on the amount payable for the
period from and after that redemption date to that next business day. If less than all of the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock is to be redeemed, the
Series A Preferred Stock to be redeemed shall be selected pro rata (as nearly as may be practicable without creating fractional shares) or by any other
equitable method we determine.

In connection with any redemption of Series A Preferred Stock, we shall pay, in cash, any accumulated and unpaid dividends to, but not including,
the redemption date, unless a redemption date falls after a dividend record date and prior to the corresponding dividend payment date, in which case
each holder of Series A Preferred Stock at the close of business on such dividend record date shall be entitled to the dividend payable on such shares on
the corresponding dividend payment date notwithstanding the redemption of such shares before such dividend payment date. Except as provided above,
we will make no payment or allowance for unpaid dividends, whether or not in arrears, on shares of the Series A Preferred Stock to be redeemed.

Unless full cumulative dividends for all partial dividend periods on all shares of Series A Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are
declared and paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof has been or contemporaneously is set apart for payment for all past dividend
periods, no shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be redeemed unless all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock are simultaneously redeemed
and we shall not purchase or otherwise acquire directly or indirectly any shares of Series A Preferred Stock (except by exchanging it for our capital
stock ranking junior to the Series A Preferred Stock as to the payment of dividends and distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding
up); provided, however, that the foregoing shall not prevent the purchase or acquisition by us of shares of Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to a
purchase or exchange offer made on the same terms to holders of all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

Subject to applicable law, we may purchase shares of Series A Preferred Stock in the open market, by tender or by private agreement. Any shares
of Series A Preferred Stock that we acquire may be retired and reclassified as authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock, without designation as
to class or series, and may thereafter be reissued as any class or series of preferred stock.

Conversion Rights

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, each holder of Series A Preferred Stock will have the right (unless, prior to the Change of Control
Conversion Date (as defined below), we have provided notice of our election to redeem some or all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by
such holder as described above under “—Redemption—Optional Redemption” or “—Redemption—Special Optional Redemption,” in which case such
holder will have the right only with respect to shares of Series A Preferred Stock that are not called for redemption) to convert some or all of the Series
A Preferred Stock held by such holder (the “Change of Control
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Conversion Right”) on the Change of Control Conversion Date into a number of shares of our common stock per share of Series A Preferred Stock (the
“Common Stock Conversion Consideration”) equal to the lesser of:
 

 

•  the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the sum of the $25.00 liquidation preference per share of Series A Preferred Stock plus the amount of
any accrued and unpaid dividends thereon to, but not including, the Change of Control Conversion Date (unless the Change of Control
Conversion Date is after a dividend record date and prior to the corresponding dividend payment date for the Series A Preferred Stock, in
which case no additional amount for such accrued and unpaid dividends will be included in this sum) by (ii) the Common Stock Price, as
defined below (such quotient, the “Conversion Rate”); and

 

 •  25.00, which we refer to as the “Share Cap,” subject to certain adjustments as described below,

subject, in each case, to provisions for the receipt of alternative consideration.

Notwithstanding anything in the certificate of designations to the contrary, and except as otherwise required by law, the holders of record of shares
of Series A Preferred Stock at the close of business on a dividend record date will be entitled to receive the dividend payable on the corresponding
dividend payment date notwithstanding the conversion of those shares after such dividend record date and on or prior to such dividend payment date
and, in such case, the full amount of such dividend shall be paid on such dividend payment date to the persons who were the holders of record at the
close of business on such dividend record date. Except as provided above, we will make no allowance for unpaid dividends that are not in arrears on the
shares of Series A Preferred Stock to be converted.

The Share Cap is subject to pro rata adjustments for any share splits (including those effected pursuant to a distribution of our common stock to
existing holders of our common stock), subdivisions or combinations (in each case, a “Share Split”) with respect to our common stock as follows: the
adjusted Share Cap as the result of a Share Split will be the number of shares of our common stock that is equivalent to the product obtained by
multiplying (i) the Share Cap in effect immediately prior to such Share Split by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares of our
common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such Share Split and the denominator of which is the number of shares of our common
stock outstanding immediately prior to such Share Split.

In the case of a Change of Control where our common stock is or will be converted into cash, securities or other property or assets (including any
combination thereof) (the “Alternative Form Consideration”), a holder of Series A Preferred Stock will receive upon conversion of such Series A
Preferred Stock the kind and amount of Alternative Form Consideration that such holder would have owned or been entitled to receive upon the Change
of Control had such holder held a number of shares of our common stock equal to the Common Stock Conversion Consideration immediately prior to
the effective time of the Change of Control (the “Alternative Conversion Consideration”). The Common Stock Conversion Consideration or the
Alternative Conversion Consideration, whichever shall be applicable to a Change of Control, is referred to as the “Conversion Consideration.”

If the holders of our common stock have the opportunity to elect the form of consideration to be received in the Change of Control, the
Conversion Consideration in respect of such Change of Control will be deemed to be the kind and amount of consideration actually received by holders
of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock that made or voted for such an election (if electing between two types of consideration) or
holders of a plurality of the outstanding shares of our common stock that made or voted for such an election (if electing between more than two types of
consideration), as the case may be, and will be subject to any limitations to which all holders of our common stock are subject, including, without
limitation, pro rata reductions applicable to any portion of the consideration payable in such Change of Control.

We will not issue fractional shares of our common stock upon the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock in connection with a Change of
Control. Instead, we will make a cash payment equal to the value of such
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fractional shares based upon the Common Stock Price used in determining the Common Stock Conversion Consideration for such Change of Control.

Within 15 days following the occurrence of a Change of Control, provided that we have not then exercised our right to redeem all shares of Series
A Preferred Stock under the redemption provisions described above, we will provide to holders of Series A Preferred Stock a notice of occurrence of the
Change of Control that describes the resulting Change of Control Conversion Right. This notice will state the following:
 

 •  the events constituting the Change of Control;
 

 •  the date of the Change of Control;
 

 •  the last date on which the holders of Series A Preferred Stock may exercise their Change of Control Conversion Right;
 

 •  the method and period for calculating the Common Stock Price;
 

 •  the Change of Control Conversion Date;
 

 

•  that if, prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date, we have provided notice of our election to redeem all or any shares of Series A
Preferred Stock, holders will not be able to convert the shares of Series A Preferred Stock called for redemption and such shares will be
redeemed on the related redemption date, even if such shares have already been tendered for conversion pursuant to the Change of Control
Conversion Right;

 

 •  if applicable, the type and amount of Alternative Conversion Consideration entitled to be received per share of Series A Preferred Stock;
 

 •  the name and address of the paying agent, transfer agent and conversion agent for the Series A Preferred Stock;
 

 
•  the procedures that the holders of Series A Preferred Stock must follow to exercise the Change of Control Conversion Right (including

procedures for surrendering shares for conversion through the facilities of a Depositary (as defined below)), including the form of
conversion notice to be delivered by such holders as described below; and

 

 •  the last date on which holders of Series A Preferred Stock may withdraw shares surrendered for conversion and the procedures that such
holders must follow to effect such a withdrawal.

Under such circumstances, we will also issue a press release containing such notice for publication on any of Dow Jones & Company, Inc.,
Business Wire, PR Newswire or Bloomberg Business News (or, if these organizations are not in existence at the time of issuance of the press release,
such other news or press organization as is reasonably calculated to broadly disseminate the relevant information to the public), and post a notice on our
website, in any event prior to the opening of business on the first business day following any date on which we provide the notice described above to the
holders of Series A Preferred Stock.

To exercise the Change of Control Conversion Right, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock will be required to deliver, on or before the close of
business on the Change of Control Conversion Date, the certificates (if any) representing the shares of Series A Preferred Stock to be converted, duly
endorsed for transfer (or, in the case of any shares of Series A Preferred Stock held in book-entry form through a Depositary (as defined below) to
deliver, on or before the close of business on the Change of Control Conversion Date, the shares of Series A Preferred Stock to be converted through the
facilities of such Depositary), together with a written conversion notice in the form provided by us, duly completed, to our transfer agent. The
conversion notice must state:
 

 •  the relevant Change of Control Conversion Date;
 

 •  the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock to be converted; and
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 •  that the Series A Preferred Stock is to be converted pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Series A Preferred Stock.

The “Change of Control Conversion Date” is the date the Series A Preferred Stock is to be converted, which will be a business day selected by us
that is no fewer than 20 days nor more than 35 days after the date on which we provide the notice described above to the holders of Series A Preferred
Stock.

The “Common Stock Price” is (i) if the consideration to be received in the Change of Control by the holders of our common stock is solely cash,
the amount of cash consideration per share of our common stock or (ii) if the consideration to be received in the Change of Control by holders of our
common stock is other than solely cash (x) the average of the closing sale prices per share of our common stock (or, if no closing sale price is reported,
the average of the closing bid and ask prices per share or, if more than one in either case, the average of the average closing bid and the average closing
ask prices per share) for the ten consecutive trading days immediately preceding, but not including, the date on which such Change of Control occurred
as reported on the principal U.S. securities exchange on which our common stock is then traded, or (y) the average of the last quoted bid prices for our
common stock in the over-the-counter market as reported by Pink Sheets LLC or similar organization for the ten consecutive trading days immediately
preceding, but not including, the date on which such Change of Control occurred, if our common stock is not then listed for trading on a U.S. securities
exchange.

Holders of Series A Preferred Stock may withdraw any notice of exercise of a Change of Control Conversion Right (in whole or in part) by a
written notice of withdrawal delivered to our transfer agent prior to the close of business on the business day prior to the Change of Control Conversion
Date. The notice of withdrawal delivered by any holder must state:
 

 •  the number of withdrawn shares of Series A Preferred Stock;
 

 •  if certificated Series A Preferred Stock has been surrendered for conversion, the certificate numbers of the withdrawn shares of Series A
Preferred Stock; and

 

 •  the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, if any, which remain subject to the holder’s conversion notice.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any shares of Series A Preferred Stock are held in book-entry form through the DTC, or a similar depositary
(each, a “Depositary”), the conversion notice and/or the notice of withdrawal, as applicable, must comply with applicable procedures, if any, of the
applicable Depositary.

Series A Preferred Stock as to which the Change of Control Conversion Right has been properly exercised and for which the conversion notice
has not been properly withdrawn will be converted into the applicable Conversion Consideration in accordance with the Change of Control Conversion
Right on the Change of Control Conversion Date, unless prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date we have provided notice of our election to
redeem some or all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock, as described above under “—Redemption—Optional Redemption” or “—Redemption—
Special Optional Redemption,” in which case only the shares of Series A Preferred Stock properly surrendered for conversion and not properly
withdrawn that are not called for redemption will be converted. If we elect to redeem shares of Series A Preferred Stock that would otherwise be
converted into the applicable Conversion Consideration on a Change of Control Conversion Date, such shares of Series A Preferred Stock will not be so
converted and the holders of such shares will be entitled to receive on the applicable redemption date the redemption price described above under “—
Redemption—Optional Redemption” or “—Redemption—Special Optional Redemption,” as applicable.

We will deliver all securities, cash and any other property owing upon conversion no later than the third business day following the Change of
Control Conversion Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the persons entitled to receive any shares of our common stock or other securities delivered on
conversion will be deemed to have become the holders of record thereof as of the Change of Control Conversion Date.
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In connection with the exercise of any Change of Control Conversion Right, we will comply with all federal and state securities laws and stock
exchange rules in connection with any conversion of Series A Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock or other property.

The Change of Control Conversion Right may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us or discourage a party from acquiring us. See
“Risk Factors—You may not be able to exercise conversion rights upon a Change of Control. If exercisable, the change of control conversion rights
described in this prospectus may not adequately compensate you. These change of control conversion rights may also make it more difficult for a party
to acquire us or discourage a party from acquiring us.”

Except as provided above in connection with a Change of Control, the Series A Preferred Stock is not convertible into, or exchangeable for, any
other securities or property.

Voting Rights

Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock do not have any voting rights, except as set forth below or as otherwise required by law.

On each matter on which holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to vote, each share of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to one
vote. In instances described below where holders of Series A Preferred Stock vote with holders of any other class or series of our preferred stock as a
single class on any matter, the Series A Preferred Stock and the shares of each such other class or series will have one vote for each $25.00 of liquidation
preference (excluding accumulated dividends) represented by their respective shares.

Whenever dividends on any shares of Series A Preferred Stock are in arrears for six or more quarterly dividend periods, whether or not
consecutive, the number of directors constituting our board of directors will be automatically increased by two (if not already increased by two by
reason of the election of directors by the holders of any other class or series of our preferred stock we may issue upon which like voting rights have been
conferred and are exercisable and with which the holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to vote as a class with respect to the election of those
two directors) and the holders of Series A Preferred Stock (voting separately as a class with all other classes or series of preferred stock that we may
issue upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable and which are entitled to vote as a class with the Series A Preferred Stock in
the election of those two directors) will be entitled to vote for the election of those two additional directors (the “preferred stock directors”) at a special
meeting called by us at the request of the holders of record of at least 25% of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock or by the holders of any
other class or series of preferred stock upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable and which are entitled to vote as a class
with the Series A Preferred Stock in the election of those two preferred stock directors (unless the request is received less than 90 days before the date
fixed for the next annual or special meeting of stockholders, in which case, such vote will be held at the earlier of the next annual or special meeting of
stockholders), and at each subsequent annual meeting until all dividends accumulated on the Series A Preferred Stock for all past dividend periods have
been fully paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof set aside for payment. In that case, the right of holders of the Series A Preferred
Stock to elect any directors will cease and, unless there are other classes or series of our preferred stock upon which like voting rights have been
conferred and are exercisable, any directors elected by holders of the Series A Preferred Stock shall immediately resign and the number of directors
constituting the board of directors shall be reduced accordingly. In no event shall the holders of Series A Preferred Stock be entitled under these voting
rights to elect a director that would cause us to fail to satisfy a requirement relating to director independence of any national securities exchange or
quotation system on which any class or series of our capital stock is listed or quoted. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall the total number of
directors elected by holders of the Series A Preferred Stock (voting separately as a class with all other classes or series of preferred stock we may issue
upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable and which are entitled to vote as a class with the Series A Preferred Stock in the
election of such directors) under these voting rights exceed two.
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If a special meeting is not called by us within 30 days after request from the holders of Series A Preferred Stock as described above, then the
holders of record of at least 25% of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock may designate a holder to call the meeting at our expense.

If, at any time when the voting rights conferred upon the Series A Preferred Stock are exercisable, any vacancy in the office of a preferred stock
director shall occur, then such vacancy may be filled only by a written consent of the remaining preferred stock director, or if none remains in office, by
vote of the holders of record of the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock and any other classes or series of preferred stock upon which like voting rights
have been conferred and are exercisable and which are entitled to vote as a class with the Series A Preferred Stock in the election of the preferred stock
directors. Any preferred stock director elected or appointed may be removed only by the affirmative vote of holders of the outstanding Series A
Preferred Stock and any other classes or series of preferred stock upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable and which
classes or series of preferred stock are entitled to vote as a class with the Series A Preferred Stock in the election of the preferred stock directors, such
removal to be effected by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock and
any such other classes or series of preferred stock, and may not be removed by the holders of the common stock.

So long as any shares of Series A Preferred Stock remain outstanding, we will not, without the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of at least
two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock outstanding at the time, given in person or by proxy, either in
writing or at a meeting (voting together as a class with all other series of parity preferred stock that we may issue upon which like voting rights have
been conferred and are exercisable), (a) authorize or create, or increase the authorized or issued amount of, any class or series of capital stock ranking
senior to the Series A Preferred Stock with respect to payment of dividends or the distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up or
reclassify any of our authorized capital stock into such shares, or create, authorize or issue any obligation or security convertible into or evidencing the
right to purchase any such shares; or (b) amend, alter, repeal or replace our certificate of incorporation, including by way of a merger, consolidation or
otherwise in which we may or may not be the surviving entity, so as to materially and adversely affect and deprive holders of Series A Preferred Stock
of any right, preference, privilege or voting power of the Series A Preferred Stock (each, an “Event”); provided, however, with respect to the occurrence
of any Event set forth in (b) above, so long as the Series A Preferred Stock remains outstanding with the terms thereof materially unchanged, taking into
account that, upon an occurrence of an Event, we may not be the surviving entity, the occurrence of any such Event shall not be deemed to materially
and adversely affect such rights, preferences, privileges or voting power of holders of the Series A Preferred Stock; provided, further, that any increase
in the amount of the authorized preferred stock, including the Series A Preferred Stock, or the creation or issuance of any additional Series A Preferred
Stock or other series of preferred stock that we may issue, or any increase in the amount of authorized shares of such series, in each case ranking on a
parity with or junior to the Series A Preferred Stock with respect to payment of dividends or the distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or
winding up, shall not be deemed to materially and adversely affect such rights, preferences, privileges or voting powers; and provided, moreover, that if
an Event set forth in (b) above affects materially and adversely any right, preference, privilege or voting power of the Series A Preferred Stock but not
all of the series of parity preferred stock that we may issue upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable, the vote or consent
that is required will be the vote or consent of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock and all such
other similarly affected series, outstanding at the time (voting together as a class).

The foregoing voting provisions will not apply if, at or prior to the time when the act with respect to which such vote would otherwise be required
shall be effected, all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall have been redeemed or called for redemption upon proper notice and sufficient
funds shall have been deposited in trust to effect such redemption.

Except as expressly stated in the certificate of designation or as may be required by applicable law, the Series A Preferred Stock do not have any
relative, participating, optional or other special voting rights or powers and the consent of the holders thereof shall not be required for the taking of any
corporate action.
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Information Rights

During any period in which we are not subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and any shares of Series A Preferred Stock are
outstanding, we will use our best efforts to (i) transmit by mail (or other permissible means under the Exchange Act) to all holders of Series A Preferred
Stock, as their names and addresses appear on our record books and without cost to such holders, copies of the Annual Reports on Form 10-K and
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q that we would have been required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act if we were
subject thereto (other than any exhibits that would have been required) and (ii) promptly, upon request, supply copies of such reports to any holders or
prospective holders of Series A Preferred Stock. We will use our best effort to mail (or otherwise provide) the information to the holders of the Series A
Preferred Stock within 15 days after the respective dates by which a periodic report on Form 10-K or Form 10-Q, as the case may be, in respect of such
information would have been required to be filed with the SEC, if we were subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, in each case, based on
the dates on which we would be required to file such periodic reports if we were a “non-accelerated filer” within the meaning of the Exchange Act.

No Preemptive Rights

No holders of the Series A Preferred Stock will, as holders of Series A Preferred Stock, have any preemptive rights to purchase or subscribe for
our common stock or any other security.

Change of Control

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may make it difficult and expensive for a third party to pursue a tender offer, change in
control or takeover attempt, which is opposed by management and the board of directors. See “Risk Factors—Provisions in our certificate of
incorporation and Delaware law could discourage a takeover attempt, which may reduce or eliminate the likelihood of a change of control transaction
and, therefore, the ability of our stockholders to sell their shares for a premium.”

Book-Entry Procedures

DTC acts as securities depository for our outstanding common stock and will also act as securities depository for the Series A Preferred Stock
offered hereunder. With respect to the Series A Preferred Stock offered hereunder, we will issue one or more fully registered global securities certificates
in the name of DTC’s nominee, Cede & Co. These certificates will represent the total aggregate number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock. We will
deposit these certificates with DTC or a custodian appointed by DTC. We will not issue certificates to you for the shares of Series A Preferred Stock that
you purchase, unless DTC’s services are discontinued as described below.

Title to book-entry interests in the Series A Preferred Stock will pass by book-entry registration of the transfer within the records of DTC in
accordance with its procedures. Book-entry interests in the securities may be transferred within DTC in accordance with procedures established for these
purposes by DTC. Each person owning a beneficial interest in shares of the Series A Preferred Stock must rely on the procedures of DTC and the
participant through which such person owns its interest to exercise its rights as a holder of the Series A Preferred Stock.

DTC has advised us that it is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve
System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a “clearing agency” registered under the
provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC holds securities that its participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates
the settlement among Direct Participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges in deposited securities through electronic computerized
book-entry changes in Direct Participants’ accounts, thereby
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eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies,
clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as securities brokers and dealers,
including the underwriter, banks and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or
indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). The rules applicable to DTC and its Direct and Indirect Participants are on file with the SEC.

When you purchase shares of Series A Preferred Stock within the DTC system, the purchase must be by or through a Direct Participant. The
Direct Participant will receive a credit for the Series A Preferred Stock on DTC’s records. You will be considered to be the “beneficial owner” of the
Series A Preferred Stock. Your beneficial ownership interest will be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records, but DTC will have no
knowledge of your individual ownership. DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts shares of Series A
Preferred Stock are credited.

You will not receive written confirmation from DTC of your purchase. The Direct or Indirect Participants through whom you purchased the Series
A Preferred Stock should send you written confirmations providing details of your transactions, as well as periodic statements of your holdings. The
Direct and Indirect Participants are responsible for keeping an accurate account of the holdings of their customers like you.

Transfers of ownership interests held through Direct and Indirect Participants will be accomplished by entries on the books of Direct and Indirect
Participants acting on behalf of the beneficial owners.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct
Participants and Indirect Participants to beneficial owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

We understand that, under DTC’s existing practices, in the event that we request any action of the holders, or an owner of a beneficial interest in a
global security, such as you, desires to take any action that a holder is entitled to take under our certificate of incorporation (including the certificate of
designations designating the Series A Preferred Stock), DTC would authorize the Direct Participants holding the relevant shares to take such action, and
those Direct Participants and any Indirect Participants would authorize beneficial owners owning through those Direct and Indirect Participants to take
such action or would otherwise act upon the instructions of beneficial owners owning through them.

Any redemption notices with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock will be sent to Cede & Co. If less than all of the outstanding shares of Series
A Preferred Stock are being redeemed, DTC will reduce each Direct Participant’s holdings of shares of Series A Preferred Stock in accordance with its
procedures.

In those instances where a vote is required, neither DTC nor Cede & Co. itself will consent or vote with respect to the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock. Under its usual procedures, DTC would mail an omnibus proxy to us as soon as possible after the record date. The omnibus proxy assigns
Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants whose accounts the shares of Series A Preferred Stock are credited to on the record
date, which are identified in a listing attached to the omnibus proxy.

Dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock will be made directly to DTC’s nominee (or its successor, if applicable). DTC’s practice is to credit
participants’ accounts on the relevant payment date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records unless DTC has reason to
believe that it will not receive payment on that payment date.

Payments by Direct and Indirect Participants to beneficial owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case
with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name.” These payments will be the responsibility of the
participant and not of DTC, us or any agent of ours.
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DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depositary with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock at any time by giving reasonable
notice to us. Additionally, we may decide to discontinue the book-entry only system of transfers with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock. In that
event, we will print and deliver certificates in fully registered form for the Series A Preferred Stock. If DTC notifies us that it is unwilling to continue as
securities depositary, or it is unable to continue or ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and a successor depositary is not
appointed by us within 90 days after receiving such notice or becoming aware that DTC is no longer so registered, we will issue the Series A Preferred
Stock in definitive form, at our expense, upon registration of transfer of, or in exchange for, such global security.

According to DTC, the foregoing information with respect to DTC has been provided to the financial community for informational purposes only
and is not intended to serve as a representation, warranty or contract modification of any kind.

Global Clearance and Settlement Procedures

Initial settlement for the Series A Preferred Stock will be made in immediately available funds. Secondary market trading among DTC’s
participants will occur in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC’s rules and will be settled in immediately available funds using DTC’s Same-Day
Funds Settlement System.
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following discussion summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax considerations relevant to “U.S. Holders” and “non-U.S. Holders” (each as
defined below) with respect to the acquisition, ownership, disposition and conversion of our Series A Preferred Stock and any common stock received in
respect of our Series A Preferred Stock. This discussion is based upon the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),
Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder and judicial and administrative authority, all as of the date hereof and all of which are subject to change,
possibly with retroactive effect, or are subject to different interpretations. We cannot assure holders that the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, will not
challenge one or more of the tax consequences described in this discussion, and we have not obtained, nor do we intend to obtain a ruling from the IRS
or an opinion of counsel with respect to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of acquiring, owning, disposing of, or converting our Series A
Preferred Stock, or the common stock received upon conversion.

This discussion is limited to holders that will hold our Series A Preferred Stock and common stock received in respect thereof as “capital assets”
(generally, property held for investment). This summary does not address any U.S. federal alternative minimum, estate or gift tax considerations, the
Medicare tax on net investment income or the tax considerations arising under the laws of any foreign, state, local or other jurisdiction or any income
tax treaty. In addition, this discussion does not address all tax considerations that may be important to a particular holder in light of the holder’s
circumstances, or to certain categories of investors that may be subject to special rules, including, but not limited to:
 

 •  banks, insurance companies or other financial institutions;
 

 •  tax-exempt or governmental organizations;
 

 •  qualified foreign pension funds (or any entities all of the interests of which are held by a qualified foreign pension fund);
 

 •  dealers in securities or foreign currencies;
 

 •  traders in securities that use the mark-to-market method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
 

 •  persons subject to the alternative minimum tax;
 

 •  persons whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;
 

 •  “controlled foreign corporations,” “passive foreign investment companies” and corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal
income tax;

 

 •  partnerships or other pass-through entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes and holders of interests therein;
 

 •  persons deemed to sell our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock under the constructive sale provisions;
 

 •  persons that hold our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock through the exercise of employee options or otherwise as compensation or
through a tax-qualified retirement plan;

 

 •  former citizens or long-term residents of the United States;
 

 •  real estate investment trusts or regulated investment companies; and
 

 •  persons that hold our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock as part of a straddle, appreciated financial position, synthetic security,
hedge, conversion transaction or other integrated investment or risk reduction transaction.

If an entity classified for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a partnership or as a “disregarded entity” holds our Series A Preferred Stock or common
stock received in respect thereof, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a
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member of the entity generally will depend upon the status of the members and the activities of the entity. The tax treatment of such an entity, and the
tax treatment of any member of such an entity, is not addressed in this discussion. Any entity that is classified for United States federal income tax
purposes as a partnership or as a “disregarded entity” and that is considering acquiring our Series A Preferred Stock, and any members of such an entity,
should consult their own tax advisors.

THIS DISCUSSION OF MATERIAL US FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS IS NOT INTENDED, AND SHOULD NOT BE
CONSTRUED, TO BE TAX OR LEGAL ADVICE TO ANY PARTICULAR INVESTOR IN OR HOLDER OF THE SERIES A PREFERRED
STOCK. EACH POTENTIAL INVESTOR IS URGED TO CONSULT WITH ITS OWN TAX ADVISER AS TO THE U.S. FEDERAL,
STATE, LOCAL, FOREIGN AND ANY OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE ACQUISITION, OWNERSHIP, DISPOSITION AND
CONVERSION OF OUR SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK AND COMMON STOCK RECEIVED IN RESPECT THEREOF.

U.S. Holders

A “U.S. Holder” is a beneficial owner of our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is or is treated as:
 

 •  a citizen or individual resident of the United States;
 

 •  a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the
United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

 

 •  an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source; or
 

 
•  a trust if (i) a U.S. court can exercise primary supervision over the trust’s administration and one or more United States persons are

authorized to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) certain circumstances apply and the trust has validly elected to be treated as
a United States person.

Distributions on Our Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock

Cash distributions with respect to our Series A Preferred Stock and common stock generally will be characterized as dividend income when paid,
to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. To the extent that the amount of a
distribution with respect to our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits, such distribution
will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to the extent of the U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in such Series A Preferred Stock or common stock,
as the case may be, which reduces such basis dollar-for-dollar, and thereafter as capital gain. Such gain will be long-term capital gain provided that the
U.S. Holder has held such Series A Preferred Stock or common stock, as the case may be, for more than one year as of the time of the distribution. We
do not believe we have accumulated earnings and profits. Additionally, we do not expect to have any current earnings and profits in fiscal 2022 and we
may not have sufficient earnings and profits during future tax years for distributions on our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock to qualify as
dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes. To the extent a distribution (or a portion thereof) on our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock fails
to qualify as a dividend, U.S. corporate holders would be unable to use the dividends-received deduction described below.

Dividends received by individual holders of our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock that meet certain holding period and other
applicable requirements generally will be subject to a reduced rate of U.S. federal income tax if such dividends are treated as “qualified dividend
income” for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The rate reduction does not apply to dividends received to the extent that the individual U.S. Holder
elects to treat the dividends as “investment income,” which may be offset against investment interest expense.

Subject to customary conditions and limitations, distributions treated as dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes generally will be eligible
for the dividends-received deduction in the case of U.S. Holders that are
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corporations. As described above, any distribution (or the portion of any distribution) that exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits will
not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction.

Dividends that exceed certain thresholds in relation to a U.S. Holder’s tax basis in our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock could be
characterized as “extraordinary dividends” under the Code. U.S. Holders that are U.S. corporations that receive an “extraordinary dividend” in respect of
our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock would in certain circumstances be required to reduce their basis in our Series A Preferred Stock or
common stock (but not below zero) by the portion of the dividend that is not taxed because of the dividends received deduction. To the extent the
non-taxed portion of such dividend exceeds the corporate U.S. Holder’s stock basis, such U.S. Holder must treat such excess as gain from the sale or
exchange of our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock for the taxable year in which such dividend is received. Non-corporate U.S. Holders who
receive an “extraordinary dividend” would be required to treat any losses on the sale of Series A Preferred Stock as long-term capital losses to the extent
of dividends received by them that qualify for the reduced rate of tax.

Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition

A U.S. Holder generally will recognize capital gain or loss on a sale, exchange, redemption (except as discussed below) or other taxable
disposition of our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock equal to the difference between the amount realized upon the disposition (not including
any proceeds attributable to declared and unpaid dividends, which will be taxable to U.S. Holders of record that have not previously included such
dividends in income, as described above in “—Distributions on Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock”) and the U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis
in the shares sold or exchanged. Such capital gain or loss generally will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder’s holding period for the
shares sold or exchanged is more than one year. Long-term capital gains of non-corporate U.S. Holders generally are subject to a reduced rate of
taxation. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors to determine the
deductibility of any capital losses.

A payment made in redemption of our Series A Preferred Stock may be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a distribution, rather than
as payment pursuant to a sale or exchange of our Series A Preferred Stock, unless the redemption: (1) is “not essentially equivalent to a dividend” with
respect to a U.S. Holder under Section 302(b)(1) of the Code; (2) is a “substantially disproportionate” redemption with respect to a U.S. Holder under
Section 302(b)(2) of the Code; (3) results in a “complete redemption” of a U.S. Holder’s stock interest in the Company under Section 302(b)(3) of the
Code; or (4) is a redemption of stock held by a non-corporate U.S. Holder which results in a “partial liquidation” of the Company under Section 302(b)
(4) of the Code. In determining whether any of the tests described above has been met, a U.S. Holder must take into account not only shares of our
Series A Preferred Stock and our common stock that the U.S. Holder actually owns, but also shares that the U.S. Holder constructively owns within the
meaning of Section 318 of the Code.

Each U.S. Holder of our Series A Preferred Stock is urged to consult its own tax advisors to determine whether a payment made in redemption of
our Series A Preferred Stock will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a distribution or as payment in exchange for such Series A Preferred
Stock. If the redemption payment is treated as a distribution, the rules discussed above in “—Distributions on Series A Preferred Stock and Common
Stock” will apply, and U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the consequences of the redemption, including consequences if we
have no current and accumulated earnings and profits and effects on the adjusted tax basis in the U.S. Holder’s remaining Series A Preferred Stock. If
the redemption is treated as occurring pursuant to a sale or exchange of our Series A Preferred Stock, the rules discussed in the first paragraph of this
section, “—Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition,” will apply.

Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock upon a Change of Control

To the extent we have not exercised our election to redeem our Series A Preferred Stock, upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, a U.S.
Holder of our Series A Preferred Stock will have the right to convert
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our Series A Preferred Stock held by such holder on the Change of Control Conversion Date into a number of shares of our common stock. Please see
“Description of Capital Stock—Series A Preferred Stock—Conversion Rights.”

A U.S. Holder generally will not recognize (i.e., take into account for U.S. federal income tax purposes) gain or loss upon the conversion of our
Series A Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock, except to the extent of any cash or common stock received attributable to dividends in
arrears, which will be treated as described above in “—Distributions on Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock.” The adjusted tax basis of
common stock received on conversion (other than shares of common stock attributable to dividends in arrears), generally will equal the adjusted tax
basis of our Series A Preferred Stock converted, and the holding period of such common stock received on conversion generally will include the period
during which the U.S. Holder held its converted Series A Preferred Stock prior to conversion. A U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in any shares of
common stock received attributable to dividends in arrears will equal the fair market value of such common stock on the conversion date, and a U.S.
Holder’s holding period for such shares shall begin on the day after receipt thereof.

In the event of a U.S. Holder’s conversion of Series A Preferred Stock into Alternative Conversion Consideration in connection with a Change of
Control, the tax consequences of such conversion will depend, in part, upon the facts underlying the transaction in which the Change of Control occurs.
A U.S. Holder should consult the holder’s tax advisor regarding the tax consequences to the U.S. Holder of such a Change of Control transaction.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Information returns generally will be filed with the IRS pertaining to distributions we make with respect to our Series A Preferred Stock or our
common stock and the proceeds received from the sale of our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock. Certain U.S. Holders may be subject to
backup withholding on the payment of dividends with respect to our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock and to certain payments of proceeds
on the sale, exchange, redemption or other taxable disposition of our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock unless such U.S. Holders furnish the
applicable withholding agent with a taxpayer identification number, certified under penalties of perjury, and certain other information, or otherwise
establish, in the manner prescribed by law, an exemption from backup withholding. Penalties apply for failure to furnish correct information and failure
to include reportable payments in income.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules generally will be allowed as a refund or
credit against a U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability, provided the required information is properly furnished to the IRS on a timely basis. U.S.
Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of the backup withholding rules to their particular circumstances and the
availability of, and procedure for, obtaining an exemption from backup withholding.

Under sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code and the Treasury regulations thereunder, U.S. Holders that hold their Series A Preferred Stock or
our common stock through foreign accounts or intermediaries will be subject to United States withholding tax at a rate of 30 percent on dividends paid,
if certain disclosure requirements related to United States accounts of a foreign financial institution or intermediary are not satisfied. While such
withholding would have applied also to payments of gross proceeds from the sale or other disposition on or after January 1, 2019 of our Series A
Preferred Stock or our common stock, proposed Treasury regulations eliminate such withholding on payments of gross proceeds entirely. Taxpayers
generally may rely on these proposed Treasury regulations until final Treasury Regulations are issued.

Non-U.S. Holders

The discussion in this section is addressed to holders of our Series A Preferred Stock and common stock received in respect thereof that are
non-U.S. Holders. You are a non-U.S. Holder if you are a beneficial owner of
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Series A Preferred Stock or common stock that is an individual, corporation, estate or trust that is not a U.S. Holder.

Distributions on Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock

In general, distributions with respect to our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax at a 30%
rate, unless such rate is reduced by an applicable income tax treaty. To the extent that the amount of a distribution with respect to our Series A Preferred
Stock or common stock exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits, such distribution will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to
the extent of the non-U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in such Series A Preferred Stock or common stock, as the case may be, which reduces such basis
dollar-for-dollar, and thereafter as gain from the sale or exchange of our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock, the tax treatment of which is
discussed below in “—Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition.” To receive the benefit of a reduced treaty rate, a non-U.S. Holder
must provide the applicable withholding agent with an IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E (or other applicable or successor form) certifying
qualification for the reduced rate. Distributions treated as dividends that are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United
States and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, are attributable to a permanent establishment in the United States, are not subject to the
withholding tax, but instead are subject to U.S. federal income tax on a net income basis at applicable individual or corporate rates. Non-U.S. Holders
will be required to comply with certain certification requirements (generally by providing an IRS Form W-8ECI) in order for effectively connected
income to be exempt from withholding tax. A non-U.S. Holder that is a corporation may also be subject to a “branch profits tax” at a 30% rate (or such
lower rate as may be specified by an applicable tax treaty) of its “effectively connected earnings and profits,” subject to certain adjustments.

Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition

Subject to the discussions below regarding redemptions treated as dividends and backup withholding, any gain realized by a non-U.S. Holder
upon a sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock generally will not be subject to U.S. federal
income or withholding tax unless:
 

 •  the gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. Holder’s conduct of a trade or business in the United States and, if required by an
applicable tax treaty, is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by you in the United States;

 

 •  the non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of disposition and certain
conditions are met; or

 

 •  we are or have been a United States real property holding corporation (“USRPHC”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

A non-U.S. Holder whose gain is described in the first bullet point above will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the net gain derived from
the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition in the same manner as a U.S. Holder, unless an applicable income tax treaty provides otherwise. If such
non-U.S. Holder is a foreign corporation, it may also be subject to a branch profits tax at a 30% rate (or such lower rate as specified by an applicable
income tax treaty) on its effectively connected earnings and profits (as adjusted for certain items), which will include such effectively connected gain. A
non-U.S. Holder described in the second bullet point above will be subject to a 30% U.S. federal income tax (or lower applicable treaty rate) on the gain
derived from the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition, which may be offset by certain U.S.-source capital losses.

Generally, a corporation is a USRPHC if the fair market value of its U.S. real property interests equals or exceeds 50% of the sum of the fair
market value of its worldwide real property interests and its other assets used or held for use in a trade or business. We believe that we currently are not
(and do not expect to become) a USRPHC for U.S. federal income tax purposes. However, even if we are or were to become a USRPHC, gain on
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the sale of stock of a USRPHC that is “regularly traded on an established securities market” (within the meaning of the applicable Treasury regulations)
will be subject to U.S. federal income tax only in the case of a non-U.S. Holder that owns (actually or by applying constructive ownership rules) more
than 5% of the total fair market value of that class of stock at any time during the five-year period ending on the date of disposition. If a non-regularly
traded class of stock is convertible into a regularly traded class of stock, gain on the sale of that non-regularly traded stock will be subject to U.S. federal
income tax only if, on any date on which such stock was acquired by the non-U.S. Holder, the non-regularly traded stock acquired by such non-U.S.
Holder (including all previously acquired stock of the same class) had a fair market value greater than 5% of the regularly traded class of the
corporation’s stock into which it is convertible as measured on such date. If we were to become a USRPHC and our Series A Preferred Stock or our
common stock (as applicable) were not considered to be regularly traded on an established securities market, a non-U.S. Holder (regardless of the
percentage of our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock owned) would be treated as disposing of a U.S. real property interest and would be subject
to U.S. federal income tax on a taxable disposition of our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock, and a 15% withholding tax would apply to the
gross proceeds from such disposition.

We believe that our Series A Preferred Stock and our common stock currently are considered to be regularly traded on an established securities
market. Non-U.S. Holders that may own (or be treated as owning) more than 5% of our Series A Preferred Stock or common stock are encouraged to
consult their tax advisors.

A payment made in redemption of our Series A Preferred Stock may be treated as a dividend (which may be treated as described above in “—
Distributions on Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock”), rather than as payment in exchange for our Series A Preferred Stock, in the same
circumstances discussed above in “—U.S. Holders—Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition.” Each non-U.S. Holder is urged to
consult its own tax advisor to determine whether a payment made in redemption of our Series A Preferred Stock will be treated as a dividend or as
payment in exchange for our Series A Preferred Stock.

Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock upon a Change of Control

As described above in “U.S. Holders—Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock upon a Change of Control,” to the extent we have not exercised
our election to redeem our Series A Preferred Stock, upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, a non-U.S. Holder of our Series A Preferred Stock
will have the right to convert our Series A Preferred Stock held by such holder on the Change of Control Conversion Date into a number of shares of our
common stock. Please see “Description of Capital Stock -Series A Preferred Stock—Conversion Rights.”

A non-U.S. Holder generally will not recognize any gain or loss by reason of receiving common stock upon conversion of our Series A Preferred
Stock, except to the extent of common stock received attributable to dividends in arrears, which will be treated as described above in “—Distributions
on Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock.”

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Distributions paid to non-U.S. Holders on shares of our Series A Preferred Stock and our common stock and the amount of tax withheld on such
distributions must be reported annually to the IRS. Copies of the information returns reporting such distributions and any withholding may also be made
available to the tax authorities in the country in which the non-U.S. Holder resides under the provisions of an applicable income tax treaty.

A non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to backup withholding on dividends the holder receives on shares of our Series A Preferred Stock and our
common stock if the holder provides the applicable withholding agent with proper certification (usually on an IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form
W-8BEN-E) of the holder’s status as a non-U.S. person or other exempt status.
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Information reporting and backup withholding generally are not required with respect to the amount of any proceeds from the sale or other
disposition of our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock outside the United States through a foreign office of a foreign broker that does not
have certain specified connections to the United States. Information reporting will apply, however, if a non-U.S. Holder sells shares of our Series A
Preferred Stock or our common stock outside the United States through a U.S. broker or a foreign broker with certain U.S. connections. If a sale or other
disposition is made through a U.S. office of any broker, the broker will be required to report the amount of proceeds paid to the non-U.S. Holder to the
IRS and also backup withhold on that amount unless the non-U.S. Holder provides appropriate certification to the broker (usually on an IRS Form
W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E) of the holder’s status as a non-U.S. person or other exempt status.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules generally will be allowed as a refund or a credit against a non-U.S. Holder’s U.S.
federal income tax liability, if any, provided the required information is properly furnished to the IRS on a timely basis.

Additional Withholding Requirements under FATCA

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, and the Treasury regulations and administrative guidance issued thereunder (“FATCA”), impose a 30%
withholding tax on withholdable payments, including any dividends paid on our Series A Preferred Stock or our common stock if paid to a “foreign
financial institution” or a “non-financial foreign entity” (each as defined in the Code) (including, in some cases, when such foreign financial institution
or non-financial foreign entity is acting as an intermediary), unless (i) in the case of a foreign financial institution, such institution enters into an
agreement with the U.S. government to withhold on certain payments, and to collect and provide to the U.S. tax authorities substantial information
regarding U.S. account holders of such institution (which includes certain equity and debt holders of such institution, as well as certain account holders
that are non-U.S. entities with U.S. owners), (ii) in the case of a non-financial foreign entity, such entity certifies that it does not have any “substantial
United States owners” (as defined in the Code) or provides the applicable withholding agent with a certification (generally on an IRS Form W-8BEN-E)
identifying the direct and indirect substantial United States owners of the entity, or (iii) the foreign financial institution or non-financial foreign entity
otherwise qualifies for an exemption from these rules and provides appropriate documentation (such as an IRS Form W-8BEN-E). While withholdable
payments would have originally included payments of gross proceeds from the sale or other disposition of our Series A Preferred Stock or our common
stock on or after January 1, 2019, proposed Treasury regulations provide that such payments of gross proceeds do not constitute withholdable payments.
Taxpayers may rely generally on these proposed Treasury regulations until they are revoked or final Treasury regulations are issued.

Foreign financial institutions located in jurisdictions that have an intergovernmental agreement with the United States governing these rules may
be subject to different rules. Under certain circumstances, a holder might be eligible for refunds or credits of such taxes.

The rules under FATCA are complex. Holders are encouraged to consult with their own tax advisor regarding the implications of FATCA on an
investment in our Series A Preferred Stock and any common stock received in respect thereof.

INVESTORS CONSIDERING THE ACQUISITION OF OUR SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN
TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX LAWS TO THEIR PARTICULAR
SITUATIONS AND THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF U.S. FEDERAL ESTATE AND GIFT TAX LAWS AND ANY STATE, LOCAL
OR NON-U.S. TAX LAWS AND TAX TREATIES.
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UNDERWRITING

We are offering the Series A Preferred Stock described in this prospectus through Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. as the sole underwriter. Subject to the
terms and conditions of the underwriting agreement, we have agreed to sell to the underwriter, and the underwriter has agreed to purchase from us on a
firm commitment basis, at the public offering price less the underwriting discount set forth below under “—Underwriting Discount,” the Series A
Preferred Stock. We have been advised by the underwriter that it proposes to offer the Series A Preferred Stock directly to the public at the public
offering price set forth below under “—Underwriting Discount.” Any shares sold by the underwriter to securities dealers will be sold at the public
offering price less a selling concession not in excess of $            per share.

The underwriting agreement provides that the underwriter’s obligation to purchase the Series A Preferred Stock is subject to conditions contained in the
underwriting agreement. The underwriter is obligated to purchase and pay for all of the shares offered by this prospectus other than those covered by the
over-allotment option, if any of these shares are purchased.

No action has been taken by us or the underwriter that would permit a public offering of the Series A Preferred Stock included in this offering in any
jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. None of the Series A Preferred Stock included in this offering may be offered or sold, directly or
indirectly, nor may this prospectus or any other offering material or advertisements in connection with the offer and sales of the Series A Preferred Stock
be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations of that
jurisdiction. Persons who receive this prospectus are advised to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to this offering and the
distribution of this prospectus. This prospectus is neither an offer to sell nor a solicitation of any offer to buy shares of Series A Preferred Stock in any
jurisdiction where that would not be permitted or legal.

The underwriter has advised us that it does not intend to confirm sales to any accounts over which it exercises discretionary authority.

Underwriting Discount

The following table summarizes the underwriting discount we will pay to the underwriter.
 

   Per Share    

Total
without

over-
allotment    

Total
with over-
allotment  

Public offering price   $                $                $              
Underwriting discount to be paid to the underwriter by us for the shares             (     % of gross proceeds)       
Proceeds, before expenses, to us(1)   $     $     $   
 
(1) We estimate that our total expenses of this offering, excluding the underwriting discount, will be approximately $450,000.

The underwriter does not have any right of first refusal or any similar rights with respect to the provision of services to us in the future. The underwriter
has performed investment banking services for us in the past, for which it has received customary fees and expenses. In addition, the co-Chief Executive
Officer of the underwriter is the chairman of our board of directors. The underwriter and its affiliates may, from time to time, engage in transactions with
or perform services for us in the ordinary course of its business.

Over-Allotment Option

We have granted to the underwriter an option, exercisable not later than 30 days after the date of this prospectus, to purchase up to shares at the public
offering price, less the underwriting discount, set forth on the cover page of
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this prospectus. The underwriter may exercise the option solely to cover over-allotments, if any, made in connection with this offering. If any additional
shares are purchased pursuant to the over-allotment option, the underwriter will offer these additional shares on the same terms as those on which the
other shares are being offered hereby.

Lock-up Agreements

Our officers and directors have agreed with the underwriter to be subject to a lock-up period of 90 days following the date of this prospectus. This means
that, during the applicable lock-up period, such persons may not offer for sale, contract to sell, sell, distribute, grant any option, right or warrant to
purchase, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, any Series A Preferred Stock or shares of our common stock or any
securities convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, shares of our common stock or Series A Preferred Stock. Certain limited transfers are
permitted during the lock-up period if the transferee agrees to these lock-up restrictions. We have also agreed, in the underwriting agreement, to similar
lock-up restrictions on the issuance and sale of our securities for 90 days following the date of this prospectus, although we will be permitted to issue
equity incentive awards to directors, officers, employees and consultants under our existing plans. The underwriter may, in its sole discretion and
without notice, waive the terms of any of these lock-up agreements.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for the Series A Preferred Stock will be American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.

Stabilization, Short Positions and Penalty Bids

To facilitate the offering, the underwriter may engage in over-allotment, syndicate covering transactions, stabilizing transactions and penalty bids or
purchases for the purpose of pegging, fixing or maintaining the price of the Series A Preferred Stock:
 

 

•  Over-allotment involves sales by the underwriter of shares in excess of the number of shares the underwriter is obligated to purchase from
us in the offering, which creates a syndicate short position. The short position may be either a covered short position or a naked short
position. In a covered short position, the number of shares over-allotted by the underwriter is not greater than the number of shares that it
may purchase in the over-allotment option. In a naked short position, the number of shares involved is greater than the number of shares in
the over-allotment option. The underwriter may close out any short position by exercising its over-allotment option, in whole or in part, or
purchasing shares in the open market.

 

 •  Stabilizing transactions permit bids to purchase the underlying security so long as the stabilizing bids do not exceed a specific maximum.
 

 
•  Penalty bids permit the underwriter to reclaim a selling concession from a syndicate member or other broker-dealer participating in the

offering when the securities originally sold by that syndicate member or other broker-dealer are purchased in a stabilizing or syndicate
covering transaction to cover syndicate short positions.

These syndicate covering transactions, stabilizing transactions and penalty bids may have the effect of raising or maintaining the market prices of our
securities or preventing or retarding a decline in the market prices of our securities. As a result, the price of the Series A Preferred Stock may be higher
than the price that might otherwise exist in the open market. These transactions may be effected on the NASDAQ Stock Market, in the over-the-counter
market or on any other trading market and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.
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In connection with this offering, the underwriter also may engage in passive market making transactions in the Series A Preferred Stock on the
NASDAQ Stock Market in accordance with Regulation M during a period before the commencement of offers or sales of Series A Preferred Stock in
this offering and extending through the completion of the distribution. In general, a passive market maker must display its bid at a price not in excess of
the highest independent bid for that security. However, if all independent bids are lowered below the passive market maker’s bid, that bid must then be
lowered when specific purchase limits are exceeded. Passive market making may stabilize the market price of the securities at a level above that which
might otherwise prevail in the open market and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

Neither we nor the underwriter make any representation or prediction as to the direction or magnitude of any effect that the transactions described above
may have on the prices of our securities. In addition, neither we nor the underwriter make any representation that the underwriter will engage in these
transactions or that any transactions, once commenced, will not be discontinued without notice.

Electronic Offer, Sale and Distribution of Shares

A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the web sites maintained by the underwriter, or selling group members, if any, participating
in this offering. The underwriter may agree to allocate a number of shares to selling group members for sale to their online brokerage account holders.
Internet distributions will be allocated by the underwriter and selling group members that will make internet distributions on the same basis as other
allocations.

Indemnification

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriter against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, or to contribute to
payments the underwriter may be required to make with respect to any of these liabilities.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of preferred stock offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for MIND Technology, Inc. by Holland & Knight LLP,
Houston, Texas and Dallas, Texas. Certain legal matters in connection with this offering will be passed upon for the underwriters by Hunton Andrews
Kurth LLP, New York, New York and Houston, Texas.

EXPERTS

The audited consolidated financial statements of MIND Technology, Inc. and its subsidiaries, as of January 31, 2021 and 2020 and for the years
then ended included in this Registration Statement on Form S-1 have been audited by Moss Adams, LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report appearing herein. Such financial statements have been so included in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their
authority as experts in accounting and auditing.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports and other information with the SEC (File No. 001-35770) pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act”).

Our filings are also available to the public through the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

The SEC allows us to “incorporate by reference” information that we file with it, which means that we can disclose important information to you
by referring you to documents previously filed with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this prospectus, and the
information that we later file with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. The following documents that we filed with the
SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act are incorporated herein by reference:
 

 •  Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on April 16, 2021;
 

 •  Our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended April 30, 2021, filed with the SEC on June 3, 2021 and July 31, 2021, filed with
the SEC on September 9, 2021;

 

 •  Our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 16, 2021, August  11, 2021 and October 27, 2021.
 

 •  Our proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on May 28, 2021.

These reports contain important information about us, our financial condition and our results of operations.

All documents subsequently filed pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (excluding any information furnished
pursuant to Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 on any Current Report on Form 8-K) before the termination of the offering under this prospectus shall be deemed to
be incorporated in this prospectus by reference and to be a part hereof from the date of filing of such documents. Any statement contained herein, or in a
document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus
to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any subsequently filed document that also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein,
modifies or supersedes such statement. Any such statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to
constitute a part of this prospectus.

We will furnish without charge to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a prospectus is delivered, upon written or oral request, a
copy of any or all of the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus but not delivered with the prospectus, including exhibits that are
specifically incorporated by reference into such documents. You should direct any requests for documents to the following address:

MIND Technology, Inc.
2002 Timberloch Place, Suite 400

The Woodlands, Texas 77380
Attention: Corporate Secretary

(281) 353-4475

We also maintain a website at https://www.mind-technology.com. However, the information on our website is not part of this prospectus, other than
documents that we file with the SEC that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

 
   July 31, 2021  January 31, 2021 

ASSETS  
Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 2,056  $ 4,611
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $481 and $948 at July 31, 2021 and

January 31, 2021, respectively    5,100   4,747
Inventories, net    11,928   11,453
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    1,190   1,659
Assets held for sale    3,312   4,321

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    23,586   26,791
Property and equipment, net    4,440   4,751
Operating lease right-of-use assets    1,568   1,471
Intangible assets, net    6,455   6,750

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 36,049  $ 39,763
    

 

   

 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
Current liabilities:    
Accounts payable   $ 2,148  $ 1,704
Deferred revenue    459   208
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    2,651   2,912
Income taxes payable    1,002   1,041
Operating lease liabilities - current    567   1,008
Liabilities held for sale    705   963

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    7,532   7,836
Operating lease liabilities - non-current    1,001   463
Notes payable    —     850
Deferred tax liability    198   198

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    8,731   9,347
Stockholders’ equity:    
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 2,000 shares authorized; 1,223 and 1,038 shares issued and outstanding at

July 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021, respectively    27,606   23,104
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 40,000 shares authorized; 15,704 and 15,681 shares issued at July 31,

2021 and January 31, 2021, respectively    157   157
Additional paid-in capital    128,519   128,241
Treasury stock, at cost (1,931 and 1,929 shares at July 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021, respectively)    (16,862)   (16,860) 
Accumulated deficit    (107,780)   (99,870) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (4,322)   (4,356) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    27,318   30,416
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 36,049  $ 39,763
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

 
   

For the Three Months
Ended July 31,   

For the Six Months
Ended July 31,  

   2021   2020   2021   2020  
Revenues:      
Sale of marine technology products   $ 6,807  $ 5,086  $11,001  $ 8,273

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenues    6,807   5,086   11,001   8,273
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Cost of sales:      
Sale of marine technology products    4,583   3,069   8,234   5,772

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total cost of sales    4,583   3,069   8,234   5,772
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Gross profit    2,224   2,017   2,767   2,501
Operating expenses:      
Selling, general and administrative    3,378   2,988   7,195   5,942
Research and development    888   755   1,741   1,165
Impairment of intangible assets    —     —     —     2,531
Depreciation and amortization    557   700   1,223   1,430

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    4,823   4,443   10,159   11,068
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating loss    (2,599)   (2,426)   (7,392)   (8,567) 
Other income:      
Other, net    57   —     1,004   56

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total other income    57   —     1,004   56
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes    (2,542)   (2,426)   (6,388)   (8,511) 
(Provision) benefit for income taxes    (197)   530   (52)   188

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Loss from continuing operations    (2,739)   (1,896)   (6,440)   (8,323) 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes    79   (4,708)   (204)   (4,923) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (2,660)  $ (6,604)  $ (6,644)  $(13,246) 
Preferred stock dividends    (682)   (559)   (1,266)   (1,118) 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders   $ (3,342)  $ (7,163)  $ (7,910)  $(14,364) 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net loss per common share—Basic      
Continuing operations   $ (0.25)  $ (0.20)  $ (0.56)  $ (0.78) 
Discontinued operations   $ 0.01  $ (0.39)  $ (0.01)  $ (0.40) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (0.24)  $ (0.59)  $ (0.57)  $ (1.18) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net loss per common share—Diluted      
Continuing operations   $ (0.25)  $ (0.20)  $ (0.56)  $ (0.78) 
Discontinued operations   $ 0.01  $ (0.39)  $ (0.01)  $ (0.40) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (0.24)  $ (0.59)  $ (0.57)  $ (1.18) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Shares used in computing net loss per common share:  
Basic    13,774   12,182   13,767   12,177

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted    13,774   12,182   13,767   12,177
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 
   

For the Three Months
Ended July 31,   

For the Six Months
Ended July 31,  

       2021          2020      2021   2020  
Net loss attributable to common stockholders   $ (3,342)  $ (7,163)  $(7,910)  $(14,364) 
Changes in cumulative translation adjustment    (23)   82   34   (49) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Comprehensive loss   $ (3,365)  $ (7,081)  $(7,876)  $(14,413) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 
  

For the Six Months Ended
July 31,  

      2021          2020     
Cash flows from operating activities:   

   
 

   
 

Net loss  $ (6,644)  $ (13,246) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:   
PPP loan forgiveness   (850)   —   
Depreciation and amortization   1,226   3,210
Stock-based compensation   236   449
Impairment of intangible assets   —     2,531
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations   —     1,859
(Recovery) provision for doubtful accounts, net of charge offs   (453)   470
Provision for inventory obsolescence   350   234
Gross profit from sale of lease pool equipment   —     (1,326) 
Gross profit from sale of other equipment   (155)   —   
Deferred tax expense   —     263
Changes in:   
Accounts receivable   (140)   4,404
Unbilled revenue   21   (9) 
Inventories   (542)   (675) 
Prepaid expenses and other current and long-term assets   (260)   766
Income taxes receivable and payable   (63)   —   
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities   375   (1,583) 
Deferred revenue   (292)   87

   
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities   (7,191)   (2,566) 
   

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities:   
Purchases of seismic equipment held for lease   —     (110) 
Purchases of property and equipment   (14)   (302) 
Sale of used lease pool equipment   —     2,010
Sale of assets held for sale   484   —   
Sale of a business   761   — 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by investing activities   1,231   1,598
   

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities:   
Purchase of treasury stock   (2)   —   
Net proceeds from preferred stock offering   4,502   —   
Net proceeds from common stock offering   43   —   
Preferred stock dividends   (1,160)   (1,118) 
Proceeds from PPP loans   —   1,607

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities   3,383   489
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   22   (117) 

   
 

   
 

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   (2,555)   (596) 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period   4,611   3,234

   
 

   
 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period  $ 2,056  $ 2,638
   

 

   

 

Supplemental cash flow information:   
Interest paid  $ 18  $ 23
Income taxes paid  $ 147  $ 246

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 
  Common Stock   Preferred Stock           

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss  

   

  Shares   Amount  Shares  Amount   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Treasury
Stock   

Accumulated
Deficit   Total  

Balances, January 31, 2021   15,681  $ 157   1,038  $23,104  $ 128,241  $(16,860)  $ (99,870)  $ (4,356)  $30,416
Net loss   —     —     —     —     —     —     (3,984)   —     (3,984) 
Foreign currency translation   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     57   57
Restricted stock issued   5   —     —     —     11   —     —     —     11
Restricted stock forfeited for taxes   —     —     —     —     —     (2)   —     —     (2) 
Preferred stock offering   —     —     21   503   —     —     —     —     503
Preferred stock dividends   —     —     —     —     —     —     (584)   —     (584) 
Common stock offerings   18   —     —     —     42   —     —     —     42
Stock-based compensation   —     —     —     —     109   —     —     —     109

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances, April 30, 2021   15,704  $ 157   1,059  $23,607  $ 128,403  $(16,862)  $ (104,438)  $ (4,299)  $26,568
Net loss   —     —     —     —     —     —     (2,660)   —     (2,660) 
Foreign currency translation   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     (23)   (23) 
Preferred stock offering   —     —     164   3,999   —     —     —     —     3,999
Common stock offerings   —     —     —     —     1   —     —     —     1
Preferred stock dividends   —     —     —     —     —     —     (682)   —     (682) 
Stock-based compensation   —     —     —     —     115   —     —     —     115

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances, July 31, 2021   15,704  $ 157   1,223  $27,606  $ 128,519  $(16,862)  $ (107,780)  $ (4,322)  $27,318

MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 
  Common Stock   Preferred Stock           

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss  

   

  Shares   Amount  Shares  Amount   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Treasury
Stock   

Accumulated
Deficit   Total  

Balances, January 31, 2020   14,097  $ 141   994  $22,104  $ 123,964  $(16,860)  $ (77,310)  $ (4,387)  $47,652
Net loss   —     —     —     —     —     —     (6,642)   —     (6,642) 
Foreign currency translation   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     (131)   (131) 
Preferred stock dividends   —     —     —     —     —     —     (559)   —     (559) 
Stock-based compensation   —     —     —     —     230   —     —     —     230

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances, April 30, 2020   14,097  $ 141   994  $22,104  $ 124,194  $(16,860)  $ (84,511)  $ (4,518)  $40,550
Net loss   —     —     —     —     —     —     (6,604)   —     (6,604) 
Foreign currency translation   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     82   82
Preferred stock dividends   —     —     —     —     —     —     (559)   —     (559) 
Stock-based compensation   —     —     —     —     219   —     —     —     219

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances, July 31, 2020   14,097  $ 141   994  $22,104  $ 124,413  $(16,860)  $ (91,674)  $ (4,436)  $33,688

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(unaudited)

1. Organization

MIND Technology, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), formerly Mitcham Industries, Inc., a Texas corporation, was incorporated in 1987.
Effective August 3, 2020 the Company effectuated a reincorporation to the state of Delaware. Concurrent with the reincorporation the name of the
Company was changed to MIND Technology, Inc. and the number of shares of common stock and preferred stock authorized for issuance was increased.
See Note 15—“Corporate Restructuring”, to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, Seamap Pte Ltd, MIND Maritime Acoustics, LLC (formerly Seamap USA, LLC), Seamap
(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd and Seamap (UK) Ltd (collectively “Seamap”), and its wholly owned subsidiary, Klein Marine Systems, Inc. (“Klein”), designs,
manufactures and sells a broad range of proprietary products for the seismic, hydrographic and offshore industries with product sales and support
facilities based in Singapore, Malaysia, the United Kingdom and the states of New Hampshire and Texas. Prior to July 31, 2020, the Company, through
its wholly owned Canadian subsidiary, Mitcham Canada, ULC (“MCL”), its wholly owned Hungarian subsidiary, Mitcham Europe Ltd. (“MEL”), and
its branch operations in Colombia, provided full-service equipment leasing, sales and service to the seismic industry worldwide (the “Leasing
Business”). Effective July 31, 2020, the Leasing Business has been classified as held for sale on the financial results reported as discontinued operations
(see Note 3—“Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” for additional details). All intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated in consolidation.

The lingering impacts of the global pandemic and emerging supply chain disruptions have created uncertainty in the global economy which could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position, results of operations and liquidity. In addition, the Company has a history of
operating losses and has had negative cash from operating activities. However, as of July 31, 2021, the Company has no funded debt or obligations
containing financial covenants, working capital of approximately $16.1 million, including cash of approximately $2.1 million, backlog of firm orders of
approximately $11.7 million, the ability, and plans, to reduce costs to maintain positive cash flow, additional equity available to raise further capital, and
lease pool equipment being actively marketed for sale. Based on these factors, management expects the Company to continue to meet its obligations as
they arise over the next twelve months.

2. Basis of Presentation

The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of January 31, 2021 for the Company has been derived from audited consolidated financial statements. The
unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations,
although the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. These condensed consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2021 (“fiscal 2021”). In the opinion of the Company’s management, all adjustments, consisting
only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly the financial position as of July 31, 2021, the results of operations for the three and six
months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020, the cash flows for the six months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020, and the statement of stockholders’ equity for the
three and six months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020, have been included in these condensed consolidated financial statements. The foregoing interim
results are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for the full fiscal year ending January 31, 2022 (“fiscal 2022”).
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We have reclassified certain amounts in prior-period financial statements to conform to the current period’s presentation. On the consolidated balance
sheets, income taxes payable, not related to discontinued operations has been reclassified from “Current liabilities held for sale” to “Current income
taxes payable.”

3. Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

On July 27, 2020, the Board determined to exit the Leasing Business, which comprises essentially all operations of the Equipment Leasing segment. As
a result, the assets, excluding cash, and liabilities of the Leasing Business are considered held for sale and the operations of the business are reported as
discontinued operations as of July 31, 2021 and for all comparative periods presented in these condensed consolidated financial statements. The
Company originally anticipated selling the discontinued operations in multiple transactions, which may involve the sale of legal entities, assets, or a
combination of both, within the twelve months ending July 31, 2021.

The assets reported as held for sale consist of the following:
 

   July 31, 2021   January 31, 2021 
Current assets of discontinued operations:     
Accounts receivable, net    1,151    1,668
Inventories, net    68    352
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    120    150
Seismic equipment lease pool and property and equipment, net    1,973    2,151

    
 

    
 

Total assets of discontinued operations   $ 3,312   $ 4,321
    

 

    

 

The liabilities reported as held for sale consist of the following:
 

   July 31, 2021   January 31, 2021 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations:     
Accounts payable   $ 21   $ 59
Deferred revenue    73    73
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    611    831

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities of discontinued operations    705    963
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The results of operations from discontinued operations for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020, consist of the following:
 
   

For the Three Months
Ended July 31,   

For the Six Months
Ended July 31,  

     2021        2020        2021        2020     
Revenues:      
Revenue from discontinued operations   $ 757  $ 1,230  $ 787  $ 5,418

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Cost of sales:      
Cost of discontinued operations    332   1,642   705   4,126
Operating expenses:      
Selling, general and administrative    378   1,476   720   3,176
Provision for doubtful accounts    (2)   470   (445)   470
Depreciation and amortization    2   41   3   85

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    378   1,987   278   3,731
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss)    47   (2,399)   (196)   (2,439) 
Other income (expenses)    35   72   (4)   75
Loss on disposal (including $2,745 of cumulative translation loss)    —     (1,859)   —     (1,859) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Income (loss) before income taxes    82   (4,186)   (200)   (4,223) 
Provision for income taxes    (3)   (522)   (4)   (700) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss)    79   (4,708)   (204)   (4,923) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The significant operating and investing noncash items and capital expenditures related to discontinued operations are summarized below:
 

   
For the Six Months

Ended July 31,  
   2021    2020  
Depreciation and amortization   $ —    $ 1,771
Gross profit from sale of lease pool equipment   $ —    $(1,324) 
(Recovery) provisions for doubtful accounts   $ (445)   $ 470
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations   $ —    $ 1,859
Sale of used lease pool equipment   $ —    $ 1,988
Sale of assets held for sale   $1,245   $ —  

4. New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2019-12, Income Taxes
(“Topic 740”): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which simplifies the accounting for income taxes by eliminating certain exceptions to the
general principles in Topic 740 and by clarifying and amending existing guidance to improve consistent application. This ASU is effective for the annual
period beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within that annual period. The Company adopted this ASU effective February 1,
2021, and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement, which modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurement by removing, modifying and adding
certain disclosures. This ASU is effective for the annual period beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within that annual period.
The Company adopted this guidance effective February 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s
condensed consolidated financial statements.
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5. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The following table presents revenue from contracts with customers disaggregated by product line and timing of revenue recognition:
 

   
Three Months Ended

July 31,    
Six Months Ended

July 31,  
   2021    2020    2021    2020  
                 

   (in thousands)  
Revenue recognized at a point in time:   
Seamap   $ 5,256   $ 3,881   $ 8,169   $5,870
Klein    1,406    1,004    2,556    2,002

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total revenue recognized at a point in time   $ 6,662   $ 4,885   $10,725   $7,872
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Revenue recognized over time:         
Seamap   $ 145   $ 201   $ 276   $ 401

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total revenue recognized over time    145    201    276    401
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total revenue from contracts with customers   $ 6,807   $ 5,086   $11,001   $8,273
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The revenue from products manufactured and sold by our Seamap and Klein businesses is generally recognized at a point in time, or when the customer
takes possession of the product, based on the terms and conditions stipulated in our contracts with customers. Our Seamap business also provides
Software Maintenance Agreements (“SMA”) to customers who have an active license for software embedded in Seamap products. The revenue from
SMA’s is recognized over time, with the total value of the SMA amortized in equal monthly amounts over the life of the contract, which is typically
twelve months.

The following table presents revenue from contracts with customers disaggregated by geography, based on shipping location of our customers:
 

   
Three Months Ended

July 31,    
Six Months Ended

July 31,  
      2021         2020      2021    2020  
                 

   (in thousands)  
United States   $ 219   $ 686   $ 578   $1,786
Europe    3,520    1,604    6,102    2,980
Middle East & Africa    675    221    689    297
Asia-Pacific    2,188    2,222    2,893    2,499
Canada & Latin America    205    353    739    711

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total revenue from contracts with customers   $ 6,807   $ 5,086   $11,001   $8,273
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

As of July 31, 2021, and January 31, 2021, contract assets and liabilities consisted of the following:
 

   July 31, 2021   January 31, 2021 
         

   (in thousands)  
Contract Assets:   
Unbilled revenue—current   $ 106   $ 85

    
 

    
 

Total unbilled revenue   $ 106   $ 85
    

 

    

 

Contract Liabilities:     
Deferred revenue & customer deposits—current   $ 399   $ 691

    
 

    
 

Total deferred revenue & customer deposits   $ 399   $ 691
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Considering the products manufactured and sold by our Seamap and Klein businesses and the Company’s standard contract terms and conditions, we
expect our contract assets and liabilities to turn over, on average, within a period of three to nine months.

Pursuant to our accounting policies and procedures related to revenue from contracts with customers, sales and transaction-based taxes are excluded
from revenue. Also, we do not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected duration of one year or
less. Additionally, we expense costs incurred to obtain contracts when incurred because the amortization period would have been one year or less. These
costs are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses.

6. Balance Sheet—Continuing Operations
 

   
As of

July 31, 2021   
As of

January 31, 2021 
         

   (in thousands)  
Accounts receivable   $ 5,581   $ 5,695
Less allowance for doubtful accounts    (481)    (948) 

    
 

    
 

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 5,100   $ 4,747
    

 

    

 

 
   July 31, 2021   January 31, 2021 
         

   (in thousands)  
Inventories:     
Raw materials   $ 7,468   $ 6,905
Finished goods    3,455    3,466
Work in progress    2,404    2,445

    
 

    
 

   13,327    12,816
Less allowance for obsolescence    (1,399)    (1,363) 

    
 

    
 

Total inventories, net   $ 11,928   $ 11,453
    

 

    

 

 
   July 31, 2021   January 31, 2021 
         

   (in thousands)  
Property and equipment:     
Marine seismic service equipment   $ 4,157   $ 5,969
Land and buildings    4,422    4,354
Furniture and fixtures    9,899    9,750
Autos and trucks    491    491

    
 

    
 

   18,969    20,564
Accumulated depreciation and amortization    (14,529)    (15,813) 

    
 

    
 

Total property and equipment, net   $ 4,440   $ 4,751
    

 

    

 

As of January 31, 2021, the Company completed an annual review of long-lived assets noting that the undiscounted future cash flows exceeded their
carrying value and no impairment was recorded. Since January 31, 2021, there have been no significant changes to the market, economic or legal
environment in which the Company operates that would indicate additional impairment analysis is necessary as of July 31, 2021.
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7. Leases

The Company has certain non-cancelable operating lease agreements for office, production and warehouse space in Texas, Hungary, Singapore,
Malaysia, Colombia, United Kingdom and Canada. We negotiated the termination of our Colombia lease obligation during the current period.

Lease expense for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021 was approximately $291,000 and $600,000, respectively, and was recorded as a
component of operating loss. Included in these costs was short-term lease expense of approximately $10,000 and $10,000, respectively, for the three and
six months ended July 31, 2021.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of July 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):
 

Lease   July 31, 2021   January 31, 2021 
Assets     
Operating lease assets   $ 1,568   $ 1,471
 

Liabilities     
Operating lease liabilities   $ 1,568   $ 1,471
 

Classification of lease liabilities     
Current liabilities   $ 567   $ 1,008
Non-current liabilities    1,001    463

    
 

    
 

Total Operating lease liabilities   $ 1,568   $ 1,471
    

 

    

 

Lease-term and discount rate details as of July 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021 were as follows:
 

Lease term and discount rate   July 31, 2021  January 31, 2021 
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)    
Operating leases    1.26   1.09 
Weighted average discount rate:    
Operating leases    9.36%   10% 

The incremental borrowing rate was calculated using the Company’s weighted average cost of capital.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows (in thousands):
 
Lease   

Six Months Ended
July 31, 2021   

Six Months Ended
July 31, 2020  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:    
Operating cash flows from operating leases   $ (600)  $ (514) 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:    
Operating leases   $ 600  $ 514
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Maturities of lease liabilities at July 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):
 

   July 31, 2021 
2022   $ 567
2023    667
2024    346
2025    134
2026    24
Thereafter    —   

    
 

Total payments under lease agreements   $ 1,738
Less: imputed interest    (170) 
Total lease liabilities   $ 1,568

    

 

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
 

  

Weighted
Average
Life at

7/31/2021 

 July 31, 2021   January 31, 2021  

 

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization  

Accumulated
Impairment   

Net
Carrying
Amount   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization  Impairment  

Net
Carrying
Amount  

Goodwill   $ 7,060  $ —   $ (7,060)  $ —   $ 7,060  $ —   $ (7,060)  $ —  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Proprietary rights   6.4  $ 8,220  $ (3,920)  $ —   $ 4,300  $ 7,781  $ (3,688)  $ —   $ 4,093
Customer relationships   0.4   5,024   (4,748)   —     276   5,024   (4,513)   —     511
Patents   3.1   2,440   (1,653)   —     787   2,440   (1,528)   —     912
Trade name   4.8   894   (80)   (760)   54   894   (74)   (760)   60
Developed technology   4.4   1,430   (798)   —     632   1,430   (727)   —     703
Other   2.8   684   (278)   —     406   684   (213)   —     471

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Amortizable intangible assets   $ 18,692  $ (11,477)  $ (760)  $ 6,455  $ 18,253  $ (10,743)  $ (760)  $ 6,750
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

As of January 31, 2021, the Company has recorded impairment expense equal to 100% of the gross carrying amount of goodwill. As a result, no further
review of goodwill is required. On January 31, 2021, the Company completed an annual review of amortizable intangible assets. Based on a review of
qualitative factors it was determined it was more likely than not that the fair market value of intangible assets was greater than its carrying value. During
the six months ended July 31, 2021, there have been no substantive indicators of impairment.

Aggregate amortization expense was $618,000 and $794,000 for the six months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of July 31, 2021, future
estimated amortization expense related to amortizable intangible assets was estimated to be (in thousands):
 

For fiscal years ending January 31   
2022   $ 588
2023    1,167
2024    1,032
2025    837
2026    700
Thereafter    2,131

    
 

Total   $6,455
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9. Notes Payable

On May 5, 2020, the Company, and its wholly owned subsidiary, Klein (collectively, the “Borrowers”), were granted loans (the “Loans”) from Bank of
America, N.A. in the aggregate amount of approximately $1.6 million, pursuant to the Small Business Association’s Paycheck Protection Program (the
“PPP”), a component of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act which was enacted on March 27, 2020.

The Loans, in the form of promissory notes (the “Notes”) dated May 1, 2020 issued by the Borrowers, were set to mature on May 1, 2022 and bore
interest at a rate of 1% per annum, payable monthly commencing on November 1, 2020. The Notes stipulated various restrictions customary with this
type of transaction including representations, warranties, and covenants, in addition to events of default, breaches of representation and warranties or
other provisions of the Notes. In the event of default, the Borrowers would have become obligated to repay all amounts outstanding under the Notes.
The Borrowers were permitted to prepay the Notes at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties.

Under the terms of the PPP, funds from the Loans could only be used for payroll costs, rent, utilities and interest on other debt obligations incurred prior
to February 15, 2020. In addition, certain amounts of the Loans could be forgiven if the funds were used to pay qualifying expenses.

In January 2021, the Loan granted to the Company in the amount of approximately $757,000 was forgiven resulting in other income of that amount. In
February 2021, the Loan granted to Klein in the amount of approximately $850,000 was also forgiven, resulting in other income of that amount. As of
July 31, 2021, the Company had no outstanding balance under the Loans.

10. Income Taxes

For the six months ended July 31, 2021, the income tax expense from continuing operations was approximately $52,000 on a pre-tax net loss from
continuing operations of $6.4 million. For the six months ended July 31, 2020, the benefit for income taxes from continuing operations was
approximately $188,000 on a pre-tax net loss from continuing operations of $8.5 million. The variance between our actual provision and the expected
provision based on the U.S. statutory rate is due primarily to recording valuation allowances against the increase in our deferred tax assets in the
respective periods, permanent differences between book income and taxable income, and the effect of foreign withholding taxes.

The Company files U.S. federal and state income tax returns as well as separate returns for its foreign subsidiaries within their local jurisdictions. The
Company’s U.S. federal tax returns are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service for fiscal years ended January 31, 2018 through 2021.
The Company’s tax returns may also be subject to examination by state and local tax authorities for fiscal years ended January 31, 2016 through 2021.
In addition, the Company’s tax returns filed in foreign jurisdictions are generally subject to examination for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2016
through 2021.

The Company has determined that the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries are not deemed to be indefinitely reinvested outside of the United
States as of July 31, 2021. Furthermore, the Company has concluded that any deferred taxes with respect to the undistributed foreign earnings would be
immaterial. Therefore, the Company has not recorded a deferred tax liability associated with the undistributed foreign earnings as of July 31, 2021.

For the six months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not recognize any tax expense or benefit related to uncertain tax positions.

11. Earnings per Share

Net income per basic common share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, excluding
unvested restricted stock. Net income per diluted common share is
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computed using the weighted average number of common shares and dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the treasury
stock method. Potential common shares result from the assumed exercise of outstanding common stock options having a dilutive effect and from the
assumed vesting of unvested shares of restricted stock.

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted weighted average common shares used in the earnings per share calculation:
 

   
Three Months Ended

July 31,    
Six Months Ended

July 31,  
   2021    2020    2021    2020  
                 

   (in thousands)    (in thousands)  
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding    13,774    12,182    13,767    12,177
Stock options    79    3    58    1
Unvested restricted stock    29    10    18    5

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total weighted average common share equivalents    108    13    76    6
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding    13,882    12,195    13,843    12,183
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

For the three and six months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020, potentially dilutive common shares underlying stock options and unvested restricted stock
were anti-dilutive and were therefore not considered in calculating diluted loss per share for those periods.

12. Related Party Transaction

On October 7, 2016, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. (the “Agent”). On December 18,
2019, the Company and Agent entered into an Amended and Restated equity distribution agreement (the “1st Equity Distribution Agreement”). Pursuant
to the 1st Equity Distribution Agreement, the Company may sell up to 500,000 shares of 9.00% Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1.00
per share (the “Preferred Stock”), through an at-the-market offering program (the “1st ATM Offering Program”) administered by the Agent. The
Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President of the Agent is the Non-Executive Chairman of our Board. Under the 1st Equity Distribution Agreement,
the Agent was entitled to compensation of up to 2.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of Preferred Stock under the 1st ATM Offering Program. As of
January 31, 2020, we had issued 994,046 shares of Series A Preferred for which the Agent was entitled to compensation, including 100% of the
Preferred Stock available for sale through the 1st Equity Distribution Agreement.

In September 2020 we entered into a new equity distribution agreement (the “2nd Equity Distribution Agreement”) with the Agent with economic terms
essentially identical to the initial agreement. Pursuant to the 2nd Equity Distribution Agreement, the Company may sell up to 500,000 shares of
Preferred Stock and 5,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value common stock (“Common Stock”) through a new at-the-market offering program (the “2nd
ATM Offering Program”).

During the three- and six-month periods ended July 31, 2021, the Company sold 163,780 and 184,740 shares of Preferred Stock under the 2nd ATM
Offering Program, respectively. Net proceeds from these sales for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021, were approximately $4.0 million and
$4.5 million, respectively, and the Agent received compensation of approximately $82,000 and 92,000, respectively. The Non-Executive Chairman of
the Board received no portion of this compensation.

During the three- and six-month periods ended July 31, 2021, the Company sold 362 and 18,415 shares of Common Stock under the 2nd ATM Offering
Program, respectively. Net proceeds from these sales for the three
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and six months ended July 31, 2021, were approximately $1,000 and $43,000. Compensation to the Agent during this period was approximately $1,000,
none of which was received by the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board.

13. Equity and Stock-Based Compensation

During the three months ended July 31, 2021, the Board declared quarterly dividends of $0.5625 per share for our Preferred Stock. As of July 31, 2021,
there are 1,223,000 shares of Preferred Stock outstanding with an aggregate liquidation preference of approximately $30.6 million. Total compensation
expense recognized for stock-based awards granted under the Company’s equity incentive plan during the three and six months ended July 31, 2021 was
approximately $115,000 and $224,000, respectively, and during the three and six months ended July 31, 2020 was approximately $219,000 and
$449,000, respectively.

14. Segment Reporting

With the designation of the Equipment Leasing segment as discontinued operations as of July 31, 2020, the Company operates in one segment, Marine
Technology Products. As a result, no segment reporting is required. The Marine Technology Products business is engaged in the design, manufacture
and sale of state-of-the-art seismic and offshore telemetry systems. Manufacturing, support and sales facilities are maintained in the United Kingdom,
Singapore, Malaysia and the states of New Hampshire and Texas.

15. Corporate Restructuring

On August 3, 2020, the Company, formerly Mitcham Industries, Inc., completed the reincorporation from the State of Texas to the State of Delaware,
including a name change to MIND Technology, Inc. The change in legal domicile and company name were approved by the affirmative vote of the
holders of more than two-thirds of the votes of the Company’s Common Stock and Preferred Stock, voting separately, at the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on July 27, 2020. As part of the reincorporation merger, the stockholders approved an increase in the number of authorized shares of
capital stock from 21,000,000 shares to 42,000,000 shares, consisting of (i) 40,000,000 shares of Common Stock (up from 20,000,000 shares), and (ii)
2,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock (up from 1,000,000 shares).

Pursuant to the terms of the reincorporation merger, each outstanding share of Common Stock and each share of Preferred Stock of Mitcham Industries,
Inc., the Texas corporation, automatically converted into one share of Common Stock and one share of Series A Preferred Stock, respectively, of MIND
Technology, Inc., the Delaware corporation. Stockholders who hold physical stock certificates are not required to, but may, exchange stock certificates
as a result of the reincorporation. The Company’s Common Stock and Preferred Stock continued to trade on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under
their ticker symbols, “MIND” and “MINDP”, respectively. The Company’s Common Stock was assigned a new CUSIP number of 602566 101 and the
Company’s Preferred Stock was assigned a new CUSIP number of 602566 200.

No changes were made to the Board, management, business or operations of the Company as a result of the reincorporation. The Company’s corporate
headquarters remains in Texas.

16. Subsequent Event

Subsequent to July 31,2021, we completed an agreement for the sale of lease pool equipment reported as Assets Held for Sale (see Note 3—“Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” for additional details) in our condensed consolidated financial statements. Under the terms of the agreement
the Company will receive total proceeds of approximately $4.5 million, with approximately $2.5 million paid at closing and the balance of
approximately $2.0 million paid before the end of fiscal 2022.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
MIND Technology, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MIND Technology, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of January 31, 2021 and
2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the
related notes and schedule (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of January 31, 2021 and 2020, and the consolidated results
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company
is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to
obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does
not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters
below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts reflects management’s estimate of the
amounts that will not be collected, based on the age of the receivable,
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payment history of the customer, general industry conditions, general financial condition of the customer, and any financial or operational leverage the
Company may have in a particular situation. The evaluation of these factors requires that management make significant judgments regarding these
factors, which may significantly impact the estimated reserve. The allowance for doubtful accounts for continuing operations was $948,345 and for
discontinued operations was $827,940 as of January 31, 2021.

We identified the allowance for doubtful accounts as a critical audit matter as auditing management’s determination of qualitative factors, including
probability and range of loss, involved a high degree of auditor judgment given the highly subjective nature of management’s judgement.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:
 

 •  Obtaining an understanding and evaluating the design of controls over the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts review process.
 

 •  Obtaining an understanding of management’s process and methodology used to develop the estimate of allowance for doubtful accounts.
 

 •  Evaluating the reasonableness of qualitative factor judgments assessed by management and their correlation to potential losses.
 

 •  Evaluating collections subsequent to the balance sheet date in assessing the reasonableness of management’s estimate.
 

 •  Performing a retrospective review of the allowance comparing current year write-offs and reserves to amounts estimated in the prior year.

Inventory Reserves—Seamap

The Company’s inventories totaled $11,453,000 net of inventory reserves of $1,363,000, as of January 31, 2021. Included in these amounts related to
Seamap were $9,034,700, net of inventory reserves of $1,150,602. As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company
assesses the value of all inventories including raw materials, work-in-process, and finished goods in each reporting period. Obsolete inventory is written
down to its estimated market value if those amounts are determined to be less than cost.

Auditing management’s estimates for obsolete and excess inventory involved subjective auditor judgement because the estimates rely on a number of
factors that are affected by market and economic conditions outside the Company’s control.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:
 

 •  Evaluating the significant assumptions and the accuracy and completeness of the underlying data management used to value obsolete
inventory.

 

 •  Performing inquiries of the Company’s management and obtaining documentation to evaluate the Company’s estimate.
 

 •  Performing procedures to compare recent sales transactions or market data to cost of inventories to assess that the carrying value of
inventories was the lower of cost or net realizable value.

Liquidity and Going Concern

As described in note 4, the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for
the foreseeable future and, accordingly, will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations. The Company has
a history of losses and has had negative cash flows from operating activities in the last two years. The Company may not have access to sources of
capital that were available in prior periods. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic and the decline in oil prices
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during fiscal 2021 caused a disruption to the Company’s business and delays in some orders. Currently management’s forecasts and related assumptions
support their assertion that they have the ability to meet their obligations as they become due through the management of expenditures and, if necessary,
accessing additional funding from the at-the-market program or other equity financing. Should there be constraints on the ability to access capital under
the at-the-market program or other equity financing, the Company has asserted that it can manage cash outflows to meet the obligations through
reductions in capital expenditures and other operating expenditures.

Management made judgments to conclude that it is probable that the Company’s plans will be effectively implemented and will provide the necessary
cash flows to fund the Company’s obligations as they become due. Specifically, the judgments with the highest degree of impact and subjectivity in
determining that it is probable that the Company’s plans will be effectively implemented included the revenue growth and gross margin assumptions
underlying its forecast of operating cash flows, its ability to reduce other operating expenditures if required, its ability to access funding from the
at-the-market program or other equity financing, and its ability to sell its remaining leasepool equipment and collect on its outstanding notes receivable
balances. This required a high degree of auditor subjectivity and judgment to evaluate the audit evidence supporting management’s liquidity and going
concern conclusions.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:
 

 •  Evaluating the probability that the Company will be able to access funding from the at-the-market program by assessing the terms of the
program and the Company’s history of using the program.

 

 •  Evaluating the probability that the Company will be able to sell its remaining leasepool equipment.
 

 •  Evaluating the probability that the Company will be able to collect the remaining amounts due from outstanding notes receivable.
 

 •  Assessing management’s plans in the context of other audit evidence obtained during the audit to determine whether it supported or
contradicted the conclusion reached by management.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

Houston, Texas
April 16, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data)
 
   January 31,  
   2021   2020  

ASSETS    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 4,611  $ 3,090
Restricted cash    —     144
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $948 and $2,378 at January 31, 2021 and 2020,

respectively    4,747   6,623
Inventories, net    11,453   12,656
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    1,659   1,987
Assets held for sale    4,321   14,913

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    26,791   39,413
Property and equipment, net    4,751   5,419
Operating lease right-of-use assets    1,471   2,300
Intangible assets, net    6,750   8,136
Goodwill    —     2,531
Other assets    —     429

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 39,763  $ 58,228
    

 

   

 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 1,704  $ 1,767
Deferred revenue    208   731
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    2,912   1,565
Income taxes payable    562   316
Operating lease liabilities—current    1,008   1,339
Liabilities held for sale    1,442   2,730

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    7,836   8,448
Operating lease liabilities—non-current    463   961
Notes payable    850   —   
Other non-current liabilities    —     967
Deferred tax liability    198   200

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    9,347   10,576
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 10,17, and 21)    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 2,000 shares authorized; 1,038 and 994 shares issued and outstanding at
January 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively    23,104   22,104

Common stock $0.01 par value; 40,000 shares authorized; 15,681 and 14,049 shares issued at January 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively    157   141

Additional paid-in capital    128,241   123,964
Treasury stock, at cost (1,929 shares at January 31, 2021 and 2020)    (16,860)   (16,860) 
Accumulated deficit    (99,870)   (77,310) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (4,356)   (4,387) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    30,416   47,652
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 39,763  $ 58,228
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)
 
   Year Ended January 31,  
        2021            2020      
Revenues:    

Sale of marine technology products   $ 21,215  $ 29,919
    

 
   

 

Total revenues    21,215   29,919
    

 
   

 

Cost of sales:    
Sale of marine technology products    13,906   16,965

    
 

   
 

Total cost of sales    13,906   16,965
    

 
   

 

Gross profit    7,309   12,954
    

 
   

 

Operating expenses:    
Selling, general and administrative    12,648   14,140
Research and development    3,003   1,850
Provision for doubtful accounts    659   —   
Impairment of intangible assets    2,531   760
Depreciation and amortization    2,796   2,494

    
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    21,637   19,244
    

 
   

 

Operating loss    (14,328)   (6,290) 
Other income:    

Other income, net    862   100
    

 
   

 

Total other income    862   100
    

 
   

 

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes    (13,466)   (6,190) 
Provision for income taxes    (536)   (353) 
Loss from continuing operations    (14,002)   (6,543) 
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes    (6,304)   (4,744) 

    
 

   
 

Net loss   $(20,306)  $ (11,287) 
Preferred stock dividends    (2,254)   (2,050) 

    
 

   
 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders   $(22,560)  $(13,337) 
    

 

   

 

Net loss per common share—Basic    
Continuing operations   $ (1.30)  $ (0.71) 
Discontinued operations   $ (0.50)  $ (0.39) 

    
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (1.80)  $ (1.10) 
    

 

   

 

Net loss per common share—Diluted    
Continuing operations   $ (1.30)  $ (0.71) 
Discontinued operations   $ (0.50)  $ (0.39) 

    
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (1.80)  $ (1.10) 
    

 

   

 

Shares used in computing loss per common share:    
Basic    12,519   12,143
Diluted    12,519   12,143

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)
 
   Year Ended January 31,  
        2021            2020      
Net loss attributable to common stockholders   $(22,560)  $(13,337) 
Other changes in cumulative translation adjustment    31   (343) 

    
 

   
 

Comprehensive loss   $(22,529)  $(13,680) 
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)
 
  Year Ended January 31, 2020 and 2021  
  Common Stock   Preferred Stock        

 

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)  

   

  Shares   Amount  Shares   Amount   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Treasury
Stock   Total  

Balances, January 31, 2019   14,049   140   830   18,330   123,085   (16,860)   (63,973)   (4,044)   56,678
Net loss   —     —       —     —     (11,287)   —     (11,287) 
Foreign currency translation   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     (343)   (343) 
Equity compensation   9   1   —     —     25   —     —     —     26
Restricted stock issued   39   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —   
Restricted stock forfeited for taxes   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —   
Preferred stock offering   —     —     164   3,774   —     —     —     —     3,774
Preferred stock dividends   —     —     —     —     —     —     (2,050)   —     (2,050) 
Stock-based compensation   —     —     —     —     854   —     —     —     854

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances, January 31, 2020   14,097  $ 141   994   22,104  $123,964  $(16,860)  $ (77,310)  $ (4,387)  $ 47,652
Net loss   —     —     —     —     —     —     (20,306)   —     (20,306) 
Foreign currency translation   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     31   31
Equity Compensation   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —   
Restricted stock issued   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —   
Preferred stock offering   —     —     44   1,000   —     —     —     —     1,000
Preferred stock dividends   —     —     —     —     —     —     (2,254)   —     (2,254) 
Common stock offerings   1,584   16   —     —     3,569   —     —     —     3,585
Purchase of common stock   —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —     —   
Stock-based compensation   —     —     —     —     708   —     —     —     708

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances, January 31, 2021   15,681  $ 157   1,038  $23,104  $128,241  $(16,860)  $ (99,870)  $ (4,356)  $ 30,416
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
 
   Year Ended January 31,  
        2021            2020      
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net loss   $(20,306)  $ (11,287) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:    
PPP loan forgiveness    (757)   —   
Depreciation and amortization    4,627   7,768
Stock-based compensation    708   854
Impairment of intangible assets    2,531   760
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations    1,859   —   
Provision for doubtful accounts, net of charge offs    1,129   2,000
Provision for inventory obsolescence    321   298
Gross profit from sale of lease pool equipment    (1,326)   (1,197) 
Gross profit from sale of other equipment    (357)   —   
Deferred tax expense    32   503
Non-current prepaid tax    —     50

Changes in:    
Accounts receivable    4,632   (1,723) 
Unbilled revenue    72   (327) 
Inventories    1,178   (2,810) 
Income taxes receivable and payable    767   —   
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities    (2,510)   (178) 
Prepaid expenses and other current and long-term assets    581   (506) 
Deferred revenue    459   (335) 
Foreign exchange losses net of gains    —     313

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (6,360)   (5,817) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Purchases of seismic equipment held for lease    (110)   (2,955) 
Purchase of technology    (366)   —   
Purchases of property and equipment    (90)   (1,036) 
Sale of used lease pool equipment    2,010   1,664
Sale of assets held for sale    1,506   —   
Sale of business, net of cash sold    257   239

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    3,207   (2,088) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Net proceeds from preferred stock offering    1,000   3,773
Net proceeds from common stock offering    3,584   —   
Preferred stock dividends    (1,677)   (2,050) 
Proceeds from PPP loans    1,607   —   
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    —     26

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    4,514   1,749
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash    16   (159) 

    
 

   
 

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash    1,377   (6,315) 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period    3,234   9,549

    
 

   
 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period   $ 4,611  $ 3,234
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MIND Technology, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization—MIND Technology, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), formerly Mitcham Industries, Inc., a Texas corporation, was
incorporated in 1987. Effective August 3, 2020 the Company effectuated a reincorporation to the state of Delaware. Concurrent with the reincorporation
the name of the Company was changed to MIND Technology, Inc. and the number of shares of common stock and preferred stock authorized for
issuance was increased. See Note 20 – Corporate Restructuring.

The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, Seamap Pte Ltd, MIND Maritime Acoustics, LLC (formerly Seamap USA, LLC), Seamap
(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd and Seamap (UK) Ltd, collectively “Seamap”, and its wholly owned subsidiary, Klein Marine Systems, Inc. (“Klein”), designs,
manufactures and sells a broad range of proprietary products for the seismic, hydrographic and offshore industries with product sales and support
facilities based in Singapore, Malaysia, the United Kingdom and the states of New Hampshire and Texas. Prior to July 31, 2020, the Company, through
its wholly owned Canadian subsidiary, Mitcham Canada, ULC (“MCL”), its wholly owned Hungarian subsidiary, Mitcham Europe Ltd. (“MEL”), and
its branch operations in Colombia, provided full-service equipment leasing, sales and service to the seismic industry worldwide. Effective July 31, 2020,
the Leasing Business has been classified as held for sale on the financial results reported as discontinued operations (see Note 2 – “Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations” for additional details). All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. During
February 2019, the Company completed the sale of its wholly owned Australian subsidiary, Seismic Asia Pacific Pty Ltd. (“SAP”) (see Note 23 - “Sale
of Subsidiary” for additional details related to this transaction).

Revenue Recognition of Marine Technology Product Sales—Revenues and cost of sales from the sale of marine technology products are
recognized upon acceptance of terms and completion of our performance obligations, which is typically when delivery has occurred, barring any
question as to collectability.

Revenue Recognition of Long-term Projects—From time to time the Company enters into contracts whereby certain marine equipment is
assembled or manufactured and sold, primarily to governmental entities. Performance under these contracts generally occurs over a period of three to
twelve months. Revenue and costs related to these contracts are recognized “over time”, as each separately identified performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue Recognition of Service Agreements—In some cases the Company provides on-going support services pursuant to contracts that generally
have a term of 12 months. The Company recognizes revenue from these contracts ratably over the term of the contract. The Company may also provide
support services on a time and material basis. Revenue from these arrangements is recognized as the services are provided. For certain new systems, the
Company provides support services for up to 12 months at no additional charge. Any amounts attributable to these support obligations are immaterial.
Revenues from service contracts for fiscal years ended 2021 and 2020 were not material and as a result are not presented separately in the financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition of Leasing Arrangements—The Company leases various types of seismic equipment to seismic data acquisition companies.
All leases at January 31, 2021 and 2020 are for one year or less. Lease revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the lease. The Company does not
enter into leases with embedded maintenance obligations. The standard lease provides that the lessee is responsible for maintenance and repairs to the
equipment, excluding normal wear and tear. The Company occasionally provides technical advice to its customers without additional compensation as
part of its customer service practices. Repairs or maintenance performed by the Company is charged to the lessee, generally on a time and materials
basis. Repair and maintenance revenues are recognized as incurred. Effective July 31, 2020, the Leasing Business has been classified as held for sale on
the financial results reported as discontinued operations (see Note 2—“Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” for additional details).
 

F-25



Table of Contents

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts—Trade receivables are uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms. The carrying
amount of trade receivables and contracts receivable is reduced by a valuation allowance that reflects management’s estimate of the amounts that will
not be collected, based on the age of the receivable, payment history of the customer, general industry conditions, general financial condition of the
customer and any financial or operational leverage the Company may have in a particular situation. Amounts are written-off when collection is deemed
unlikely. Past due amounts are determined based on contractual terms. The Company generally does not charge interest on past due accounts.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of
purchase to be cash equivalents.

Short-term Investments—The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity greater than three months, but less than
twelve months, to be short-term investments.

Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. An allowance for obsolescence is maintained to reduce the carrying value of
any materials or parts that may become obsolete. Inventories are periodically monitored to ensure that the allowance for obsolescence covers any
obsolete items.

Property and Equipment—Property and equipment is carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed on the straight-
line method over the related estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives of equipment range from three to seven years. Buildings are depreciated
over 30 years and property improvements are amortized over 10 years or the shorter of their useful life. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
shorter of the realized estimated useful life or the life of the respective leases. No salvage value is assigned to property and equipment.

Intangible Assets—Intangible assets are carried at cost, net of accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed on the straight-line method
(for customer relationships, the straight-line method is not materially different from other methods that estimate run off of the underlying customer base)
over the estimated life of the asset. Proprietary rights, developed technology and amortizable tradenames are amortized over a 10 to 15-year period.
Customer relationships are amortized over an eight-year period. Patents are amortized over an eight to ten-year period.

Impairment—The Company reviews its long-lived assets, including its amortizable intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. In reviewing for impairment, the carrying value of such assets is compared to
the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition. If such cash flows are not sufficient to
support the asset’s recorded value, an impairment charge is recognized to reduce the carrying value of the long-lived asset to its estimated fair value. The
determination of future cash flows as well as the estimated fair value of long-lived assets involves significant estimates on the part of management. The
Company performs an impairment test on goodwill and indefinite lived assets on an annual basis. The Company performs a qualitative review to
determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting units is greater their carrying value. If the Company is unable to conclude
qualitatively that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value exceeds its carrying value, then the Company performs a quantitative
assessment of fair value of the reporting unit. The quantitative reviews involve significant estimates on the part of management.

Product Warranties—Seamap provide its customers warranties against defects in materials and workmanship generally for a period of three
months after delivery of the product. Klein also provides its customers with similar warranties against defects in material and workmanship for an
approximate twelve months period subsequent to delivery of the product. The Company maintains an accrual for potential warranty costs based on
historical warranty claims. For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020, warranty expense was not material.
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Income Taxes—The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method, whereby the Company recognizes deferred tax assets and
liabilities which represent differences between the financial and income tax reporting basis of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on temporary differences between income and expenses reported for financial reporting and tax reporting. The Company has
assessed, using all available positive and negative evidence, the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income.

The weight given to the potential effect of positive and negative evidence is commensurate with the extent to which it can be objectively verified.
The preponderance of negative or positive evidence supports a conclusion regarding the need for a valuation allowance for some portion, or all, of the
deferred tax asset. The more significant types of evidence considered include the following:
 

 •  projected taxable income in future years;
 

 •  our history of taxable income within a particular jurisdiction;
 

 •  any history of deferred tax assets expiring prior realization;
 

 •  whether the carry forward period is so brief that it would limit realization of tax benefits;
 

 •  other limitations on the utilization of tax benefits;
 

 •  future sales and operating cost projections that will produce more than enough taxable income to realize the deferred tax asset based on
existing sales prices and cost structures;

 

 •  our earnings history exclusive of the loss that created the future deductible amount coupled with evidence indicating that the loss is an
aberration rather than a continuing condition; and

 

 •  tax planning strategies that will create additional taxable income.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
these consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, the allowance for doubtful accounts, lease
pool valuations, valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, the evaluation of uncertain tax positions, estimated depreciable lives of fixed assets and
intangible assets, impairment of fixed assets and intangible assets, valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations and the
valuation of stock options. Future events and their effects cannot be perceived with certainty. Accordingly, these accounting estimates require the
exercise of judgment. The accounting estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements will change as new events occur, as
more experience is acquired, as additional information is obtained and as the Company’s operating environment changes. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

Substantial judgment is necessary in the determination of the appropriate levels for the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts because of the
extended payment terms the Company offers to its customers on occasion and the limited financial wherewithal of certain of these customers. As a
result, the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts could change in the future, and such change could be material to the financial statements taken as
a whole. The Company must also make substantial judgments regarding the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets and with respect to quantitative
analysis prepared in conjunction with impairment analysis related to goodwill and other intangible assets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments—The Company’s financial instruments consist of accounts and contracts receivable and accounts payable.
 

F-27



Table of Contents

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued guidance on the definition of fair value, the framework for using fair value to
measure assets hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. These tiers include:
 

 
•  Level 1: Defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date.

Active markets are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing
information on an ongoing basis.

 

 

•  Level 2: Defined as pricing inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 includes those financial instruments that are valued using models or other valuation
methodologies. These models are primarily industry standard models that consider various assumptions, including quoted forward prices
for commodities, time value, volatility factors and current and contractual prices for the underlying instruments, as well as other relevant
economic measures.

 

 •  Level 3: Defined as pricing inputs that are unobservable form objective sources. These inputs may be used with internally developed
methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of fair value.

The Company measures the fair values of goodwill, intangibles and other long-lived assets on a recurring basis if required by impairment tests
applicable to these assets. The Company utilized Level 3 inputs to value intangibles and other long-lived assets as of January 31, 2021. See Notes 10 and
11 to our consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency Translation—All balance sheet accounts of the Canadian resident subsidiary for fiscal 2021 and 2020, and for the United
Kingdom resident subsidiaries for fiscal 2020, have been translated at the current exchange rate as of the end of the accounting period. Statements of
operations items have been translated at average currency exchange rates. The resulting translation adjustment is recorded as a separate component of
comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity.

Stock-Based Compensation—Stock-based compensation expense is recorded based on the grant date fair value of share-based awards. Restricted
stock awards are valued at the closing price on the date of grant. Determining the grant date fair value for options requires management to make
estimates regarding the variables used in the calculation of the grant date fair value. Those variables are the future volatility of our common stock price,
the length of time an optionee will hold their options until exercising them (the “expected term”), and the number of options that will be forfeited before
they are exercised (the “forfeiture rate”). We utilize various mathematical models in calculating the variables. Share-based compensation expense could
be different if we used different models to calculate the variables.

Earnings Per Share—Net income (loss) per basic common share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Net income (loss) per diluted common share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares and potential
common shares outstanding during the period. Potential common shares result from the assumed exercise of outstanding common stock options having a
dilutive effect using the treasury stock method, from unvested shares of restricted stock using the treasury stock method and from outstanding common
stock warrants. For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020, the following table sets forth the number of potentially dilutive shares that may be
issued pursuant to options, restricted stock and warrants outstanding used in the per share calculations.
 

   
Year Ended
January 31,  

   2021    2020  
         

   (in thousands)  
Stock options    48    79
Restricted stock    17    3

    
 

    
 

Total dilutive shares    65    82
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For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, potentially dilutive common shares, underlying stock options and unvested
restricted stock were anti-dilutive and were therefore not considered in calculating diluted loss per share for those periods.

Reclassifications—Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no
effect on the results of operations or comprehensive income.

2. Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

On July 27, 2020, the Board determined to exit the Leasing Business. As a result, the assets, excluding cash, and liabilities of the Leasing Business
are considered held for sale and it’s results of operations are reported as discontinued operations as of January 31, 2021 and for all comparative periods
presented in these condensed consolidated financial statements. The Company anticipates selling the discontinued operations within twelve months from
July 27, 2020 in multiple transactions, which may involve the sale of legal entities or assets.

The assets reported as held for sale consist of the following:
 

   As of January 31,  
   2021    2020  
Current assets of discontinued operations:     

Accounts receivable, net    1,668    5,699
Inventories, net    352    605
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    150    227
Seismic equipment lease pool and property and equipment, net    2,151    8,382

    
 

    
 

Total assets of discontinued operations   $4,321   $ 14,913
    

 

    

 

The liabilities reported as held for sale consist of the following:
 

   As of January 31,  
   2021    2020  
Current liabilities of discontinued operations:     

Accounts payable   $ 59   $ 884
Deferred revenue    73    34
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    831    1,886
Income taxes payable    479    (74) 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities of discontinued operations   $1,442   $2,730
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The results of operations from discontinued operations for the twelve months ended January 31, 2021 and 2020, consist of the following:
 

   
Twelve Months Ended

January 31,  
   2021    2020  
Revenues:     

Revenue from discontinued operations   $ 5,747   $12,756
    

 
    

 

Cost of sales:     
Cost of discontinued operations    4,537    9,089

Operating expenses:     
Selling, general and administrative    4,589    5,576
Provision for doubtful accounts    470    2,000
Depreciation and amortization    132    176

    
 

    
 

Total operating expenses    5,191    7,752
    

 
    

 

Operating loss    (3,981)    (4,085) 
Other income (expenses)    201    (134) 
Loss on disposal (including $2,745 of cumulative translation loss)    (1,859)    —   

    
 

    
 

Loss before income taxes    (5,639)    (4,219) 
Provision for income taxes    (665)    (525) 

    
 

    
 

Net loss    (6,304)    (4,744) 
    

 

    

 

The significant operating and investing noncash items and capital expenditures related to discontinued operations are summarized below:
 

   As of January 31,  
   2021    2020  
Depreciation and amortization   $ 1,830   $ 4,818
Gross profit from sale of lease pool equipment   $(1,326)   $(1,145) 
Provisions for doubtful accounts   $ 470   $ 2,000
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations   $ 1,859   $ —  
Sale of used lease pool equipment   $ 2,010   $ 1,415
Sale of assets held for sale   $ 1,506   $ —  
Purchase of seismic equipment held for lease   $ (110)   $(2,955) 

3. New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires organizations that lease assets to recognize on the
balance sheet the assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by those leases. Qualitative and quantitative disclosures are required, and
optional practical expedients may be elected. This ASU is effective for the annual period beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods
within that annual period. Subsequent amendments to the initial guidance have been issued in January 2017, January 2018, and July 2018 within ASU
No. 201703, ASU No. 2018-01, ASU No. 2018-10, and ASU No. 2018-11 regarding qualitative disclosures, optional practical expedients, codification
improvements and an optional transition method to adopt with a cumulative-effect adjustment versus a modified retrospective approach. These updates
do not change the core principle of the guidance under ASU No. 2016-02, but rather provide implementation guidance. The Company adopted the
accounting standard as of February 1, 2019, using the cumulative-effect transition method, which applies the guidance at the beginning of the period of
adoption. The Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted, which, among other things, allowed the Company to carry forward the
historical lease classification. In addition, the Company made the accounting
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policy elections to not recognize lease assets and lease liabilities with an initial term of 12 months or less and to not separate lease and non-lease
components. The impact of adoption on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet was the recognition of a ROU asset of $3.0 million and an operating
lease liability of $3.0 million, primarily for office and shop space leases that are currently off-balance sheet. The adoption did not have a material impact
on its results of operations nor any material impact on its cash flows.

4. Liquidity

The global pandemic has created significant uncertainty in the global economy which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial position, results of operations and liquidity. The time frame for which disruptions related to the pandemic will continue is uncertain
as is the magnitude of any adverse impacts. We were required to temporarily shut-down our facilities in Malaysia and Singapore on March 17, 2020 and
April 7, 2020, respectively. Both locations have now reopened and are operating at essentially full capacity. Our other facilities have been allowed to
operate, although at reduced efficiencies, in some cases some employees have worked remotely. Management believes that any negative impacts will be
temporary, but there can be no assurance of that.

The Company has a history of operating losses and has had negative cash from operating activities.

The above factors create substantial uncertainty regarding the Company’s future financial results and liquidity.

Management has identified the following mitigating factors regarding adequate liquidity and capital resources to meet its obligations.:
 

 •  The Company has no funded debt, excluding the PPP Loan granted to Klein which has been completely forgiven in February 2021, or
other outstanding obligations, outside of normal trade obligations.

 

 •  The Company has no obligations or agreements containing “maintenance type” financial covenants.
 

 •  The Company has working capital of approximately $19.0 million as of January 31, 2021, including cash of approximately $4.6 million.
 

 •  Should revenues be less than projected, the Company believes it is able, and has plans, to reduce costs proportionately in order to maintain
positive cash flow.

 

 •  The majority of the Company’s costs are variable in nature, such as raw materials and personnel related costs. The Company has already
terminated or furloughed certain employees and contractors.

 

 
•  The Company has a backlog of orders of approximately $14.2 million (unaudited) as of January 31, 2021, as compared to approximately

$8.9 million (unaudited) as of January 31, 2020. Production for certain of these orders was in process and included in inventory as of
January 31, 2021, thereby reducing the liquidity needed to complete the orders.

 

 
•  Despite difficulties in world energy markets, the Company has been able to generate cash from the sale of lease pool equipment and

collection of accounts receivable related to its discontinued operations. Management expects to generate additional liquidity from the sale
of lease pool equipment in fiscal 2022.

 

 •  The Company has declared the quarterly dividend on the its Series A Preferred Stock for the quarter ending April 30, 2021, but such
quarterly dividends could be suspended in the future.

 

 

•  Despite the challenging economic environment in the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company was successful expanding its authorized
capital stock (See Note 20 - Corporate Restructuring) and raising approximately $4.6 million in new capital through the sale of common
and preferred stock pursuant to the 2nd ATM offering program. Management expects to be able to raise further capital through the 2nd
ATM offering program should the need arise.
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 •  Based on publicized transactions and discussions with potential funding sources, Management believes that other sources of debt and
equity financing are available should the need arise.

For the factors discussed above, Management expects the Company to continue to meet its obligations as they arise over the next twelve months.

5. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The following table presents revenue from contracts with customers disaggregated by product line and timing of revenue recognition:
 

   
Twelve Months Ended

January 31,  
   2021    2020  
         

   (in thousands)  
Revenue recognized at a point in time:   

Seamap   $ 16,304   $ 21,617
Klein    4,145    7,468
SAP    —      101

    
 

    
 

Total revenue recognized at a point in time   $ 20,449   $ 29,186
    

 

    

 

Revenue recognized over time:     
Seamap   $ 766   $ 733
Klein    —      —   
SAP    —      —   

    
 

    
 

Total revenue recognized over time    766    733
    

 
    

 

Total revenue from contracts with customers   $ 21,215   $ 29,919
    

 

    

 

The revenue from products manufactured and sold by our Seamap and Klein businesses, as well as the revenue from products marketed and sold
by our SAP business, is generally recognized at a point in time, or when the customer takes possession of the product, based on the terms and conditions
stipulated in our contracts with customers. Our Seamap business also provides annual Software Maintenance Agreements (“SMA”) to customers who
have an active license for software imbedded in Seamap products. The revenue from SMA is recognized over time, with the total value of the SMA
amortized in equal monthly amounts over the life of the contract.

The following table presents revenue from contracts with customers disaggregated by geography, based on shipping location of our customers:
 

   
Twelve Months Ended

January 31,  
   2021    2020  
         

   (in thousands)  
Revenue from contracts with customers:   

United States   $ 3,687   $ 3,920
Europe, Russia & CIS    8,512    15,262
Middle East & Africa    1,226    1,576
Asia-Pacific    6,523    5,377
Canada & Latin America    1,267    3,784

    
 

    
 

Total revenue from contracts with customers   $ 21,215   $ 29,919
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As of January 31, 2021, contract assets and liabilities consisted of the following:
 

   
January 31,

2021    
January 31,

2020  
         

   (in thousands)  
Contract Assets:   

Unbilled revenue-current   $ 85   $ 13
Unbilled revenue - non-current    —      —   

    
 

    
 

Total unbilled revenue   $ 85   $ 13
    

 

    

 

Contract Liabilities:     
Deferred revenue & customer deposits—current   $ 691   $ 220
Deferred revenue & customer deposits—non-current    —      12

    
 

    
 

Total deferred revenue & customer deposits   $ 691   $ 232
    

 

    

 

Considering the products manufactured and sold by our Marine Technology Products business and the Company’s standard contract terms and
conditions, we expect our contract assets and liabilities to turn over, on average, within a three to six-month period.

With respect to the disclosures above, sales and transaction-based taxes are excluded from revenue, and we do not disclose the value of unsatisfied
performance obligations for contacts with an original expected duration of one year or less. Also, we expense costs incurred to obtain contracts because
the amortization period would be one year or less. These costs are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses.

6. Supplemental Statements of Cash Flows Information

Supplemental disclosures of cash flows information for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows (in thousands):
 

   Year Ended January 31,  
   2021    2020  
Interest paid   $ 40   $ 63
Income taxes paid, net    336    498
Seismic equipment purchases included in accounts payable at year-end    —      812

7. Inventories

Inventories from continuing operations consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

   As of January 31,  
   2021    2020  
Raw materials   $ 6,905   $ 7,388
Finished goods    3,466    3,758
Work in progress    2,445    2,720

    
 

    
 

Cost of inventories    12,816    13,866
Less allowance for obsolescence    (1,363)    (1,210) 

    
 

    
 

Net inventories   $11,453   $12,656
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8. Accounts Receivables

Accounts receivables from continuing operations consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
   

As of January 31,
2021   

As of January 31,
2020  

   Current  Total   Current   Total  
Accounts receivable   $5,695  $5,695  $ 9,001  $ 9,001
Less allowance for doubtful accounts    (948)   (948)   (2,378)   (2,378) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts   $4,747  $4,747  $ 6,623  $ 6,623
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

9. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment from continuing operations consisted of the following (in thousands)
 

   As of January 31,  
   2021    2020  
Marine seismic service equipment    5,969    8,341
Land and buildings    4,354    4,274
Furniture and fixtures    9,750    9,364
Autos and trucks    491    491

    
 

    
 

Cost of property and equipment    20,564    22,470
Less accumulated depreciation    (15,813)    (17,051) 

    
 

    
 

Net book value of property and equipment   $ 4,751   $ 5,419
    

 

    

 

Location of property and equipment (in thousands):
 

   As of January 31,  
   2021    2020  
United States   $3,133   $3,379
Europe    87    78
Singapore    480    773
Malaysia    1,051    1,189

    
 

    
 

Net book value of property and equipment   $4,751   $5,419
    

 

    

 

10. Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) which was modified by subsequently issued ASUs 2018-01, 2018-10,
2018-11 and 2018-20 (collectively the “New Lease Standard”). The New Lease Standard requires organizations that lease assets (“lessees”) to recognize
the assets and liabilities of the rights and obligations created by leases with terms of more than 12 months. The recognition, measurement and
presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee remains dependent on its classification as a finance or operating lease. The New
Lease Standard also requires additional disclosure of the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases, including qualitative and
quantitative requirements. The New Lease Standard was effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018,
including interim periods within those fiscal years.

In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements (“ASU 2018-11”). ASU 2018-11 provided
additional relief in the comparative reporting requirements for initial adoption of the New Lease Standard. Prior to ASU 2018-11, a modified
retrospective transition was required for financing
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or operating leases existing at or entered after the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. ASU 2018-11
provided an additional transition method allowing entities to initially apply the New Lease Standard at the adoption date and recognize a cumulative-
effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption without adjustment to the financial statements for periods prior to
adoption.

The Company adopted the New Lease Standard effective February 1, 2019. We elected to apply the current period transition approach as
introduced by ASU 2018-11 and we elected to apply the following practical expedients and accounting policy decisions.

We elected a package of transition expedients, which must be elected together, that allowed us to forgo reassessing certain conclusions reached
under ASC 840. All expedients in this package were applied together for all leases that commenced before the effective date, February 1, 2019, of the
adoption of the New Lease Standard. As a result, in transitioning to the New Lease Standard, for existing leases as of February 1, 2019, we continued to
use judgments made under ASC 840 related to embedded leases, lease classification and accounting for initial direct costs. In addition, we have chosen,
as an accounting policy election by class of underlying asset, not to separate non-lease components from the associated lease for all our leased asset
classes, excluding for Real Estate related leases. As a result, for classes of Automobiles, Office Equipment and Manufacturing Equipment, we account
for each separate lease component and the non-lease components associated with that lease as a single lease component.

The Company has certain non-cancelable operating lease agreements for office, production and warehouse space in Texas, Hungary, Singapore,
Malaysia, United Kingdom and Canada.

Adoption of the New Lease Standard did have a material impact on our consolidated balance sheet as we recorded right-of-use assets and the
corresponding lease liabilities related to our operating leases of approximately $3.0 million, each. The Company determined to treat lease costs with an
original maturity of less than one year as short-term lease costs and did not record a right-of-use asset or related lease liability for these leases. The new
standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated statements of operations or our statements of cash flows.

Lease expense for the twelve months ended January 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $828,000 and $1.2 million, respectively, and was
recorded as a component of operating loss. Included in these costs was short-term lease expense of approximately $20,000 and $30,000 for the twelve
months ended January 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of January 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows (in thousands):
 

   As of January 31,  
Lease   2021    2020  
Assets     

Operating lease assets   $1,471   $2,300
Liabilities     

Operating lease liabilities   $1,471   $2,300
Classification of lease liabilities     

Current liabilities   $1,008   $1,339
Non-current liabilities    463    961

    
 

    
 

Total Operating lease liabilities   $1,471   $2,300
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Lease-term and discount rate details as of January 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
 

   As of January 31,  
Lease term and discount rate   2021   2020  
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)    

Operating leases    1.09   1.76 
Weighted average discount rate:    

Operating leases    10%   9.27% 

The incremental borrowing rate was calculated using the Company’s weighted average cost of capital.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases at January 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows (in thousands):
 

   As of January 31,  
Lease   2021    2020  
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:     

Operating cash flows from operating leases   $(1,157)   $(1,182) 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:     

Operating leases   $ —    $ 635

Maturities of lease liabilities at January 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows (in thousands):
 

   As of January 31,  
   2021    2020  
2021   $1,007   $1,338
2022    421    838
2023    110    222
2024    58    98
2025    24    52
Thereafter    —      21

    
 

    
 

Total payments under lease agreements   $1,620   $2,569
Less: imputed interest    (149)    (269) 

Total lease liabilities   $1,471   $2,300
    

 

    

 

Prior to July 31, 2020, the Company leased seismic equipment to customers under operating leases with non-cancelable terms of one year or less.
These leases were generally renewable on a month-to-month basis. All taxes (other than income taxes) and assessments were the contractual
responsibility of the lessee. To the extent that foreign taxes were not paid by the lessee, the relevant foreign taxing authorities might seek to collect such
taxes from the Company. Under the terms of its lease agreements, any amounts paid by the Company to such foreign taxing authorities may be billed
and collected from the lessee. The Company is not aware of any foreign tax obligations as of January 31, 2021 and 2020 that are not reflected in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Company leases its office and warehouse facilities in Canada, Texas, Singapore, United Kingdom, Hungary and Malaysia under operating
leases. Facility lease expense for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $1.2 million and $1.2 million, respectively.
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11. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets from continuing operations consisted of the following:
 
 

 

Weighted
Average
Life at
1/31/20  

 January 31, 2021   January 31, 2020  

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization  Impairment  

Net
Carrying
Amount   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization  Impairment  

Net
Carrying
Amount  

                            

     (in thousands)   (in thousands)  
Goodwill   $ 7,060  $ —   $ (7,060)  $ —   $ 7,060  $ —   $ (4,529)  $ 2,531

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Proprietary rights   7.2  $ 7,781  $ (3,688)   —     4,093  $ 9,247  $ (4,950)   —     4,297
Customer relationships   0.8   5,024   (4,513)   —     511   5,024   (3,831)   —     1,193
Patents   3.6   2,440   (1,528)   —     912   2,440   (1,277)   —     1,163
Trade name   5.3   894   (74)   (760)   60   894   (63)   (760)   71
Developed technology   4.9   1,430   (727)   —     703   1,430   (584)   —     846
Other   3.4   684   (213)   —     471   653   (87)   —     566

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Amortizable intangible assets   $ 18,253  $ (10,743)  $ (760)  $ 6,750  $ 19,688  $ (10,792)  $ (760)  $ 8,136
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

As of January 31, 2021, the Company completed its annual review of intangible assets. Based on a review of qualitative factors it was determined
it was more likely than not that the fair value of our Seamap reporting unit was greater than its carrying value. Based on a review of qualitative and
quantitative factors it was determined it was more likely than not that the fair value of our Klein reporting unit was greater than its carrying
value. Accordingly, we did not record an impairment charge related to intangible assets in the Seamap and Klein reporting units.

Due to the economic impact of the global pandemic, the decline in oil prices during the three months ended April 30, 2020 and a decline in the
market value of the Company’s equity securities, the Company performed a quantitative review of the Seamap reporting unit and concluded that
goodwill had been impaired. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment expense of approximately $2.5 million related to goodwill in the Seamap
reporting unit during the quarter ended April 30, 2020.

As of January 31, 2020, the Company completed its annual review of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets. Based on a review of
qualitative factors it was determined it was more likely than not that the fair value of our Seamap reporting unit was greater than its carrying value.
Based on a review of qualitative and quantitative factors it was determined it was more likely than not that the fair value of our Klein reporting unit was
not greater than its carrying value. Accordingly, we recorded an impairment of approximately $760,000 related to indefinite lived intangible assets in the
Klein reporting unit.

Aggregate amortization expense was $1.8 million, and $1.8 million for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of
January 31, 2021, future estimated amortization expense related to amortizable intangible assets is estimated to be (in thousands):
 

For fiscal year ending January 31:   
2022   $1,266
2023    1,125
2024    989
2025    828
2026    658
Thereafter    1,884

    
 

Total   $6,750
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12. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities from continuing operations consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

   As of January 31,  
   2021    2020  
Contract settlement   $ 968   $ 228
Wages and benefits    577    317
Customer deposits    484    239
Accrued inventory    —      229
Other    883    552

    
 

    
 

Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities   $2,912   $1,565
    

 

    

 

13. Notes Payable

On May 5, 2020, the Company, and its wholly owned subsidiary, Klein (collectively, the “Borrowers”), were granted loans (the “Loans”) from
Bank of America, N.A. in the aggregate amount of approximately $1.6 million, pursuant to the Small Business Association’s Paycheck Protection
Program (the “PPP”), a component of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act which was enacted on March 27, 2020.

The Loans, in the form of promissory notes (the “Notes”) dated May 1, 2020 issued by the Borrowers, mature on May 1, 2022 and bear interest at
a rate of 1% per annum, payable monthly commencing on November 1, 2020. The Notes stipulate various restrictions customary with this type of
transaction including representations, warranties, and covenants, in addition to events of default, breaches of representation and warranties or other
provisions of the Notes. In the event of default, the Borrowers may become obligated to repay all amounts outstanding under the Notes. The Borrowers
may prepay the Notes at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties.

Under the terms of the PPP, funds from the Loans may only be used for payroll costs, rent, utilities and interest on other debt obligations incurred
prior to February 15, 2020. In addition, certain amounts of the Loan may be forgiven if the funds are used to pay qualifying expenses.

In January 2021, the Loan related to the Company in the amount of approximately $757,000 was forgiven resulting in other income of that
amount. In February 2021, the Loan related to Klein in the amount of approximately $850,000 was also forgiven resulting in other income of that
amount.

14. Stockholders’ Equity

The Company has 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized. The preferred stock may be issued in multiple series with various terms, as
authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors. As of January 31, 2021, 1,038,232 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock were outstanding, and
994,046 shares were outstanding as of January 31, 2020. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock are cumulative from the date of original issue and
payable quarterly on or about the last day of January, April, July and October of each year when, as and if, declared by the Company’s board of
directors. Dividends are payable out of amounts legally available therefor at a rate equal to 9.00% per annum per $25.00 of stated liquidation preference
per share, or $2.25 per share of Series A Preferred Stock per year. The Company may redeem, at the Company’s option, the Series A Preferred Stock, in
whole or in part, at a cash redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends to, but not including, the redemption date. If at
any time a change of control occurs, the Company will have the option to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, within 120 days after
the date on which the change of control occurred by paying $25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends to, but not including, the date of
redemption. The Series A Preferred Stock has no stated maturity, is not subject to any
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sinking fund or other mandatory redemption and will remain outstanding indefinitely unless repurchased or redeemed by the Company or converted into
our common stock in connection with a change of control. Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock generally have no voting rights except for limited
voting rights if dividends payable on the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock are in arrears for six or more consecutive or non-consecutive quarterly
dividend periods, or if the Company fails to maintain the listing of the Series A Preferred Stock on a national securities exchange for a period continuing
for more than 180 days.

The Company has 40,000,000 shares of common stock authorized, of which 15,681,000 and 14,049,000 were issued as of January 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively, including 1,929,000 treasury shares.

During the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021, and 2020 there were no shares surrendered in exchange for payment of taxes due upon vesting of
restricted shares.

15. Related Party Transaction

On October 7, 2016, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. (the “Agent”). On
December 18, 2019, the Company and Agent entered into an Amended and Restated equity distribution agreement (the “1st Equity Distribution
Agreement”). Pursuant to the 1st Equity Distribution Agreement, the Company may sell up to 500,000 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock through
the Agent through the 1st ATM offering program. The Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President of the Agent is the Non-Executive Chairman of the
Board. Under the Equity Distribution Agreement, the Agent was entitled to compensation of up to 2.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of Series A
Preferred Stock under the 1st ATM offering program. As of January 31, 2021, we had issued 994,046 shares which represent 100% of the Series A
Preferred Stock available for sale through the 1st Equity Distribution Agreement.

In September 2020 we entered into a new equity distribution agreement (the “2nd Equity Distribution Agreement”) with the Agent with economic
terms essentially identical to the initial agreement. Pursuant to the 2nd Equity Distribution Agreement, the Company may sell up to 500,000 shares of
Preferred Stock and 5,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value common stock (“Common Stock”) through the 2nd ATM offering program.

For the twelve months ended January 31, 2021, the Company issued 44,186 shares of Series A Preferred Stock under the 2nd ATM offering
program. Gross proceeds from these sales were approximately $1.0 million and the Agent received compensation of approximately $20,408, resulting in
net proceeds to the Company of $1.0 million for the twelve months ended January 31, 2021. The Non-Executive Chairman of the Company received no
portion of this compensation.

For the twelve months ended January 31, 2021, the Company issued 1,584,556 shares of Common Stock under the 2nd ATM offering program.
Gross proceeds from these sales were approximately $4.0 million, the Agent received compensation of approximately $79,307 resulting in net proceeds
to the Company, after deducting underwriting discounts and offering costs, of approximately $3.6 million for the twelve months ended January 31, 2021.
The Non-Executive Chairman of the Company received no portion of this compensation.

At January 31, 2021, the Company has an outstanding obligation payable to the beneficiary of the estate of our former CEO. The obligation,
which bears interest at 4% per annum, totals approximately $968,000 and is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of January 31, 2021.
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16. Income Taxes
 
   Year Ended January 31,  
        2021            2020      
        

   (in thousands)  
(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes is attributable to the following jurisdictions:    

Domestic   $ (8,851)  $ (7,550) 
Foreign    (4,615)   1,360

    
 

   
 

Total   $(13,466)  $ (6,190) 
    

 

   

 

The components of income tax expense (benefit) for continuing operations were as follows:    
Current:    

Domestic   $ 22  $ 27
Foreign    515   58

    
 

   
 

   537   85
Deferred:    

Domestic    —     —   
Foreign    (1)   268

    
 

   
 

   (1)   268
    

 
   

 

Income tax expense   $ 536  $ 353
    

 

   

 

The following is a reconciliation of expected to actual income tax expense (benefit) for continuing operations:
 

   Year Ended January 31,  
       2021           2020     
         

   (in thousands)  
Federal income tax at 21%   $ (2,828)   $ (1,300) 
Changes in tax rates    (50)    50
Permanent differences    413    52
Foreign effective tax rate differential    66    (80) 
Foreign withholding taxes, including penalties and interest    29    34
Tax effect of book loss on disposition of subsidiaries    —      79
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets    2,682    1,205
Excess tax deficiency for share-based payments under ASU 2016-09    66    284
Other    158    29

    
 

    
 

  $ 536   $ 353
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The components of the Company’s deferred taxes for continuing operations consisted of the following:
 

   As of January 31,  
   2021    2020  
         

   (in thousands)  
Deferred tax assets:     

Net operating losses   $ 17,177   $ 13,716
Tax credit carry forwards    139    117
Stock option book expense    718    650
Allowance for doubtful accounts    —      229
Inventory    565    525
Accruals not yet deductible for tax purposes    281    357
Fixed assets    232    105
Intangible assets    445    337
Other    599    561

    
 

    
 

Gross deferred tax assets    20,156    16,597
Valuation allowance    (20,156)    (16,597) 

    
 

    
 

Deferred tax assets    —      —   
Deferred tax liabilities:     

Other    (198)    (200) 
    

 
    

 

Deferred tax liabilities    (198)    (200) 
Unrecognized tax benefits    —      —   

    
 

    
 

Total deferred tax (liabilities) assets, net    (198)   $ (200) 
    

 

    

 

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted in response to the global pandemic. The
CARES Act, among other things, permits NOL carryovers and carrybacks to offset 100% of taxable income for taxable years beginning before 2021. In
addition, the CARES Act allows NOLs incurred in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five preceding taxable years to generate a
refund of previously paid income taxes. The Company does not believe the CARES Act will have a material impact on the Company’s future income tax
expense or the related tax assets and liabilities.

The Company has determined that, due to the potential requirement for additional investment and working capital to achieve its objectives, the
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as of January 31, 2021, are not deemed indefinitely reinvested outside of the United States. Furthermore,
the Company has concluded that any deferred taxes with respect to the undistributed foreign earnings would be immaterial, particularly in light of the
one-time repatriation of foreign earnings imposed by the TCJA and recorded in fiscal 2019. Therefore, the Company has not recorded a deferred tax
liability associated with the undistributed foreign earnings as of January 31, 2021.

Included in deferred tax assets is approximately $700,000 related to stock-based compensation, including non-qualified stock options. A
significant number of stock options expired during fiscal 2021 because the market price of the Company’s common stock remained below the exercise
price of these options. Recent market prices for the Company’s common stock remain below the exercise price of a number of options outstanding as of
January 31, 2021. Should the market price of the Company’s common stock remain below the exercise price of the options, these stock options will
expire without exercise. In accordance with the provisions of ASC 718-740-10, a valuation allowance has not been computed based on the decline in
stock price.

As of January 31, 2021, the Company has recorded valuation allowances of approximately $20.2 million related to deferred tax assets for
continuing operations. These deferred tax assets relate primarily to net operating loss carryforwards in the United States and other jurisdictions. The
valuation allowances were determined based
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on management’s judgment as to the likelihood that the deferred tax assets would not be realized. The judgment was based on an evaluation of available
evidence, both positive and negative.

At January 31, 2021, the Company had tax credit carry forwards for continuing operations of approximately $139,000, which amounts can be
carried forward through at least 2026.

As of January 31, 2021, and 2020 the company had no unrecognized tax benefits attributable to uncertain tax positions.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of income tax expense.

The Company files U.S. federal income tax returns as well as separate returns for its foreign subsidiaries within their local jurisdictions. The
Company’s U.S. federal tax returns are subject to examination by the IRS for fiscal years ended January 31, 2017 through 2021. The Company’s tax
returns may also be subject to examination by state and local revenue authorities for fiscal years ended January 31, 2015 through 2021. The Company’s
Singapore income tax returns are subject to examination by the Singapore tax authorities for fiscal years ended January 31, 2015 through 2021. The
Company’s tax returns in other foreign jurisdictions are generally subject to examination for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015 through January 31,
2021.

17. Commitments and Contingencies

During fiscal 2021 we entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”) with a major European defense contractor (the “Co-developer”) for the joint
development and marketing of synthetic aperture sonar (“SAS”) systems. Under the terms of the Agreement, we are obligated to make payments upon
completion of certain developmental milestones related to a license for use of the Co-developer’s underlying technology. Our total potential
commitment, assuming achievement of all milestones contemplated in the Agreement, is approximately $1.6 million, of which approximately $300,000
was paid in January 2021.

Purchase Obligations—At January 31, 2021, the Company had approximately $3.9 million in purchase orders outstanding.

18. Stock Option Plans

At January 31, 2021, the Company had stock-based compensation plans as described in more detail below. The total compensation expense related
to stock-based awards granted under these plans during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $708,000 and $854,000,
respectively. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation costs net of a forfeiture rate for only those awards expected to vest over the requisite
service period of the award. The Company estimates the forfeiture rate based on its historical experience regarding employee terminations and
forfeitures.

The fair value of each option award is estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing formula. Expected volatility
is based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock over a preceding period commensurate with the expected term of the option. The expected term
is based upon historical exercise patterns. The risk-free rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the
time of grant. Expected dividend yield was not considered in the option pricing formula since the Company does not pay dividends and has not paid any
dividends since its incorporation. The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021 and 2020
were $0.70 and $1.77, respectively. The assumptions for the periods indicated are noted in the following table.
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Weighted average Black-Scholes-Merton fair value assumptions
 

   Year Ending January 31,
   2021   2020
Risk free interest rate   0.34% - 0.37%   1.47% - 2.53%
Expected life   3.97 years - 5.97 years   3.98 years - 6.00 years
Expected volatility   53% - 64%   49% - 51%
Expected dividend yield   0.0%   0.0%

Cash flows resulting from tax benefits attributable to tax deductions in excess of the compensation expense recognized for those options (excess
tax benefits) are classified as financing out-flows and operating in-flows. The Company had no excess tax benefits during the fiscal years ended
January 31, 2021 and 2020.

The Company has share-based awards outstanding under, the MIND Technology, Inc. Stock Awards Plan (“the Plan”). Stock options granted and
outstanding under the Plan generally vest evenly over three years and have a 10-year contractual term. The exercise price of a stock option generally is
equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the option grant date. As of January 31, 2021, there were approximately 615,000
shares available for grant under the Plan. The Plan provides for awards of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, restricted stock awards,
restricted stock units and phantom stock. New shares are issued upon vesting for restricted stock and upon exercise for options.

Stock Based Compensation Activity

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021:
 

   

Number of
Shares

(in thousands)  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(in years)    

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(in thousands) 

Outstanding, January 31, 2020    2,440  $ 4.51    7.08   $ 20
Granted    320   1.47     
Exercised    —     —       
Forfeited    (41)   4.63     
Expired    (133)   5.31     

    
 

     

Outstanding, January 31, 2021    2,586  $ 4.09    6.58   $ 223
    

 

     

Exercisable at January 31, 2021    1,778  $ 4.63    5.71   $ —  
Vested and expected to vest at January 31, 2021    2,562  $ 4.12    6.55   $ 213

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company’s closing stock
price on the last trading day of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would
have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on January 31, 2021. This amount changes based upon the
market value of the Company’s common stock. No options were exercised during fiscal year ended January 31, 2021. There was no intrinsic value of the
9,000 options exercised during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2020. The fair value of options that vested during the fiscal years ended January 31,
2021 and 2020 was approximately $950,000 and $650,000, respectively. For the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021, approximately 500,000 options
vested.

As of January 31, 2021, there was approximately $482,228 of total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options granted
under the Company’s share-based compensation plans. That expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.3 years.
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Restricted stock as of January 31, 2021 and changes during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021 were as follows:
 

   Year Ended January 31, 2021  

   

Number of
Shares

(in thousands)   

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value  
Unvested, beginning of period    37   $ 3.98
Granted    15    1.25
Vested    (12)    3.98
Canceled    —      —   

    
 

    
 

Unvested, end of period    40   $ 2.94
    

 

    

 

As of January 31, 2021, there was approximately no unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock awards.

19. Segment Reporting

With the designation of the Equipment Leasing segment as discontinued operations as of July 31, 2020, the Company operates in one segment,
Marine Technology Products. The Marine Technology Products business is engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of state-of-the-art seismic and
offshore telemetry systems. Manufacturing, support and sales facilities are maintained in the United Kingdom, Singapore, Malaysia and the states of
New Hampshire and Texas.

20. Corporate Restructuring

On August 3, 2020, the Company, formerly Mitcham Industries, Inc., completed the reincorporation from the State of Texas to the State of
Delaware, including a name change to MIND Technology, Inc. The change in legal domicile and company name were approved by the affirmative vote
of the holders of more than two-thirds of the votes of the Company’s Common Stock and Preferred Stock, voting separately, at the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on July 27, 2020. As part of the reincorporation merger, the stockholders approved an increase in the number of authorized shares of
capital stock from 21,000,000 shares to 42,000,000 shares, consisting of (i) 40,000,000 shares of Common Stock (up from 20,000,000 shares), and (ii)
2,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock (up from 1,000,000 shares).

Pursuant to the terms of the reincorporation merger, each outstanding share of Common Stock and each share of Preferred Stock of Mitcham
Industries, Inc., the Texas corporation, automatically converted into one share of Common Stock and one share of Series A Preferred Stock, respectively,
of MIND Technology, Inc., the Delaware corporation. Stockholders who hold physical stock certificates are not required to, but may, exchange stock
certificates as a result of the reincorporation. The Company’s Common Stock and Preferred Stock continued to trade on the NASDAQ Global Select
Market under their ticker symbols, “MIND” and “MINDP”, respectively. The Company’s Common Stock was assigned a new CUSIP number of 602566
101 and the Company’s Preferred Stock was assigned a new CUSIP number of 602566 200.

No changes have been made to the Board, management, business or operations of the Company as a result of the reincorporation. The Company’s
corporate headquarters remains in Texas.

21. Concentrations

Credit Risk—As of January 31, 2021, we had three customers that exceeded 10% of consolidated accounts receivable. During our fiscal year
ended 2020, no customer exceeded 10% of consolidated accounts receivable.
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The Company maintains deposits and certificates of deposit with banks which may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”)
insured limit and money market accounts which are not FDIC insured. In addition, deposits aggregating approximately $2.8 million at January 31, 2021
are held in foreign banks. Management believes the risk of loss in connection with these accounts is minimal.

Supplier Concentration—The Company has satisfactory relationships with its suppliers. However, should those relationships deteriorate, the
Company may have difficulty in obtaining new technology requested by its customers and maintaining the existing equipment in accordance with
manufacturers’ specifications.

22. Sales and Major Customers

A summary of the Company’s revenues, from continuing operations, from customers by geographic region, outside the U.S., is as follows (in
thousands):
 

   Year Ended January 31,  
       2021           2020     
UK/Europe   $ 8,005   $ 14,975
Canada    1,267    3,519
Latin America    —      262
Asia/South Pacific    6,523    5,377
Eurasia    507    290
Other    1,226    1,576

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 17,528   $ 25,999
    

 

    

 

During each of the fiscal years ended 2021 and 2020, no individual customer exceeded 10% of total revenue.

23. Sale of Subsidiary

In February 2019, the Company completed the sale of its wholly owned Australian subsidiary, Seismic Asia Pacific Pty Ltd. for total contractual
proceeds of approximately $660,000 U.S. dollars of which the Company received approximately $240,000 in cash at closing and an unsecured,
non-interest bearing two-year note receivable in the amount of $420,000. The agreement also included a working capital adjustment of approximately
$114,000 payable to the Company which was received in August of 2019. In fiscal 2021, the Company received a payment of approximately $124,000
that was applied against the note receivable. The note receivable is recorded in other current assets as of January 31, 2021, and in other non-current
assets as of January 31, 2020.
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SCHEDULE II

MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(in thousands)
 
Col. A   Col. B    Col. C(1)    Col. C(2)  Col. D   Col. E  

Description   

Balance at
Beginning
of Period    

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses    

Charged
to Other
Accounts  

Deductions
Describe   

Balance at End
of Period  

Allowance for doubtful accounts      
January 31, 2021   $ 4,054    1,129    (43)(a)   (3,364)(b) $ 1,776
January 31, 2020   $ 2,113    2,000    —  (a)   (59)(b) $ 4,054

Allowance for obsolete equipment and inventory      
January 31, 2021   $ 1,404    321    1(a)   (66)(c) $ 1,660
January 31, 2020   $ 1,222    298    1(a)   (117)(c) $ 1,404

 
(a) Represents translation differences.
(b) Represents recoveries and uncollectible accounts written off.
(c) Represents sale or scrap of inventory and obsolete equipment.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

The following table sets forth an itemized statement of the amounts of all estimated expenses in connection with the issuance and distribution of
the securities to be registered. With the exception of the SEC registration fee, the amounts set forth below are estimates.
 

SEC registration fee   $ 951 
Accountants’ fees and expenses    30,000 
Legal fees and expenses    200,000 
Printing and engraving expenses    85,000 
Transfer agent and registrar fees    125,000 
FINRA filing fee    2,225 
Miscellaneous    5,350 

    
 

Total   $ 448,526 
    

 

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Section 145 of the DGCL provides that a corporation may indemnify directors and officers as well as other employees and individuals against
expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement in connection with any threatened, pending or completed actions,
suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, in which such person is made a party by reason of the fact that the person is
or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation—a “derivative action”), if such
person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and, with
respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful. A similar standard is applicable in
the case of derivative actions, except that indemnification extends only to expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with the defense or
settlement of such action, and the statute requires court approval before there can be any indemnification where the person seeking indemnification has
been found liable to the corporation. The statute provides that it is not exclusive of other indemnification that may be granted by a corporation’s bylaws,
disinterested director vote, stockholder vote, agreement or otherwise.

Our bylaws provide that no director shall be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages resulting from breaches of their fiduciary duty
to the extent permitted by the DGCL. Our bylaws also contains indemnification rights for our directors and our officers. Specifically, our bylaws provide
that we shall indemnify our officers and directors to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL. Further, we may maintain insurance on behalf of our
officers and directors against expense, liability or loss asserted incurred by them in their capacities as officers and directors.

We maintain liability insurance policies that indemnify our directors and officers and those of our subsidiaries against various liabilities, including
certain liabilities arising under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act that may be incurred by them in their capacity as such.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling us pursuant
to the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the
Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

In the three years preceding the filing of this Registration Statement, the Company has not issued any securities that were not registered under the
Securities Act.
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Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits
 

Exhibit
Number  Document Description  Report or Registration Statement  

SEC File or
Registration

Number   
Exhibit

Reference 

    1.1†*** Form of Underwriting Agreement    

    2.1

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of
August 3, 2020, by and between Mitcham
Industries, Inc. and MIND Technology, Inc.  

Incorporated by reference to MIND
Technology, Inc.’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed with the SEC on August 7, 2020.  

 001-13490 

 

 2.1  

    3.1

 

Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of MIND Technology, Inc.

 

Incorporated by reference to MIND
Technology, Inc.’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed with the SEC on August 7, 2020.  

 001-13490 

 

 3.3  

    3.2

 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of MIND
Technology, Inc.

 

Incorporated by reference to MIND
Technology, Inc.’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed with the SEC on August 7, 2020.  

 001-13490 

 

 3.4  

    3.3

 

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and
Rights of MIND Technology, Inc. 9.00% Series A
Cumulative Preferred Stock  

Incorporated by reference to MIND
Technology, Inc.’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed with the SEC on August 7, 2020.  

 001-13490 

 

 3.5  

    3.4

 

Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of
Designations, Preferences and Rights of MIND
Technology, Inc. 9.00% Series A Cumulative
Preferred Stock  

Incorporated by reference to MIND
Technology, Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on September 25, 2020.

 

 001-13490 

 

 3.1  

    3.5**

 

Second Certificate of Amendment of Certificate
of Designations, Preferences and Rights of MIND
Technology, Inc. 9.00% Series A Cumulative
Preferred Stock  

Filed with MIND Technology, Inc.’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with
the SEC on October 25, 2021.

 

 333-
260486

 

 

 3.5  

    3.6

 

Texas Certificate of Merger, effective as of
August 3, 2020

 

Incorporated by reference to MIND
Technology, Inc.’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed with the SEC on August 7, 2020.  

 001-13490 

 

 3.1  

    3.7

 

Delaware Certificate of Merger, effective as of
August 3, 2020

 

Incorporated by reference to MIND
Technology, Inc.’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed with the SEC on August 7, 2020  

 001-13490 

 

 3.2  
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Exhibit
Number  Document Description  Report or Registration Statement  

SEC File or
Registration

Number  
Exhibit

Reference

    4.1

 

Form of Senior Indenture (including Form of
Senior Note)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Registration Statement on
Form S-3, filed with the SEC on March 18,
2011.  

333-172935

 

4.1

    4.2

 

Form of Subordinated Indenture (including form
of Subordinated Note)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Registration Statement on
Form S-3, filed with the SEC on March 18,
2011.  

333-172935

 

4.2

    4.3

 

Description of Securities

 

Incorporated by reference to MIND Technology,
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with
the SEC on April 16, 2021.  

001-13490

 

4.3

    5.1†  Opinion of Holland & Knight LLP    

  10.1*

 

Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated September 8, 2015, between
Mitcham Industries, Inc. and Billy F. Mitcham,
Jr.  

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Registration Statement on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 14,
2015.  

000-25142

 

10.1

  10.2*

 

Mitcham Industries, Inc. Amended and Restated
Stock Awards Plan

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on May 31,
2013.  

000-25142

 

Appendix A

  10.3*

 

First Amendment to the Mitcham Industries,
Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Awards Plan

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on May 16,
2016.  

000-25142

 

Appendix A

  10.4*

 

Second Amendment to the Mitcham Industries,
Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Awards Plan

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Form S-8 filed with the SEC
on September 5, 2019.  

333-233635

 

4.5

  10.5*

 

Third Amendment to the Mitcham Industries,
Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Awards Plan

 

Incorporated by reference to MIND Technology,
Inc.’s Form S-8 filed with the SEC on
September 9, 2021.  

333-259414

 

10.1

  10.6*

 

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement
under the Mitcham Industries, Inc. Stock
Awards Plan

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 31, 2006, filed with the SEC
on September 12, 2006.  

000-25142

 

10.3
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  10.7*

 

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the
Mitcham Industries, Inc. Stock Awards Plan

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 31, 2006, filed with the SEC
on September 12, 2006.  

000-25142

 

10.4

  10.8*

 

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement
under the Mitcham Industries, Inc. Stock
Awards Plan

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 31, 2006, filed with the SEC
on September 12, 2006.  

000-25142

 

10.5

  10.9*

 

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Stock
Awards Plan)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on September 8, 2004.  

000-25142

 

10.1

  10.10*

 

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement
(Stock Awards Plan)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on September 8, 2004.  

000-25142

 

10.2

  10.11*

 

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement
(Stock Awards Plan)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on September 8, 2004.  

000-25142

 

10.4

  10.12*

 

Form of Phantom Stock Award Agreement
(Stock Awards Plan)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on September 8, 2004.  

000-25142

 

10.5

  10.13*

 

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement
(Stock Awards Plan)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on September 8, 2004.  

000-25142

 

10.6

  10.14*

 

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement
(2000 Stock Option Plan)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on September 8, 2004.  

000-25142

 

10.7

  10.15*

 

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement
(2000 Stock Option Plan)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on September 8, 2004.  

000-25142

 

10.8
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  10.16*

 

Summary of Non-Employee Director
Compensation

 

Incorporated by reference to MIND Technology,
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the
SEC on April 16, 2021.  

001-13490

 

10.14

  10.17

 

Facilities Agreement dated 15  August, 2014
between Seamap Pte Ltd as Company and Mitcham
Industries, Inc. as Guarantor and The HongKong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited as
Lender  

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on August 27, 2014.

 

000-25142

 

10.1

  10.18

 

Security Deed dated 15 August, 2014 between
Seamap Pte Ltd as Chargor and The HongKong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited as
Lender  

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on August 27, 2014.

 

000-25142

 

10.2

  10.19

 

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 11,
2017, by and between Mitcham Industries, Inc. and
Robert P. Capps  

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on September 15, 2017.  

001-13490

 

10.1

  10.20

 

Amended and Restated Equity Distribution
Agreement, dated as of December  18, 2019, by
and between Mitcham Industries, Inc. and
Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc.  

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on December 18, 2019.

 

001-13490

 

1.1

  10.21

 

Employment Agreement between the Company and
Dennis P. Morris, dated April 21, 2020.

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on April 24, 2020.  

001-13490

 

10.1

  10.22

 

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 11,
2017, by and between Mitcham Industries, Inc. and
Guy Malden  

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on September 15, 2017.  

001-13490

 

10.2

  10.23

 

Amendment No. 1 to Guy M. Malden’s
Employment Agreement (dated June 19, 2020)

 

Incorporated by reference to Mitcham Industries,
Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 25,
2020.  

001-13490

 

10.1

  21.1

 

Subsidiaries of MIND Technology, Inc.

 

Incorporated by reference to MIND Technology,
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the
SEC on April 16, 2021.  

001-13490

 

21.1

  23.1†  Consent of Moss Adams LLP    
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  23.2†
 

Consent of Holland & Knight LLP
(included as part of Exhibit 5.1 hereto)    

  24.1**

 

Power of Attorney (included on signature
page of this Registration Statement filed
with the SEC on October 25, 2021)    

101**

 

XBRL Inline Instance Document—the
instance document does not appear in the
Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document.    

101.SCH**
 

XBRL Inline Taxonomy Extension
Schema Document.    

101.CAL**
 

XBRL Inline Taxonomy Extension
Calculation Linkbase Document.    

101.DEF**
 

XBRL Inline Taxonomy Extension
Definition Linkbase Document.    

101.LAB**
 

XBRL Inline Taxonomy Extension Label
Linkbase Document.    

101.PRE**
 

XBRL Inline Taxonomy Extension
Presentation Linkbase Document.    

104**

 

Cover Page Interactive Data File
(formatted as inline XBRL and contained
in Exhibit 101).    

 
† Filed herewith
* Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iii) of Regulation S-K
** Previously filed.
*** Exhibits and schedules omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted exhibit or schedule will be furnished

supplementally to the SEC upon request.

Item 17. Undertakings

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:

(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant’s annual report pursuant to section 13(a)
or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan’s annual report pursuant to
section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new
registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide
offering thereof.
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(2) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of
this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b) (1) or (4) or
497(h) under the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.

(3) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of
prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time
shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of
the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange
Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a
claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or
controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person
in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling
precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the
Securities Act of 1933 and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Houston, State of Texas, on November 4, 2021.
 

MIND Technology, Inc.

By:  /s/ ROBERT P. CAPPS
Name:  Robert P. Capps
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated
on November 4, 2021.
 

Signature   Title

/S/ ROBERT P. CAPPS
ROBERT P. CAPPS   

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

/S/ MARK A. COX
MARK A. COX   

Chief Financial Officer and Vice President Finance and Accounting

*
PETER H. BLUM   

Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors

*
WILLIAM H. HILARIDES   

Director

*
ROBERT J. ALBERS   

Director

*
THOMAS S. GLANVILLE   

Director

*
MARCUS ROWLAND   

Director

Robert P. Capps hereby signs this Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 on behalf of each of the indicated persons for
whom he is attorney-in-fact on November 4, 2021 pursuant to a power of attorney filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
260486) filed with the SEC on October 25, 2021.

* By: /s/ Robert P. Capps
   Robert P. Capps
   Attorney-in-Fact
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Exhibit 1.1

MIND TECHNOLOGY, INC.

[•] Shares of 9.00% Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock

UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT

November [•], 2021

Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc.
640 5th Ave, 4th Floor
New York, NY 10019

Ladies and Gentlemen:

MIND Technology, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), proposes to issue and sell to Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. (the
“Underwriter”), pursuant to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this underwriting agreement (the “Agreement”), an aggregate of [•]
shares (the “Shares”) of its 9.00% Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share (the “Preferred Stock”).

It is understood that, subject to the conditions hereinafter stated, an aggregate of [•] Shares (the “Firm Shares”) will be sold to the Underwriter in
connection with the public offering (the “Offering”) and sale of such Firm Shares. In addition, as set forth below, the Company proposes to issue and
sell to the Underwriter, upon the terms and conditions set forth in Section 3 hereof, an aggregate of up to [•] additional Shares (the “Optional Shares”).
The Firm Shares and the Optional Shares are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the “Securities.”

This is to confirm the agreement concerning the purchase of the Securities from the Company by the Underwriter.

1. Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to, and agrees with, the Underwriter that:

(a) Compliance with Registration Requirements. The Company has prepared and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”) in conformity in all material respects with the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder (the “Rules and Regulations”) a Registration Statement (as defined below) on Form S-1 (File No. 333-260486), which became
effective on November [•], 2021 (the “Effective Date”), including a preliminary prospectus dated November [•], 2021 and filed with the Commission on
November [•], 2021 pursuant to Rule 424 of the Rules and Regulations, to be used in connection with the sale of the Securities (the “Preliminary
Prospectus”). The term “Registration Statement” as used in this Agreement means the Registration Statement (including all exhibits, financial
schedules and all documents and information deemed to be a part of the Registration Statement pursuant to Rule 430A of the Rules and Regulations), as
amended and/or supplemented to the date of this Agreement, including the Prospectus. The Registration Statement has been declared effective by the
Commission under the Securities Act, and no stop order preventing or suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or suspending or
preventing the use of the Prospectus has been issued by the



Commission, and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted or are pending or, to the best knowledge of the Company, are contemplated or
threatened by the Commission. The final prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424 of the Rules and Regulations not later than the
Commission’s close of business on the second Business Day following the execution and delivery of this Agreement is hereafter called the
“Prospectus.” If the Company has filed or does file an abbreviated registration statement to register additional securities pursuant to Rule 462(b) under
the Rules and Regulations (the “Rule 462(b) Registration Statement”), then any reference herein to the Registration Statement from and after the date
and time of filing of the Rule 462(b) Registration Statement shall also be deemed to include such Rule 462(b) Registration Statement. Any reference
herein to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus shall be deemed to refer to and include the documents incorporated by reference therein pursuant
to Item 12 of Form S-1 which were filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), on or before the last to occur of
the Effective Date or the date of the Prospectus, and any reference herein to the terms “amend,” “amendment,” or “supplement” with respect to the
Registration Statement or the Prospectus shall be deemed to refer to and include (i) the filing of any document under the Exchange Act after the
Effective Date or the date of the Prospectus, as the case may be, which is incorporated by reference and (ii) any such document so filed.

The final Preliminary Prospectus included in the Disclosure Package (as defined below) and the Prospectus when filed with the Commission
complied with or will comply, in all material respects with the Securities Act and the Rules and Regulations and, if filed by electronic transmission
pursuant to the Commission’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval (“EDGAR”) system (except as may be permitted by Regulation S-T
under the Securities Act), was identical to the copy thereof delivered to the Underwriter for use in connection with the offer and sale of the Securities.
Each of the Registration Statement, any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement and any post-effective amendment thereto, at the time it became effective,
and at each Closing Date (as defined below), complied and will comply in all material respects with the Securities Act and did not and will not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading. The Prospectus (including any Prospectus wrapper), as amended or supplemented, as of its date and at the date hereof, the Closing Date and
any Option Closing Date (as defined below), did not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The representations and warranties
set forth in the two immediately preceding sentences do not apply to statements in or omissions from the Registration Statement, any Rule 462(b)
Registration Statement, or any post-effective amendment thereto, or the Prospectus, or any amendments or supplements thereto, made in reliance upon
and in conformity with information furnished to the Company in writing by or on behalf of the Underwriter expressly for use therein, it being
understood and agreed that the only such information furnished by or on behalf of the Underwriter consists of the information described as such in
Section 11 hereof. The documents incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, the Preliminary Prospectus and the Prospectus, when they
became effective or were filed with the Commission, as the case may be, conformed in all material respects to the requirements of the Securities Act or
the Exchange Act, as applicable, and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder, and none of such documents contained an untrue statement
of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
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(b) No Other Contracts. There are no contracts or other documents required to be described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure
Package (as defined herein) or Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement which have not been described or filed as required.
Each agreement to which the Company is a party (i) that is referred to in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package or Prospectus or filed as an
exhibit to the Registration Statement, and (ii) is material to the Company’s business (each, a “Material Contract”), has been duly and validly executed
by the Company, is in full force and effect in all material respects and (assuming that such Material Contract constitutes the legal, valid and binding
obligation of the other persons party thereto) is enforceable against the Company, except (A) as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the rights and remedies of creditors generally, (B) as enforceability of indemnification
or contribution provisions may be limited under the federal and state securities laws, and (C) that the remedy of specific performance and injunctive and
other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding may be brought. The
Company has not assigned any of its rights under any Material Contract. The Company is not in breach or default under any Material Contract and, to
the Company’s knowledge, no event has occurred that, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a breach or default by the
Company or any other party under any Material Contract, in any case, which breach or default or event, individually or in the aggregate, would have a
material adverse effect on the business, properties, management, financial position, stockholders’ equity, results of operations or prospects of the
Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole or on the performance by the Company of its obligations under this Agreement (a “Material Adverse
Effect”). The Company is not aware of any other party to a Material Contract being in breach or default thereunder. The Company has no knowledge
that any Material Contract is unenforceable against any other party thereto (except for the limitations on enforceability set forth in clauses (A), (B) and
(C) of this paragraph).

(c) The term “Disclosure Package” means, collectively, (i) the Preliminary Prospectus that is included in the Registration Statement
immediately prior to the Initial Sale Time (as defined below), if any, as amended or supplemented, (ii) any issuer free writing prospectuses as defined in
Rule 433 of the Securities Act (each, an “Issuer Free Writing Prospectus”) identified in Schedule I hereto, and (iii) any other free writing prospectus
that the parties hereto shall hereafter expressly agree in writing to treat as part of the Disclosure Package. As of [•] p.m. (Eastern time) on the date of this
Agreement (the “Initial Sale Time”), the Disclosure Package did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The preceding sentence
does not apply to statements in or omissions from the Disclosure Package based upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the
Company by or on behalf of the Underwriter specifically for use therein, it being understood and agreed that the only such information furnished by the
Underwriter consists of the information described as such in Section 11 hereof.

(d) Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses. Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as of its issue date and at all subsequent times through the
completion of the Offering or until any earlier date that the Company notified or notifies the Underwriter as described in the next sentence, did not, does
not and will not include any information that conflicted, conflicts or will conflict with the information contained in the Registration Statement. If at any
time following issuance of
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an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus there occurred or occurs an event or development as a result of which such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus conflicted
or would conflict with the information then contained in the Registration Statement or as a result of which such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if
republished immediately following such event or development, would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted or would omit to state a
material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, (i) the
Company has promptly notified or will promptly notify the Underwriter and (ii) the Company has promptly amended or will promptly amend or
supplement such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus to eliminate or correct such conflict, untrue statement or omission. This subsection (d) does not apply to
statements in or omissions from any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus based upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company
by or on behalf the Underwriter specifically for use therein, it being understood and agreed that the only such information furnished by the Underwriter
consists of the information described as such in Section 11 hereof.

(e) Delivery of Registration Statement and Prospectus. The Company has delivered to the Underwriter one complete manually signed copy
of the Registration Statement and of each consent and certificate of experts filed as a part thereof, and conformed copies of the Registration Statement
(without exhibits) and preliminary prospectuses and the Prospectus, as amended or supplemented, in such quantities and at such places as the
Underwriter has reasonably requested.

(f) Offering Materials. The Company has not distributed and will not distribute, directly or indirectly, prior to the later of the Option
Closing Date and the completion of the Underwriter’s distribution of the Securities, any offering material in connection with the offering and sale of the
Securities other than any Preliminary Prospectus, the Prospectus, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus reviewed and consented to by the Underwriter or
included in Schedule I hereto, or the Registration Statement.

(g) Listing. Shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock”) and Preferred Stock are registered
pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act and listed for quotation and admitted for trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market (“NASDAQ”).
The Company has not received any notice from NASDAQ regarding the delisting of such shares from NASDAQ (except for such notices as have been
fully resolved), nor has the Company received any written notification that NASDAQ is contemplating terminating such listing. To the Company’s
knowledge, there are no affiliations or associations between (i) any member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) and (ii) the
Company or any of the Company’s officers, directors or 5% or greater security holders or any beneficial owner of the Company’s unregistered equity
securities that were acquired at any time on or after the 180th day immediately preceding the date the Registration Statement was initially filed with the
Commission, except as disclosed in the Registration Statement (excluding the exhibits thereto), the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.
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(h) Financial Statements. The financial statements (including the related notes thereto) of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries
included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus comply in all material respects with the
applicable requirements of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable, and present fairly in all material respects the
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries on the bases stated therein as of the respective
dates or for the respective periods specified; such financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
in the United States applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered thereby, except to the extent disclosed therein, and any supporting
schedules included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement present fairly in all material respects the information required to be stated
therein; and the other financial information included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the
Prospectus has been derived from the accounting records of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries and presents fairly in all material respects the
information shown thereby. The interactive data in eXtensible Business Reporting Language included or incorporated by reference in the Registration
Statement fairly presents the information called for in all material respects and has been prepared in accordance with the Commission’s rules and
guidelines applicable thereto.

(i) No Material Adverse Change. Since the date of the most recent financial statements of the Company included or incorporated by
reference in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, (i) there has not been any change in the capital stock (other than the
issuance of shares of Common Stock upon exercise of stock options and warrants described as outstanding in, and the grant of options and awards under
existing equity incentive plans described in, the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus or the documents incorporated by
reference therein), or any material change in the short-term debt or long-term debt of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any dividend or
distribution of any kind declared, set aside for payment, paid or made by the Company on any class of capital stock, or any material adverse change, or
any development involving a prospective material adverse change, in or affecting the business, properties, management, financial position, stockholders’
equity, results of operations or prospects of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; (ii) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
entered into any transaction or agreement (whether or not in the ordinary course of business) that is material to the Company and its subsidiaries taken
as a whole or incurred any liability or obligation, direct or contingent, that is material to the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; and
(iii) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has sustained any loss or interference with its business that is material to the Company and its
subsidiaries taken as a whole and that is either from fire, explosion, flood or other calamity, whether or not covered by insurance, or from any labor
disturbance or dispute or any action, order or decree of any court or arbitrator or governmental or regulatory authority, except in the case of clauses (i),
(ii) and (iii) as otherwise disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus or the documents incorporated by reference
therein.

(j) Good Standing. The Company and each of its subsidiaries have been duly organized and are validly existing and in good standing (in
the case of foreign subsidiaries, such analogous concept) under the laws of their respective jurisdictions of organization, are duly qualified to do
business and are in good standing (in the case of foreign subsidiaries, such analogous concept) in each jurisdiction in which their respective ownership
or lease of property or the conduct of their respective businesses requires such qualification, and have all power and authority necessary to own or hold
their respective properties and to conduct the businesses in which they are engaged as described in the Prospectus, except where the failure to be so
qualified or in good standing or have such power or authority would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect. As of the date hereof, the subsidiaries listed in Schedule II to this Agreement are the only “significant subsidiaries” (as defined in Rule
405 under the Rules and Regulations) of the Company.
 

5



(k) Company Capitalization. As of the date hereof, the Company has an authorized capitalization as set forth in the Registration Statement,
the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus under the heading “Capitalization;” all the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company have been
duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable and are not subject to any pre-emptive or similar rights; except as described in the
Disclosure Package, the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no outstanding rights (including, without limitation, pre-emptive rights),
warrants or options to acquire, or instruments convertible into or exchangeable for, any shares of capital stock or other equity interest in the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any contract, commitment, agreement, understanding or arrangement of any kind relating to the issuance of any capital stock
of the Company or any such subsidiary, any such convertible or exchangeable securities or any such rights, warrants or options; each of the Common
Stock and Preferred Stock conforms in all material respects to the applicable description thereof contained in the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus;
and all of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each subsidiary owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company have been
duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable (except (a), in the case of any foreign subsidiary, for directors’ qualifying shares
and (b) except as otherwise described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus or the documents incorporated by
reference therein) and are owned directly or indirectly by the Company, free and clear of any lien, charge, encumbrance, security interest, restriction on
voting or transfer or any other claim of any third party (except (a) in the case of any foreign subsidiary, for directors’ qualifying shares and (b) except as
otherwise described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus or the documents incorporated by reference therein).

(l) Corporate Power. The Company has all requisite corporate power to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations
hereunder; and all corporate action required to be taken for the due authorization, execution and delivery by it of this Agreement and the consummation
by it of the transactions contemplated hereby has been duly and validly taken.

(m) Authorization of Agreement. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company.

(n) Authorization of Securities. The Securities to be issued and sold by the Company hereunder have been duly authorized and, when
issued and delivered and paid for as provided herein, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and will conform to the descriptions thereof in
the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus; and the issuance of the Securities is not subject to any preemptive or similar
rights.

(o) Absence of Defaults. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is (i) in violation of its charter or by-laws or similar
organizational documents; (ii) in default, and no event has occurred that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute such a default, in the due
performance or observance of any term, covenant or condition contained in any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan agreement or other agreement or
instrument to which the Company
 

6



or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is bound or to which any of the property or assets of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries is subject; or (iii) in violation of any law or statute or any judgment, order, rule or regulation of any court or arbitrator or
governmental or regulatory authority, except, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) above, for any such default or violation that would not, individually or in
the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(p) Absence of Conflicts. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement, the issuance and sale of the
Securities and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the this Agreement will not (i) conflict with or result in a breach or violation of
any of the terms or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any
property or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan agreement or other material
agreement or instrument to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is bound or to
which any of the property or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is subject, (ii) result in any violation of the provisions of the charter or
by-laws or similar organizational documents of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or (iii) result in the violation of any law or statute or any
judgment, order, rule or regulation of any court or arbitrator or governmental or regulatory authority, except, in the case of clauses (i) and (iii) above, for
any such conflict, breach, violation or default that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(q) Absence of Further Requirements. No consent, approval, authorization, order, license, registration or qualification of or with any court
or arbitrator or governmental or regulatory authority (including, without limitation, NASDAQ) is required for the execution, delivery and performance
by the Company of this Agreement, the issuance and sale of the Securities and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
except for the registration of the Securities under the Securities Act and such consents, approvals, authorizations, orders and registrations or
qualifications as may be required by FINRA and under applicable state securities laws in connection with the purchase and distribution of the Securities
by the Underwriter and any consent, approval, authorization, order, registration or qualification that either has been, or prior to each Closing Date will
have been, obtained or made, or which if not obtained or made, would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(r) Absence of Proceedings. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, there are no
legal, governmental or regulatory investigations, actions, suits or proceedings pending to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is or may be a
party or to which any property of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is or may be the subject that, individually or in the aggregate, if determined
adversely to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; to the knowledge of the Company,
no such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings are threatened or contemplated by any governmental or regulatory authority or threatened by others;
and there are no current or pending legal, governmental or regulatory actions, suits or proceedings that are required under the Securities Act to be
described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus that are not so described in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus.
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(s) Independent Accountants. Moss Adams LLP, (“Moss Adams”) who has certified certain audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries, is, and was during the periods covered by its reports, an independent registered public accounting firm with respect to the Company
and its subsidiaries within the applicable rules and regulations adopted by the Commission and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) and as required by the Securities Act.

(t) Title to Property. The Company and its subsidiaries have good and indefeasible title (in the case of real property) to, or have valid rights
to lease or otherwise use, all items of real and personal property (other than Intellectual Property (as defined below)) and assets that are material to the
respective businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries, in each case free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, claims and defects and imperfections of
title except those that (i) do not materially interfere with the use made and proposed to be made of such property by the Company and its subsidiaries or
(ii) would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(u) Intellectual Property. The Company and each of its subsidiaries owns or possesses the right to use all patents, trademarks, trademark
registrations, service marks, service mark registrations, trade names, copyrights, licenses, inventions, software, databases, know-how, trade secrets and
other unpatented and/or unpatentable proprietary or confidential information, Internet domain names and other intellectual property (collectively,
“Intellectual Property”) necessary to carry on their respective businesses as currently conducted except where the failure to own or have the right to
use such Intellectual Property would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. To the knowledge
of the Company, the Company’s and each of its subsidiaries’ businesses as now conducted do not misappropriate or infringe upon any valid and
enforceable Intellectual Property of any person. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has received notice of any claim against the Company
or any of its subsidiaries alleging the infringement by the Company or any of its subsidiaries of any patent, trademark, service mark, trade name,
copyright, trade secret, license in or other Intellectual Property right or franchise right of any person.

(v) Investment Company Act. The Company is not and, after giving effect to the offering and sale of the Securities and the application of
the proceeds thereof as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, will not be required to register as an
“investment company” or an entity “controlled” by an “investment company” within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended,
and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder.

(w) Tax Returns. (i) The Company and its subsidiaries have paid all federal, state, local and foreign taxes and have filed (or have obtained
extensions with respect to) all tax returns required to be filed through the date hereof and (ii) except as otherwise disclosed in the Registration
Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, there is no tax deficiency that has been, or would reasonably be expected to be, asserted against
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets, other than in the case of clauses (i) or (ii) above, (a) to the extent
the failure to file such tax returns or pay such taxes would not have a Material Adverse Effect, or (b) to the extent such taxes are being contested in good
faith and for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
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(x) Permits. The Company and each of its subsidiaries have made all material filings, applications and submissions required by, and own
or possess all material approvals, licenses, certificates, certifications, clearances, consents, exemptions, marks, notifications, orders, authorizations and
permits issued by, and have made all material declarations and filings with, the appropriate local, state, federal or foreign regulatory agencies or bodies
that are necessary or desirable for the ownership of their respective properties or the conduct of their respective businesses (collectively, the
“Governmental Permits”) and is in compliance in all material respects with the terms and conditions of all such Governmental Permits, except where
any failures to possess or make the same would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. To the
knowledge of the Company, all such Governmental Permits are in full force and effect. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure
Package and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has received any notice of any proceedings relating to revocation or
modification of, any such Governmental Permit, which, individually or in the aggregate, if the subject of an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding,
would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(y) Labor Relations. No labor disturbance by or dispute with employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries exists or, to the
knowledge of the Company, is contemplated or threatened, and the Company is not aware of any existing or imminent labor disturbance by, or dispute
with, the employees of the Company or any of its or its subsidiaries, except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(z) Environmental Laws. The Company and its subsidiaries are and, within all applicable statute of limitation periods, have been in
compliance with all foreign, federal, state and local statute, law (including the common law), ordinance, rule, regulation, order, judgment, decree,
permit, license registration, exemption, approval or authorization, relating to the generation, use, treatment, storage, handling, transportation and
disposal of hazardous or toxic substances, materials or wastes or the protection of health and safety (to the extent such health and safety relate to
exposure to hazardous or toxic substances, materials or wastes) or the environment which are applicable to their businesses (“Environmental Laws”),
except where the failure to comply would not, singly or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect. There has been no disposal, discharge,
emission, or other release of any hazardous or toxic substances, materials or wastes by or on behalf of, the Company or any of its subsidiaries (or, to the
Company’s knowledge, any other entity for whose acts or omissions the Company or any of its subsidiaries is liable) upon any of the property owned,
leased or operated by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or into the environment surrounding such real property, or, to the Company’s knowledge,
upon any other offsite property where the Company or its subsidiaries have transported or disposed such hazardous or toxic substances, materials or
wastes that would give rise to any legally enforceable liability under, any Environmental Law, except for any violation or liability which would not have,
individually or in the aggregate with all such violations and liabilities, a Material Adverse Effect. The Company and its subsidiaries monitor and assess
the requirements of Environmental Laws applicable to their businesses and assets and periodically evaluate the costs and liabilities that may be incurred
pursuant to such requirements (including, without limitation, any capital or operating expenditures required for clean-up, closure of properties or
compliance with Environmental Laws
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and permits, licenses, registrations, exemption, approvals and authorizations issued thereunder, any related constraints on operating activities, and any
legally enforceable liabilities to third parties) and, based on such monitoring, assessment and evaluation, the Company and its subsidiaries have no
knowledge of any such costs or liabilities that could, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

(aa) ERISA. Except, in each case, for any such matter as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect: (i) each
“employee benefit plan” (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”)) for which
the Company would have any liability (a “Plan”) has been maintained in compliance in all material respects with applicable law, including ERISA and
the Code; (ii) no prohibited transaction (within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”)) has occurred with respect to a Plan, excluding transactions effected pursuant to a statutory or administrative exemption;
(iii) with respect to each Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA, (A) no “accumulated funding deficiency” (within the meaning of Section 302 of ERISA) has
occurred or is reasonably expected to occur and (B) no “reportable event” (within the meaning of Section 4043(c) of ERISA) has occurred or is
reasonably expected to occur, other than events with respect to which the 30-day notice requirement has been waived; and (iv) each Plan that is intended
to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code is so qualified, and nothing has occurred, whether by action or failure to act, which could reasonably be
expected to cause a loss of such qualification.

(bb) Disclosure Controls. The Company and its subsidiaries maintain an effective system of “disclosure controls and procedures” (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) that complies with the requirements of the Exchange Act and that has been designed to provide
reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, including controls and procedures designed
to provide reasonable assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

(cc) Accounting Controls. The Company maintains a system of “internal control over financial reporting” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of
the Exchange Act) that complies with the requirements of the Exchange Act and has been designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, including internal accounting controls sufficient
to provide reasonable assurance that (i) transactions are executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorizations; (ii) transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and to maintain asset
accountability; (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization; and (iv) the recorded
accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences.
Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, there are no material weaknesses in the Company’s
internal controls over financial reporting. The Company is not aware of any: (i)
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significant deficiencies and material weaknesses, if any, in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which have adversely
affected or are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; or (ii) fraud,
whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

(dd) Insurance. The Company and its subsidiaries have insurance covering their respective properties, operations, personnel and
businesses, which insurance is in amounts and insures against such losses and risks as is customary for a company in the business in which the Company
and its subsidiaries and their respective businesses are in; and neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has (i) received written or other notice
from any insurer or agent of such insurer that capital improvements or other expenditures are required or necessary to be made in order to continue such
insurance or (ii) any reason to believe that it will not be able to renew its existing insurance coverage as and when such coverage expires or to obtain
similar coverage at reasonable cost from similar insurers as may be necessary to continue its business.

(ee) Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor any director, officer or employee of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any agent or other person associated with or acting on behalf of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries has (i) used any Company funds for any unlawful contribution, gift, entertainment or other unlawful expense relating to political activity;
(ii) made or taken an act in furtherance of an offer, promise or authorization of any direct or indirect unlawful payment from Company funds or benefit
to any foreign or domestic government or regulatory official or employee, including any employee of any government-owned or controlled entity or of a
public international organization, or any person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of any of the foregoing, or any political party or party
official or candidate for political office; (iii) violated or is in violation of any provision of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended,
or any applicable law or regulation implementing the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business
Transactions, or committed an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 of the United Kingdom, or any other applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws
or regulations; or (iv) made, offered, agreed to, requested, or taken an act in furtherance of any unlawful bribe or other unlawful benefit, including,
without limitation, any unlawful rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other unlawful or improper payment or benefit. The Company and its
subsidiaries have instituted, maintained and enforced, and will continue to maintain and enforce policies and procedures designed to promote and ensure
compliance with all applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws.

(ff) Anti-Money Laundering Laws. The operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in
compliance with applicable financial recordkeeping and reporting requirements, including those of the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting
Act of 1970, as amended, the applicable money laundering statutes of all jurisdictions where the Company or any of its subsidiaries conduct business,
the rules and regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines, issued, administered or enforced by any governmental
agency (collectively, the “Anti-Money Laundering Laws”) and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency, authority
or body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries with respect to the Anti-Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the
knowledge of the Company, threatened.
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(gg) OFAC. None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer, employee, agent
or affiliate of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any other person associated with or acting on behalf of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is currently subject to or the target of any sanctions administered or enforced by the U.S. Government, (including,
without limitation, the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”) and including, without limitation, the
designation as a “specially designated national” or “blocked person”), the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, Her Majesty’s
Treasury, or other applicable sanctions authority (collectively, “Sanctions”), nor is the Company or any subsidiary (a) doing business in violation of any
Sanctions or (b) located, organized or resident in a country or territory that is the subject of the target of Sanctions, including, without limitation, Cuba,
Iran, North Korea, Sudan, Syria and Crimea (each, a “Sanctioned Country”); and neither the Company nor any subsidiary will directly or indirectly use
the proceeds of the offering of the Securities hereunder, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any subsidiary, joint venture
partner or other person or entity (i) to fund or facilitate any activities of or business with any person, or in any country or territory in violation of any
Sanctions or in a Sanctioned Country, or (ii) in any other manner that will result in a violation by any person (including any person participating in the
transaction, whether as underwriter, advisor, investor or otherwise) of Sanctions. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has knowingly
engaged in or is now knowingly engaged in, and will not engage in, any dealings or transactions with any individual or entity that, at the time of the
dealing or transaction is or was the subject or the target of Sanctions, in violation of such Sanctions or with any Sanctioned Country.

(hh) No Prohibition on Dividends Payable by Subsidiaries. No subsidiary of the Company is currently prohibited, directly or indirectly,
under any agreement or other instrument to which it is a party or is subject, from paying any dividends to the Company, from making any other
distribution on such subsidiary’s capital stock, from repaying to the Company any loans or advances to such subsidiary from the Company or from
transferring any of such subsidiary’s properties or assets to the Company or any other subsidiary of the Company.

(ii) Absence of Finders’ Fee. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is a party to any contract, agreement or understanding with
any person (other than this Agreement) that would give rise to a valid claim against the Company or any of its subsidiaries or the Underwriter for a
brokerage commission, finder’s fee or like payment in connection with the offering and sale of the Securities.

(jj) Absence of Registration Rights. No person has the right to require the Company or any of its subsidiaries to register any securities for
sale under the Securities Act by reason of the filing of the Registration Statement with the Commission or the issuance and sale of the Securities.

(kk) Absence of Stabilization and Manipulation. The Company has not taken, directly or indirectly, any action designed to or that could
reasonably be expected to cause or result in any stabilization or manipulation of the price of the Securities.
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(ll) Forward Looking Statements. No forward-looking statement (within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E
of the Exchange Act) contained in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus has been made or reaffirmed without a
reasonable basis or has been disclosed other than in good faith.

(mm) Statistical and Market Data. Nothing has come to the attention of the Company that has caused the Company to believe that the
statistical and market-related data included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus is not based on or derived from
sources that are reliable and accurate in all material respects.

(nn) Sarbanes-Oxley. The Company is, and to the knowledge of the Company, the Company’s directors or officers, in their capacities as
such, are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations
thereunder that are effective and applicable to the Company.

(oo) Ineligible Issuer. At the time of filing the Registration Statement and any post-effective amendment thereto, at the earliest time
thereafter that the Company or any offering participant made a bona fide offer (within the meaning of Rule 164(h)(2) under the Securities Act) of the
Securities and at the date hereof, the Company was not and is not an “ineligible issuer,” as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act.

(pp) FINRA Matters. Neither the Company nor any subsidiary nor any of their affiliates (within the meaning of FINRA’s Conduct Rule
5121(f)(1)) directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, or is an associated person (within the meaning of FINRA’s
Conduct Rule 1011(b)) of, any member firm of FINRA.

(qq) Cybersecurity; Data Protection. (i) The Company and its subsidiaries have implemented backup and disaster recovery technology
reasonably consistent with industry standards and practices; and (ii) to the knowledge of the Company, there has been no security breach or other
compromise to the personal data and sensitive, confidential or regulated data, including the data of the Company and its subsidiaries’ respective
employees, suppliers, vendors and third parties, in each case, maintained or processed by the Company and its subsidiaries in connection with their
businesses (collectively, the “Confidential Data”), except for any breach or compromise that has been remedied without material cost or liability or the
duty to notify or disclose such breach or compromise to any other person, governmental entity or regulatory agency or which otherwise would not be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package
and the Prospectus, to the knowledge of the Company, the Company and its subsidiaries are presently in compliance with all applicable laws or statutes
and all judgments, orders, rules and regulations of any court or arbitrator or governmental or regulatory authority, internal policies and contractual
obligations of the Company and its subsidiaries, governing the privacy and security of information technology and computer systems, networks,
hardware, software, data, equipment or technology of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “IT Systems”) and Confidential Data and the
protection of such IT Systems and Confidential Data from unauthorized use, access, misappropriation or modification, except as would not be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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Any certificate signed by or on behalf of the Company and delivered to the Underwriter or to counsel for the Underwriter shall be deemed to be a
representation and warranty by the Company to the Underwriter as to the matters covered thereby.

The Company acknowledges that the Underwriter and, for purposes of the opinions to be delivered pursuant to Section 6 hereof, counsel to the
Company and to the Underwriter, will rely upon the accuracy and truthfulness of the foregoing representations and hereby consents to such reliance.

2. Representations and Warranties of the Underwriter. The Underwriter represents and agrees that:

(a) It has not and will not use, authorize use of, refer to, or participate in the planning for use of, any “free writing prospectus”, as defined
in Rule 405 under the Securities Act (which term includes use of any written information furnished to the Commission by the Company and not
incorporated by reference into the Registration Statement and any press release issued by the Company) other than (i) any Issuer Free Writing
Prospectus, or (ii) any other free writing prospectus that the parties hereto shall hereafter expressly agree in writing to treat as part of the Disclosure
Package.

(b) It will retain copies of each free writing prospectus used or referred to by it to the extent required by Rule 433 under the Securities Act.

3. Purchase of the Securities by the Underwriter.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions and upon the basis of the representations, warranties and agreements herein set forth, the Company
agrees to issue and sell to the Underwriter, and the Underwriter agrees to purchase at a price of $[•] per Share (which gives effect to a [•]% discount), [•]
Firm Shares. The Underwriter agrees to offer the Firm Shares to the public as set forth in the Prospectus.

(b) The Company hereby grants to the Underwriter and its designees an option to purchase from the Company, solely for the purpose of
covering over-allotments in connection with the distribution and sale of the Firm Shares, all or any portion of the Optional Shares for a period of thirty
(30) days from the date of the Prospectus at the purchase price per Share set forth above.

No Optional Shares shall be sold and delivered unless the Firm Shares previously have been, or simultaneously are, sold and delivered.

4. Delivery of and Payment for Securities. Delivery of the Firm Shares to be purchased by the Underwriter from the Company against payment
for such Securities shall be made on November [•], 2021, or at such other date as shall be determined by the Underwriter and the Company (the “First
Closing Date”).
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The option to purchase Optional Shares granted in Section 3 hereof may be exercised during the term thereof by written notice to the Company
from the Underwriter. The option may be exercised in whole or part, and if in part, the option can be exercised on multiple occasions. Such notice shall
set forth the aggregate number of Optional Shares as to which the option is being exercised and the time and date, not earlier than either the First
Closing Date or the second Business Day after the date on which the option shall have been exercised nor later than the fifth Business Day after the date
of such exercise, as determined by the Underwriter, when the Optional Shares are to be delivered (each, an “Option Closing Date”). The First Closing
Date and each Option Closing Date are herein individually referred to as the “Closing Date” and collectively referred to as the “Closing Dates”.

On each Closing Date, the Company shall deliver the Firm Shares or the Optional Shares, as applicable, which shall be registered in the name or
names and shall be in such denominations as the Underwriter may request at least one (1) business day before the applicable Closing Date, to the
Underwriter, which delivery shall be made through the facilities of the Depository Trust Company’s DWAC system.

5. Covenants. The Company covenants and agrees with the Underwriter that:

(a) During such period beginning on the Initial Sale Time and ending on the later of the Closing Date or such date, as in the opinion of
counsel for the Underwriter, the Prospectus is no longer required by law to be delivered in connection with sales as contemplated by this Agreement by
the Underwriter or any dealer, including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172 (the “Prospectus Delivery
Period”), prior to amending or supplementing the Registration Statement (including any registration statement filed under Rule 462(b) under the
Securities Act), the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus, the Company shall furnish to the Underwriter for review a copy of each such proposed
amendment or supplement, and the Company shall not file any such proposed amendment or supplement to which the Underwriter reasonably objects.

(b) After the date of this Agreement, the Company shall promptly advise the Underwriter in writing (i) of the receipt of any comments of,
or requests for additional or supplemental information from, the Commission, (ii) of the time and date of any filing of any post-effective amendment to
the Registration Statement or any amendment or supplement to any Preliminary Prospectus or the Prospectus, (iii) of the time and date that any post-
effective amendment to the Registration Statement becomes effective and (iv) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the
effectiveness of the Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment thereto or of any order or notice preventing or suspending the use of the
Registration Statement, any Preliminary Prospectus or the Prospectus, or of any proceedings to remove, suspend or terminate from listing or quotation
the Common Stock or Preferred Stock from any securities exchange upon which it is listed for trading or included or designated (or approved for
inclusion or designation) for quotation, or of the threatening or initiation of any proceedings for any of such purposes. The Company shall use its best
efforts to prevent the issuance of any such stop order or prevention or suspension of such use. If the Commission shall enter any such stop order or order
or notice of prevention or suspension at any time, the Company will use its best efforts to obtain the lifting of such order at the earliest possible moment,
or will file a new registration statement and use its best efforts to have such new registration statement declared effective as soon as practicable. In
addition, the Company agrees that it shall comply with the provisions of Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, including with respect to the timely filing
of documents thereunder, and will use its reasonable efforts to confirm that any filings made by the Company under such Rule 424(b) were received in a
timely manner by the Commission.
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(c) (i) If any event or development shall occur or condition exist as a result of which it is necessary to amend or supplement the Disclosure
Package in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made or then prevailing, as the case may be, not
misleading (in which case the Company agrees to notify the Underwriter promptly of any such event or condition), or if in the reasonable opinion of the
Underwriter it is otherwise necessary to amend or supplement the Disclosure Package to comply with law, then the Company agrees to promptly
prepare, file with the Commission and furnish to the Underwriter and to dealers (if any), at its own expense, amendments or supplements to the
Disclosure Package so that the statements in the Disclosure Package as so amended or supplemented will not be, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made or then prevailing, as the case may be, misleading or so that the Disclosure Package, as amended or supplemented, will comply
with law; (ii) if, during the Prospectus Delivery Period, any event or development shall occur or condition exist as a result of which it is necessary to
amend or supplement the Registration Statement or the Prospectus in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made or then prevailing, as the case may be, not misleading (in which case the Company agrees to notify the Underwriter promptly of any
such event or condition), or if in the reasonable opinion of the Underwriter it is otherwise necessary to amend or supplement the Registration Statement
or the Prospectus to comply with law, including in connection with the delivery of the Prospectus, then the Company agrees to promptly prepare, file
with the Commission (and use its best efforts to have any amendment to the Registration Statement or any new registration statement to be declared
effective) and furnish to the Underwriter and to dealers (if any), amendments or supplements to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, or any new
registration statement so that the statements in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus as so amended or supplemented will not be, in the light of
the circumstances under which they were made or then prevailing, as the case may be, misleading or so that the Registration Statement or the
Prospectus, as amended or supplemented, will comply with law.

(d) The Company agrees that, unless it obtains the prior written consent of the Underwriter, it will not make any offer relating to the
Preferred Stock that would constitute an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or that would otherwise constitute a “free writing prospectus” (as defined in
Rule 405 of the Securities Act) required to be filed by the Company with the Commission or retained by the Company under Rule 433 of the Securities
Act; provided that the prior written consent of the Underwriter hereto shall be deemed to have been given in respect of any Issuer Free Writing
Prospectus included in Schedule I hereto. Any such free writing prospectus consented to by the Underwriter is hereinafter referred to as a “Permitted
Free Writing Prospectus”. The Company agrees that (i) it has treated and will treat, as the case may be, each Permitted Free Writing Prospectus as an
Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, and (ii) it has complied and will comply, as the case may be, with the requirements of Rules 164 and 433 of the
Securities Act applicable to any Permitted Free Writing Prospectus, including in respect of timely filing with the Commission, legending and record
keeping.

(e) The Company shall furnish to the Underwriter, from time to time and without charge, copies of the Registration Statement of which
three shall be signed and shall include exhibits and all amendments and supplements to any of such Registration Statement, in each case as soon as
available and in such quantities as the Underwriter may from time to time reasonably request.
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(f) The Company shall take or cause to be taken all necessary action and furnish to whomever the Underwriter may direct such information
as may be required in qualifying the Securities for sale under the laws of such jurisdictions which the Underwriter shall designate and to continue such
qualifications in effect for as long as may be necessary for the distribution of the Securities; except that in no event shall the Company be obligated in
connection therewith to qualify as a foreign corporation, or to execute a general consent for service of process.

(g) The Company shall make generally available to its securityholders, in the manner contemplated by Rule 158(b) under the Securities
Act, as soon as practicable but in any event not later than 60 days after the end of its fiscal quarter in which the first anniversary date of the effective
date of the Registration Statement occurs, an earnings statement which will comply with Section 11(a) of the Securities Act covering a period of at least
12 consecutive months beginning after the effective date of the Registration Statement.

(h) Other than the Securities issued to the Underwriter and except for equity awards issued to directors, officers, employees and
consultants in the ordinary course under plans approved by the Company’s board of directors and disclosed in the Prospectus (including the filing of any
related registration statement on Form S-8), the Company will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter (which consent may be withheld
in the Underwriter’s sole discretion), directly or indirectly, issue, sell, offer, agree to sell, contract or grant any option to sell (including, without
limitation, pursuant to any short sale), pledge, make any short sale of, maintain any short position with respect to, transfer, establish or maintain an open
“put equivalent position” within the meaning of Rule 16a-1(h) under the Exchange Act, enter into any swap, derivative transaction or other arrangement
(whether such transaction is to be settled by delivery of common stock, other securities, cash or other consideration) that transfers to another, in whole or
in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership, or otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock, options or warrants to
acquire shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock, or securities exchangeable or exercisable for or convertible into shares of Common Stock or
Preferred Stock, or publicly announce an intention to do any of the foregoing, for a period commencing on the date hereof and continuing through the
close of trading on the date 90 days after the date of the Prospectus (the “Lock-Up Period”).

(i) The Company shall cause each officer and director of the Company set forth on Schedule III hereto to furnish to the Underwriter, on or
prior to the date of this Agreement, a letter or letters, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto (the “Lock-up Agreements”), pursuant to which each
such person shall agree, subject to customary exceptions, not to offer for sale, contract to sell, sell, distribute, grant any option, right or warrant to
purchase, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock or any securities
convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock during the 90 days following the date of the
Prospectus, except with the Underwriter’s prior written consent.

(j) The Company shall maintain, at its expense, a registrar and transfer agent for the Common Stock and the Preferred Stock.

(k) The Company shall apply the net proceeds of the sale of the Securities in the manner specified in the Prospectus under the heading
“Use of Proceeds.”
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(l) The Company will furnish (or make available through EDGAR) to its securityholders annual reports containing financial statements
audited by independent public accountants and quarterly reports containing financial statements and financial information which may be unaudited.
During the period of two years from the date hereof, the Company will deliver (or make available through the EDGAR) to the Underwriter copies of
each annual report of the Company and each other report furnished by the Company to its securityholders and will deliver to the Underwriter, as soon as
they are available, copies of any other reports (financial or otherwise) which the Company shall publish or otherwise make available to any of its
securityholders as such, and as soon as they are available, copies of any reports and financial statements furnished to or filed with the Commission or
FINRA.

(m) The Company will use its best efforts to cause the Preferred Stock to be listed on NASDAQ and to maintain the listing of (A) the
Preferred Stock, including the Securities and (B) the Common Stock on the NASDAQ and any other securities exchange on which they are listed.

(n) Whether or not this Agreement is terminated or the sale of the Securities to the Underwriter is consummated, the Company shall pay or
cause to be paid (A) all expenses (including stock transfer taxes) incurred in connection with the delivery to the Underwriter of the Securities, (B) all
fees and expenses (including, without limitation, fees and expenses of the Company’s accountants and counsel) in connection with the preparation,
printing, filing, delivery and shipping of the Registration Statement (including the financial statements therein and all amendments and exhibits thereto),
each preliminary prospectus, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, as amended or supplemented, and the printing, delivery and shipping of this
Agreement and other underwriting documents, including, if applicable, Underwriter’s Questionnaires, Underwriter’s Powers of Attorney, Blue Sky
Memoranda, the Agreement Among Underwriters and Selected Dealer Agreements, (C) if necessary, all filing fees and reasonable fees and
disbursements of counsel to the Underwriter incurred in connection with the qualification of the Securities for sale under state securities laws as
provided in Section 5(f) hereof, (D) the filing fee of FINRA and any applicable fees and expenses of counsel for the Underwriter in connection with a
review of the Offering by FINRA up to a maximum amount with respect to this clause (D) of $15,000, (E) fees and expenses of counsel for the
Underwriter up to a maximum amount of $65,000, in addition to the fees and expenses as set forth in clause (D) above, (F) all costs and expenses
incident to listing the Securities on NASDAQ, (G) the cost of printing certificates representing the Securities, (H) the cost and charges of any transfer
agent or registrar, and (I) all other costs and expenses incident to the performance of its obligations hereunder which are not otherwise provided for in
this Section 5(n). If the sale of the Securities provided for herein is not consummated by reason of acts of the Company which prevent this Agreement
from becoming effective, or by reason of any failure, refusal or inability on the part of the Company to perform any agreement on its part to be
performed or because any other condition of the Underwriter’s obligations hereunder is not fulfilled, unless the failure to perform the agreement or
fulfill the condition is due to the default or omission of the Underwriter, the Company shall reimburse the Underwriter for all reasonable out-of-pocket
disbursements (including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred by the Underwriter in connection with its investigation, preparing to market and
marketing the Securities or in contemplation of performing its obligations hereunder. The Company shall not in any event be liable to the Underwriter
for loss of anticipated profits from the transactions covered by this Agreement.
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(o) The Company will prepare a final term sheet relating to the Offering, containing only information that describes the final terms of the
Offering in a form consented to by the Underwriter and attached hereto as Exhibit B, and to file such final term sheet within the period required by Rule
433(d) under the Securities Act following the date on which the final terms have been established for the Offering.

(p) The Company will comply with Rule 433(d) under the Securities Act and with Rule 433(g) under the Securities Act.

(q) The Company will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Securities to be eligible for clearance through the facilities of The
Depository Trust Company for the accounts of the Underwriter.

6. Conditions of Underwriter’s Obligations. The obligations of the Underwriter hereunder are subject to the accuracy, at and as of the date
hereof and the First Closing Date (as if made at the First Closing Date) and, with respect to the Optional Shares, each Option Closing Date (as if made at
the Option Closing Date), of the representations and warranties of the Company contained herein, to the performance by the Company of its obligations
hereunder and to the following additional conditions:

(a) The Registration Statement shall be effective and all filings required by Rules 424, 430A and 433 under the Securities Act shall have
been timely made; no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or any amendment thereof shall have been issued; no
proceedings for the issuance of such an order shall have been initiated or threatened; and any request of the Commission for additional information (to
be included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package, the Prospectus, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or otherwise) shall have been
complied with to the Underwriter’s satisfaction.

(b) The Underwriter shall not have advised the Company that the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus, or any
amendment thereof or supplement thereto, contains an untrue statement of fact which, in the Underwriter’s opinion, is material, or omits to state a fact
which, in the Underwriter’s opinion, is material and is required to be stated therein or is necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

(c) On each Closing Date, the Underwriter shall have received the opinion and 10b-5 statement of Holland & Knight LLP, counsel for the
Company, addressed to the Underwriter and dated as of such Closing Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Underwriter and to
counsel to the Underwriter, substantially in the form of Exhibit C attached hereto.

(d) On each Closing Date the Underwriter shall have received the favorable opinion of Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP, counsel for the
Underwriter, dated as of such Closing Date, in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter.

(e) There shall have been furnished to the Underwriter a certificate of the Company, dated as of each Closing Date and addressed to the
Underwriter, signed by the Chief Executive Officer and by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company to the effect that:
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(i) The representations and warranties of the Company in this Agreement are true and correct, as if made at and as of such Closing
Date, and the Company has complied with all the agreements and satisfied all the conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied at or prior to
such Closing Date;

(ii) No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued, and no proceedings for that purpose
have been initiated or are pending or, to their knowledge, contemplated;

(iii) Any and all filings required by Rules 424, 430A, 430B and 430C under the Securities Act have been timely made;

(iv) The signers of said certificate have carefully examined the Registration Statement and the Disclosure Package and the
Prospectus, and any amendments or supplements thereto, and such documents contain all statements and information required to be included
therein; the Registration Statement or any amendment thereto does not include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; and the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus or
any supplements thereto do not include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and

(v) Since the effective date of the Registration Statement, there has occurred no event required to be set forth in an amendment or
supplement to the Registration Statement or the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus which has not been so set forth.

(f) Since the effective date of the Registration Statement, neither the Company nor any of its consolidated subsidiaries shall have sustained
any loss by strike, fire, flood, accident or other calamity (whether or not insured), which has a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or its
consolidated subsidiaries taken as a whole, nor shall have become a party to or the subject of any litigation that would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect on the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries taken as a whole, nor shall there have been a material adverse change in the
general affairs, business, key personnel, capitalization, financial position, earnings or net worth of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries,
whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business, which loss, litigation or change, in the Underwriter’s judgment, shall render it inadvisable to
proceed with the delivery of the Securities.

(g) On the date hereof, and on each Closing Date, the Underwriter shall have received from Moss Adams, independent public or certified
public accountants for the Company, a letter dated the date hereof addressed to the Underwriter in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter,
containing statements and information of the type ordinarily included in accountant’s “comfort letters” to Underwriter, delivered according to Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board AS 6101 (or any successor bulletin), with respect to the respective audited and unaudited financial statements
and certain financial information contained or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus for which such accountant was
engaged by the Company.
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(h) Since the date of the Prospectus, there shall not have been a Material Adverse Effect.

(i) The Lock-Up Agreements required by Section 5(i) of this Agreement shall have been delivered to the Underwriter and be in full force
and effect on such Closing Date.

All such opinions, certificates, letters and documents shall be in compliance with the provisions hereof only if they are satisfactory in form and
substance to the Underwriter and to counsel for the Underwriter. The Company shall furnish the Underwriter with such conformed copies of such
opinions, certificates, letters and other documents as the Underwriter shall reasonably request. If any of the conditions specified in this Section 6 shall
not have been fulfilled when and as required by this Agreement, this Agreement and all obligations of the Underwriter hereunder may be canceled at, or
at any time prior to, the First Closing Date or any Option Closing Date, as the case may be, by the Underwriter. Any such cancellation shall be without
liability of the Underwriter to the Company. Notice of such cancellation shall be given to the Company in writing, or by telephone and confirmed in
writing.

7. Indemnification and Contribution.

(a) The Company agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Underwriter and any person who controls the Underwriter within the
meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, and the respective directors, officers, employees and agents of the
Underwriter from and against any loss, expense, liability, damage or claim (including the reasonable cost of investigation) which the Underwriter or any
such director, officer, employee, agent or controlling person may incur under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, insofar as such loss,
expense, liability, damage or claim arises out of or is based upon (A) any breach of any representation, warranty or covenant of the Company contained
herein, (B) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereof), the
Disclosure Package, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus (the term Prospectus for the purpose of this Section 7(a) being deemed to
include the preliminary prospectus included in the Registration Statement at the time it became effective, the Prospectus and the Prospectus as amended
or supplemented by the Company), (C) any application or other document, or any amendment or supplement thereto, executed by the Company or based
upon written information furnished by or on behalf of the Company filed in any jurisdiction (domestic or foreign) in order to qualify the Preferred Stock
under the securities or blue sky laws thereof or filed with the Commission or any securities association or securities exchange (each an “Application”),
(D) any omission or alleged omission to state a material fact required to be stated in any such Registration Statement, or necessary to make the
statements made therein not misleading, or (E) any omission or alleged omission from the Disclosure Package, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus,
Prospectus or any Application of a material fact necessary to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading; except in the case of (B), (D) and (E) above only insofar as any such loss, expense, liability, damage or claim arises out of or is
based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission of a material fact contained
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in and in conformity with information furnished in writing by the Underwriter to the Company expressly for use in such Registration Statement, the
Disclosure Package, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, Prospectus or Application; and to promptly reimburse the Underwriter, or any such director, officer,
employee, agent or controlling person for any legal and other expense reasonably incurred by the Underwriter, or any such director, officer, employee,
agent or controlling person in connection with investigating, defending, settling, compromising or paying any such loss, claim, damage, liability,
expense or action. The indemnity agreement set forth in this Section 7(a) shall be in addition to any liability which the Company may otherwise have.

(b) The Underwriter agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company, the Company’s directors, the Company’s officers that
signed the Registration Statement, and any person who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the
Exchange Act, from and against any loss, expense, liability, damage or claim (including the reasonable cost of investigation) which the Company or any
such person may incur under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, insofar as such loss, expense, liability, damage or claim arises out of or
is based upon (A) any breach of any representation, warranty or covenant of the Underwriter contained herein, (B) any untrue statement or alleged
untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereof), the Disclosure Package, any Issuer Free Writing
Prospectus, the Prospectus, or any Application, (C) any omission or alleged omission to state a material fact required to be stated in any such
Registration Statement, or necessary to make the statements made therein not misleading, or (D) any omission or alleged omission from the Disclosure
Package, any such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, Prospectus or any Application of a material fact necessary to make the statements made therein, in
the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, but in each case only insofar as such untrue statement or alleged untrue
statement or omission or alleged omission was made in such Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, Prospectus
or Application in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished in writing by the Underwriter to the Company expressly for use therein;
and to promptly reimburse the Company, or any such director, officer, employee or controlling person for any legal and other expense reasonably
incurred by the Company, or any such director, officer, employee or controlling person in connection with investigating, defending, settling,
compromising or paying any such loss, claim, damage, liability, expense or action. The indemnity agreement set forth in this Section 7(b) shall be in
addition to any liabilities that the Underwriter may otherwise have.

(c) Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under subsection (a) or (b) above of notice of any claim or the commencement of any
action, the indemnified party shall, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against the indemnifying party under such subsection, notify the
indemnifying party in writing of the claim or the commencement of that action; the failure to notify the indemnifying party shall not relieve it from any
liability which it may have to an indemnified party except to the extent such indemnifying party has been materially prejudiced otherwise than under
such subsection. If any such claim or action shall be brought against an indemnified party, and it shall notify the indemnifying party thereof, the
indemnifying party shall be entitled to participate therein and, to the extent that it wishes, jointly with any other similarly notified indemnifying party, to
assume the defense thereof with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party; provided, however, that if the named parties in any such action
(including impleaded parties) include the Underwriter or any director, officer, employee, agent or controlling
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person of the Underwriter as an indemnified party or parties as well as the Company, and such indemnified party or parties shall have reasonably
concluded, based on advice of outside counsel, that there may be one or more legal defenses reasonably available to it or them which are different from
or additional to those available to the Company, or that representation of the indemnified party or parties and the Company by the same counsel would
be inappropriate due to actual or potential differing interests between them, the Company shall not have the right to direct the defense of such action on
behalf of such indemnified party or parties and such indemnified party or parties shall have the right to select separate counsel to defend such action on
behalf of such indemnified party or parties. After notice from the indemnifying party to the indemnified party of its election to assume the defense of
such claim or action, the indemnifying party shall not be liable to the indemnified party under such subsection for any legal or other expenses
subsequently incurred by the indemnified party in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation unless such
indemnified party shall have employed separate counsel in accordance with the proviso to the immediately preceding sentence, in which case the
indemnifying party shall be liable for all legal fees and expenses of such separate counsel.

(d) If the indemnification provided for in this Section 7 is unavailable or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party under
subsections (a) and (b) of this Section 7 in respect of any losses, expenses, liabilities, damages or claims referred to therein, then each applicable
indemnifying party, in lieu of indemnifying such indemnified party, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a result
of such losses, expenses, liabilities, damages or claims (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company,
on the one hand, and the Underwriter, on the other hand, from the offering of the Securities or (ii) if (but only if) the allocation provided by clause
(i) above is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but
also the relative fault of the Company, on the one hand, and of the Underwriter, on the other hand, in connection with the statements or omissions which
resulted in such losses, expenses, liabilities, damages or claims, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative benefits received by
the Company and the Underwriter shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total proceeds from the Offering (net of underwriting discounts
and commissions but before deducting expenses) received by the Company bear to the underwriting discounts and commissions received by the
Underwriter. The relative fault of the Company and of the Underwriter shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue
statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission relates to information supplied by the Company or by the
Underwriter, and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The
amount paid or payable by a party as a result of the losses, claims, damages and liabilities referred to above shall be deemed to include any legal or other
fees or expenses reasonably incurred by such party in connection with investigating or defending any claim or action.

(e) The Company and the Underwriter agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 7 were
determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in
subsection (d)(i) and, if applicable (ii), above. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 7, the Underwriter shall not be required to contribute any
amount in excess of the underwriting discounts and commissions applicable to the Securities purchased by the Underwriter. No person guilty of
fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not
guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.
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8. Termination.

(a) Until the First Closing Date, this Agreement may be terminated by the Underwriter by giving notice as hereinafter provided to the
Company if: (i) the Company shall have failed, refused or been unable, at or prior to the First Closing Date, to perform any agreement on its part to be
performed hereunder, unless the failure to perform any agreement is due to the default or omission by the Underwriter; (ii) any other condition of the
obligations of the Underwriter hereunder is not fulfilled; (iii) trading in securities generally on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ shall have
been suspended or minimum or maximum prices shall have been established on either of such exchanges by the Commission or by such exchange or
other regulatory body or governmental authority having jurisdiction; (iv) trading or quotation in any of the Company’s securities shall have been
suspended or limited by the Commission or by NASDAQ or other stock exchange or regulatory body or governmental authority having jurisdiction;
(v) a general banking moratorium shall have been declared by Federal or state authorities; (vi) a material disruption in securities settlement, payment or
clearance services in the United States shall have occurred; (vii) there shall have been any material adverse change in general economic, political or
financial conditions or if the effect of international conditions on the financial markets in the United States shall be such as, in the Underwriter’s
judgment, makes it inadvisable to proceed with the delivery of the Securities; or (viii) any attack on, outbreak or escalation of hostilities, declaration of
war or act of terrorism involving the United States or any other national or international calamity or emergency if, in the Underwriter’s judgment, the
effect of any such attack, outbreak, escalation, declaration, act, calamity or emergency makes it impractical or inadvisable to proceed with the
completion of the public offering or the delivery of the Securities. Any termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8 shall be without liability
on the part of the Company or the Underwriter, except as otherwise provided in Sections 5(n) or 7 hereof.

(b) Any notice referred to above may be given at the address specified in Section 10 hereof in writing or by telephone, and if by telephone, shall
be immediately confirmed in writing.

9. Survival of Indemnities, Contribution, Warranties and Representations. All representations, warranties, and agreements of the Company
and the Underwriter herein or in certificates delivered pursuant hereto, and the agreements of the Underwriter and the Company contained in Section 7
hereof, shall remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Underwriter or any controlling
person thereof, or the Company or any of its officers, directors, or controlling persons, and shall survive delivery of, and payment for, the Securities to
and by the Underwriter hereunder.

10. Notices. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been duly given if mailed or transmitted by any standard form of telecommunication to the parties hereto as follows:
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If to the Underwriter:   Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc.
  640 5th Ave, 4th Floor
  New York, NY 10019
  Attention: Steve Kaplan and Jeffrey Caliva
  Email: skaplan@ladenburg.com and jcaliva@ladenburg.com

with a copy to:   Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP
  200 Park Avenue
  New York, NY 10166
  Attention: Richard H. Kronthal, Esq.
  Email: rkronthal@huntonak.com

If to the Company:   MIND Technology, Inc.
  2002 Timberloch Place, Suite 400
  The Woodlands, TX 77380-1187
  Attention: President and Chief Executive Officer
  Email: rob.capps@mind-technology.com

with a copy to:   Holland & Knight LLP
  811 Main Street, Suite 2500
  Houston, TX 77002
  Attention: Timothy T. Samson, Esq.

  

Email: timothy.samson@hklaw.com
 

and
 

Holland & Knight LLP
One Arts Plaza, 1722 Routh Street, Suite 1500
Dallas, TX 75201
Attention: Amy R. Curtis, Esq.
Email: amy.curtis@hklaw.com

11. Information Furnished by Underwriter. The statements in the Prospectus set forth under the caption “Underwriting” in the first paragraph
concerning the name of the Underwriter and the number of Firm Shares the Underwriter has agreed to purchase, in the paragraphs concerning sales by
the Underwriter to the public at the offering price and to dealers at such price less a concession and sales by the Underwriter to discretionary accounts,
and in the first two paragraphs under the caption “Underwriting—Stabilization, Short Positions and Penalty Bids” constitute the only written
information furnished by or on behalf of the Underwriter referred to in paragraphs (a) and (c) of Section 1 hereof and in paragraphs (a) and (b) of
Section 7 hereof.

12. Parties. This Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the Underwriter, the Company, any officer, director, employee agent or controlling
person referred to in Section 7 hereof, and their respective successors and assigns, and no other person shall acquire or have any right by virtue of this
Agreement. The term “successors and assigns,” as used in this Agreement, shall not include any purchaser of any of the Securities from the Underwriter
merely by reason of such purchase.
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13. Definition of “Business Day”. For purposes of this Agreement, “Business Day” means any day on which NASDAQ is open for trading.

14. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York,
without giving effect to the choice of law or conflict of laws principles thereof. The Underwriter and the Company: (a) agrees that any legal suit, action
or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement and/or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be instituted exclusively in the Supreme
Court of the State of New York, New York County, or in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York; (b) waives any
objection which it may have now or hereafter to the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding; and (c) irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction of the
Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County, or of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York in any such
suit, action or proceeding. The Underwriter and the Company further agrees to accept and acknowledge service of any and all process which may be
served in any such suit, action or proceeding in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County, or in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of New York and agrees that service of process upon the Company mailed by certified mail to the Company’s address or
delivered via overnight delivery shall be deemed in every respect effective service of process upon the Company, in any such suit, action or proceeding,
and service of process upon the Underwriter mailed by certified mail to the Underwriter’s address or delivered via overnight delivery shall be deemed in
every respect effective service of process upon the Underwriter, in any such suit, action or proceeding. THE COMPANY (ON BEHALF OF ITSELF,
THE SUBSIDIARIES AND, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ON BEHALF OF ITS RESPECTIVE EQUITY HOLDERS AND
CREDITORS) HEREBY WAIVES ANY RIGHT ANY OF THEM MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY CLAIM BASED
UPON, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS
AGREEMENT, THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT AND THE PROSPECTUS.

15. Partial Unenforceability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any Section, paragraph or provision of this Agreement shall not affect the
validity or enforceability of any other Section, paragraph or provision hereof. If any Section, paragraph or provision of this Agreement is for any reason
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, there shall be deemed to be made such minor changes (and only such minor changes) as are necessary to
make it valid and enforceable.

16. Absence of Fiduciary Relationship. The Company acknowledges and agrees that:

(a) The Underwriter has been retained solely to act as underwriter in connection with the sale of Securities and that no fiduciary, advisory
or agency relationship between the Company and the Underwriter or any of its affiliates has been created in respect of any of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or the Prospectus, irrespective of whether the Underwriter has advised or is advising the Company on other matters;

(b) The price of the Securities set forth in this Agreement was established by the Company following discussions and arms’ length
negotiations with the Underwriter, and the Company is capable of evaluating and understanding and understands and accepts the terms, risks and
conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
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(c) The Company has been advised that the Underwriter and its affiliates are engaged in a broad range of transactions and services which
may involve interests that differ from those of the Company, and that the Underwriter has no obligation to disclose such interests and transactions and
services to the Company by virtue of any fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship; and

(d) The Company waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims it may have against the Underwriter for breach of fiduciary
duty or alleged breach of fiduciary duty and agrees that the Underwriter shall have no liability (whether direct or indirect) to the Company in respect of
such a fiduciary duty claim or to any person asserting a fiduciary duty claim on behalf of or in right of the Company, including stockholders, employees
or creditors of the Company.

17. Counterparts; Electronic Signature. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each one of which shall be an original,
with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” “delivery,”
and words of like import in or relating to this Agreement and any certificate, agreement or other document to be signed in connection with this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be deemed to include Electronic Signatures, deliveries or the keeping of records in electronic
form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature, physical delivery thereof or the use of a
paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including, without limitation, the Federal
Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws
based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. For the purpose of this Section 17, “Electronic Signature” means any electronic symbol or process
(including, without limitation, DocuSign and AdobeSign) attached to, or associated with, a contract or other record and adopted by a person with the
intent to sign, authenticate or accept such contract or record.

18. General Provisions. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties to this Agreement and supersedes all prior written or oral
and all contemporaneous oral agreements, understandings and negotiations with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may not be
amended or modified unless in writing by all of the parties hereto, and no condition herein (express or implied) may be waived unless waived in writing
by each party whom the condition is meant to benefit. The section headings herein are for the convenience of the parties only and shall not affect the
construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

(Signature Pages Follow)
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Please confirm, by signing below, that the Underwriter is acting on behalf of itself and that the foregoing correctly sets forth the agreement
between the Company and the Underwriter.
 
Very truly yours,

MIND Technology, Inc.

By:   
Name:  Robert P. Capps
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

Signature Page to Underwriting Agreement



Confirmed and accepted as of the date first above mentioned:

LADENBURG THALMANN & CO. INC.

By:                   
Name:          
Title:  

Signature Page to Underwriting Agreement



Exhibit 5.1
 

811 Main Street, Suite 2500 | Houston, TX 77002-6129 | T 713.654.8111 | F 713.654.1871
Holland & Knight LLP | www.hklaw.com

November 4, 2021

MIND Technology, Inc.
2002 Timberloch Place, Suite 400
The Woodlands, Texas
 
Re:  MIND Technology, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel to MIND Technology, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the registration under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), of the offering and sale by the Company of up to an aggregate of 360,000 shares of the
Company’s 9.00% Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share (the “Preferred Stock”), and up to an additional 54,000 shares of
Preferred Stock (to the extent applicable, collectively, the “Shares”) pursuant to the underwriter’s option to purchase additional shares of Preferred
Stock, as set forth in the Registration Statement on Form S-1 relating to the Shares, as amended (the “Registration Statement”), including a Prospectus
that forms a part thereof, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and in accordance with the underwriting agreement to be
executed by the Company and Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc., as underwriter, in the form filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement (the
“Underwriting Agreement”). This opinion is being furnished in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5)(i) of Regulation S-K under the
Securities Act.

In connection with this opinion letter, we have examined the form of Underwriting Agreement, and original counterparts or copies of original
counterparts of the Registration Statement. We have also examined originals or copies of such other records of the Company, certificates of public
officials and of officers or other representatives of the Company and agreements and other documents, including without limitation the Company’s
Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of 9.00% Series A Preferred Stock, as amended to date, as we have deemed necessary, subject to the
assumptions set forth below, as a basis for the opinion expressed below.

In rendering the opinion expressed below, we have assumed:
 
 (i) The genuineness of all signatures.
 
 (ii) The authenticity of the originals of the documents submitted to us.
 
 (iii) The conformity to authentic originals of any documents submitted to us as copies.
 
 (iv) As to matters of fact material to our opinions, the truthfulness of the representations and statements made in certificates of public officials

and officers or other representatives of the Company.
 
 (v) That, upon sale and delivery, valid book-entry notations for the issuance of the Shares in uncertificated form will have been duly made in

the share register of the Company.

We have not independently established the validity of the foregoing assumptions.



MIND Technology, Inc.
November 4, 2021
Page 2

Based upon the foregoing, and subject to the qualifications and limitations herein set forth, we are of the opinion that when (i) the Underwriting
Agreement has been duly executed and delivered, and (ii) the Shares have been issued and delivered in accordance with the Underwriting Agreement
against payment in full of the consideration payable therefor as contemplated by the Underwriting Agreement (and for not less than the par value of the
Shares), the Shares will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

Our opinion is limited to Delaware General Corporation Law, including all applicable provisions of the constitution of such jurisdiction and
reported judicial decisions interpreting such laws, and we do not express any opinion herein concerning any other laws.

This opinion letter is limited to the matters expressly stated herein and is provided solely for purposes of complying with the requirements of the
Securities Act, and no opinions may be inferred or implied beyond the matters expressly stated herein. The opinions expressed herein are rendered and
speak only as of the date hereof, and we specifically disclaim any responsibility to update such opinions subsequent to the date hereof or to advise you
of subsequent developments affecting such opinions.

We consent to the reference to this firm in the Registration Statement under the caption “Legal Matters” as the attorneys who will pass upon the
legal validity of the Shares and to the filing of this opinion as Exhibit 5.1 to the Registration Statement. Our consent, however, shall not constitute an
admission to our being experts as provided for in Sections 7 and 11 of the Securities Act.
 

Sincerely yours,

/s/ Holland & Knight LLP
 
HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the use in this Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement (Form S-1, No. 333- 260486) of MIND Technology, Inc. of our report dated
April 6, 2021, relating to the consolidated financial statements of MIND Technology, Inc. as of January 31, 2021 and 2020, and for the years then ended,
and to the reference to our firm under the heading “Experts” in the prospectus, which is part of this Registration Statement.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

Houston, Texas
November 4, 2021


